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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
£ W &

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the annual report of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Market review

The trade tension between China and the United States
continued to disrupt the Chinese economy during the vyear
ended 31 December 2019. Although China and the United
States signed a long-awaited phase one deal in January 2020,
the adverse impact of trade dispute between the world’s two
largest economies was inevitable. Although China’s GDP still
grew considerably by approximately 6.1% in 2019, yet this
recorded the slowest growth in 29 years.
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The property development sector remained as the driving force
of China’s economic growth. According to the data released by
the National Bureau of Statistics of China, total areas of
property sold across the country in 2019 amounted to
approximately 1.7 billion sg.m., being approximately 0.1%
lower than that in 2018. In terms of monetary value, property
being sold amounted to approximately RMB16.0 trillion,
representing a growth of approximately 6.5% from previous
year, indicating an increment of approximately 6.6% in average
selling price to approximately RMB9,310 per sg.m. for 2019.

Growth Rate of
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Dragon Palace B F1E /&

Investment in property development, however, showed signs of
slowing growth together with the macroeconomy. Total
investment in property development of China for 2019
amounted to approximately RMB13.2 trillion, representing a
year-on-year growth of approximately 9.9%, down by
approximately 0.3 percentage points from November 2019. The
central government’s principle of “housing is for living, not for
speculation” and the tighter monetary policy continued to
suppress the growth of this sector, resulting in the downward
trend of investment in property development industry in China
for most of 2019.

In spite of the tightening measures imposed at the national
level, the “one-size fits all” policy did not work on the
diversified property markets. Local governments are thus
allowed to make some adjustments from the national policy. As
a result, some cities with relatively sluggish market, such as
Zhongshan and Foshan in Guangdong province, Sanya in
Hainan, Nanjing in Jiangsu, and Tianjin were taking small steps,
like lifting price caps and removing re-sale restrictions, in an
attempt to rejuvenate the market. Even first-tier cities like
Guangzhou and Shenzhen also joined their counterparts in
easing some restrictions on property buyers from Hong Kong
and Macau to buy residential properties in any district in
Guangzhou, as well as in Qianhai Special Economic Zone in
Shenzhen.
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Business review

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 8 projects with a
total GFA of 1,198,000 sg.m. that were under construction.
Crown Grand Court obtained its completion certificate and
properties of this project were delivered to customers in
December 2019, while Million Cities Legend Phase 2, which
was expected to be delivered before the end of 2019, had a
fire accident at the temporary construction workers’ dormitory
adjacent to the project in late November 2019, causing a
suspension on the construction site and a delay of delivery to
the first quarter of 2020. Due to the outbreak of coronavirus
and national-wide suspension of all production activities, the
delivery is expected to be further delayed to the second
quarter of 2020.
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Clubhouse of Million Cities Legend £ ¥k & FE &

The Group operates in cities with relative resilience. Dragon
Terrace Phase 1 launched its sales in March 2019. The project

is situated in Tonghu Ecological Intelligent Zone in Huizhou, a

region marketed as the “Silicon Valley” in Guangdong. Due to
its strategic location, the project sold all of the 116,000 sg.m.
launched during 2019. Million Cities Tycoon Place Phase 3 in
Tianjin launched 364 units of high-rise in 2019 and were sold
out on the day of launch. Total areas of contracted sales of the

Group recorded for the year ended 31

December 2019

(including sales by a joint venture and an associate) increased
to approximately 255,000 sg.m., up by approximately 12.2%

from last year. Total
approximately RMB2,062.8 million,

contracted sales amounted to
down by approximately

19.7% from last year, as a result of decrease in average selling

price due to change in the geographic mix of

sales.
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Future strategies and prospects

The coronavirus outbreak since January 2020 cast significant
uncertainty on the Chinese economy. Manufacturing activity in
China measured by the manufacturing Purchasing Managers’
Index (PMI) plunged to an all-time low of approximately 35.7 in
February 2020. The composite PMI, which combines the
manufacturing and services indices, dropped to approximately
28.9 from 53.0 in January 2020, pointing to the steepest
contraction in the private sector on record as companies
closures and travel restrictions were put in place due to the
coronavirus outbreak. As the epidemic started to be contained
in China from late February 2020, a new wave of outbreak
spread to Japan, Korea, ltaly, France, Iran and the United
States, causing panic sell off in global stock markets.

In spite of the uncertainty in global economy, the Group is still
optimistic about the prospect of the Greater Bay Area which
has the endorsement from the central government. With the
upcoming infrastructure improvement in the Greater Bay Area,
Huizhou will be the interchange hub of Ganshen high speed
train line and Guangshen high speed train line by 2021. Under
the backdrop of global economic turmoil, the Group upholds its
prudent approach in project development and land acquisition.
The Group will closely monitor property related government
policies, market sentiment and demand to promptly respond to
market changes with appropriate sales and development
strategies in order to create reasonable return to the
shareholders of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYsk\
EHREWEkTH

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Bt % [0 B

2019 2018 Increase/(Decrease)
20194 20184 =,/ Ch )
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 %
INSLEAN ARBTT ARETRT %
Revenue A 354,284 567,827 (213,543) -37.6%
Cost of sales $HE MR (221,286) (305,001) (83,715) -27.4%
Gross profit ER 132,998 262,826 (129,828) -49.4%
Valuation gains on investment REMERE
properties I &= 780 4,495 (3,715) -82.6%
Other net income H AW A% %58 14,757 8,382 6,375 76.1%
Selling expenses HERX (5,820) (9,391) (3,571) -38.0%
Administrative expenses THHAX (67,316) (67,473) (157) -0.2%
Other expenses Hif% (4,965) (1,084) 3,901 366.6%
Profit from operations R 70,434 197,775 (127,341) -64.4%
Finance costs & B AR (9,818) (5,166) 4,652 90.1%
Share of losses of associates FEAGHE & N R B 18 (324) (2,506) (2,182) -87.1%
Share of losses of joint ventures EHEZERREBAE (1,456) (1,809) (353) -19.5%
Profit before taxation BR B4 A % A 58,836 188,294 (129,458) -68.8%
Income tax P15 %% (41,168) (110,475) (69,307) -62.7%
Profit for the year FERBER 17,668 77,819 (60,151) -77.3%
Profit for the year attributable to PiNNETE: 5
equity shareholders of the FE1EFE s A
Company 33,375 (15,421) -46.2%
Add: listing expenses meEmAX 18,718 (18,718) -100.0%
Adjusted profit for the year ARFEERREN
attributable to equity FERARRR
shareholders of the Company 52,093 (34,139 -65.5%

“E-REER o BERERAR AT 11



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Revenue

The Group’s revenue mainly represented income from sale of
properties and gross rentals from properties earned during the
year, net of sales related taxes and discounts allowed.

Revenue from sale of properties has constituted, and is
expected to continue to constitute, a majority of the Group’s
total revenue.

Property development

() Contracted sales
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
launched pre-sale of Dragon Terrace Phase 1 and Million
City Tycoon Place Phase 3. Total contracted sales (based
on GFA of sales consent), including sales of properties by
an associate and a joint venture of the Group, amounted
to approximately RMB2,062.8 million, representing a GFA
of approximately 255,000 sg.m. sold. The Group will
continue to focus on the Greater Bay Area, with
diversification to areas in the PRC with potential growth.

(i) Land bank
As at 31 December 2019, the total GFA of the Group’s
land bank was about 2,349,000 sg.m., out of which
about 141,000 sg.m. GFA was unsold or undelivered
completed properties projects, about 1,198,000 sqg.m.
GFA was under construction and about 1,010,000 sg.m.
GFA was reserved for future development.

WA
AEEBNBATIZEFARGOYEHER
ARYEREEE CSHRHEEHEBERE LM
T
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VEX A
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AIMHEHEER WA/ ARK206288 8
70 B & M FE 49255,000F 5 K o A
SEBEES T RNER REEFPEA
EEREBNOMEERZTLERE -

(i) T+
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S FE#) A1,010,000F 75 K °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUA \
EHEHW kYW

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s TREY A EBER20195F12 8318 3% %
properties held for future development sorted by REBESHFBEARERAMEME -

development projects as at 31 December 2019:

Ownership
interest as at Estimated
31 December completion
No. Project Location Site area Planned GFA 2019 Type date
#2019
e 12A318 1
bt EH e WEER EEER BEERELR 25 BRI RS
(sq-m.) (sq-m.) (%)
(FA%) (FAHK) (%)
Development projects held for future development
REAKERNERER
1. Dragon Palace Phase 2 Zhumadian in Henan Province 130,557.00 240,209.35 30 Residential December 2021
RRE_H AHEESE i 20215121
2. Million Cities International ~ Huizhou 60,977.78 240,558.00 100 Residential and commercial 2024 to 2025
Phases 4 and 5
ERERNARTH 2 ETRE% 024FZE
2025%
3. Million Cities Royal Court  Huizhou 47,679.00 150,475.00 54.5 Residential and commercial 2023 to 2024
EREETHE 2 ETRE% 20235 %
2024
4. Milion Cities Tonghu Centre  Huizhou 55,596.00 378,642.00 50 Commercial January 2025
B ERRL =M A% 2025F1A
Sub-total 294,809.78 1,009,884.35
P

Million Cities Tonghu Centre £ ¥k & 8 &1 Dragon Terrace A &
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s TREH AEBER2019F12A31 8 7 3%
properties under development sorted by development REEBESHESTMEME
projects as at 31 December 2019:

Ownership
interest as at Estimated
GFA under 31 December completion
No. Project Location Site area development 2019 Type date
#2019
BRA 12A318 1
i EH e HEEE BEEE EEREEE EH AR I RS
(sqm.) (sqm) (%)
(FAK) (FHK) (%)
Development projects under development
ERANERER
5. Million Cities Tycoon Place Phase 3 Tianjin 46,461.96 91,344.55 55 Residential January 2021
EnEs=94 RE =z 2021414
6. Million Cities Tycoon Place Phase 4  Tianjin 28,611.84 72,750.61 55 Residential October 2020
BAEFNE RE =z 20205104
7. Milion Cities Legend Phase 3 Huizhou 22,899.45 112,140.00 54.5 Residential and commercial ~ September 2021
BERAE=H M EERE%E 2021594
8. Milion Cities Legend Phase 2 Huizhou 33,084.00 162,315.00 54.5 Residential and commercial  June 2020
EREE_H M EEREE 2020%6A
9. Dragon Terrace Phase 1 Huizhou 52,325.00 149,586.49 50 Residential and commercial  December 2020
BEe—§ 2M FERE% 2020512
10. Dragon Terrace Phase 2 Huizhou 42,566.00 223,600.61 50 Residential and commercial March 2022
AEAZH 2M EERE%E 202253A
1. Legend Plaza Tianjin 39,756.30 99,500.28 55 Commercial October 2021
LEES RE Bx 20214104
12. Dragon Palace Phase 1 Zhumadian in Henan 134,184.91 287,381.08 30 Residential August 2020 to
Province December
2021
RRE-H AHEESE = 202058 &
2021512
Sub-total 399,889.46 1,198,618.57
i

4\ Million Cities Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s TR AREBR2019F12A31BE &
completed development projects as at 31 December TITHERREBENME
2019:

Ownership

interest as at
31 December

No. Project Location Site area GFA unsold 2019 Type
H20195F
RERE 12R31A #

ek HH i 2 bEEE [ EEHER EA
(sg.m.) (sg.m.) (%)
(FAHK) (EAX) (%)

Completed development projects

ERTHEREER
13. Million Cities International Huizhou 50,571.00 28,346.19 100 Residential and commercial
Phases 110 3
ERER-Z=8 BN FEREE
14, Million Cities Legend Phase 1 Huizhou 33,916.55 41,474.13 54.5 Residential and commercial
B E—H BM TERBE
15. Sunshine New Court Huizhou 32,109.70 15,072.30 95.39 Residential and commercial
Phases 1 and 2
B — Bk =8 =N FEREE
16. Million Cities Tycoon Place Tianjin 84,808.30 15,016.77 55 Residential
Phases 1 and 2
EREs—HRk=-H X# =z
17. Crown Grand Court Huizhou 43,928.80 40,749.78 100 Residential and commercial
EVRRE BN FERBE
Sub-total 245,333.35 140,659.17
NE
Total 940,032.59 2,349,162.09
@t

Million Cities Tycoon Place & i % % Million Cities Legend & i £ 2
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The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
investment properties as at 31 December 2019:

No.
iR 5

Address
i 3k

Description and tenure

B R 5 5

TREH A EEN2019F12A31B KR E
MENEE

Particulars of occupancy

5 RS

18.

19.

A portion of a composite
development, namely Yuehu Ju,
located at No. 36 Xiajiao East
Road, Huicheng District, Huizhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC

MEEREBEMNERE T ARE
365 47 & R IR B PN JE B —

E=iF8)

A portion of a commercial
development, namely Port
Vehicle Inspection Yard Office
Building, located at Huifeng 2nd

Road, Huicheng District, Huizhou,

Guangdong Province, the PRC

B B IRE BN EN R EE
FEHRBEEBEIERRS M

NAREBH— &5

The property comprises a

portion of a retail development
with a total gross floor area of
approximately 1,678.17 sqg.m..

The land use rights of the
subject site were granted for a
term expiring on 4 March 2074
for composite residential use.
ZYEBRRREEERED
1,6781A7TF T AN T EEHRE

e

AR T (ERED &
% 20746348 Em 0 1F
EATERS -

The property comprises a
portion of a commercial
development with a total gross
floor area of approximately
443.99 sq.m..

The land use rights of the
subject site were granted for a
term expiring on 1 November
2042 for commercial use.
ERJEXZRET S O EY
44399 F T KN E R ERILD ©

AR T ERED
% 204211 A1B f@im - 1E
EERR-

The property was completed in
about November 2005 and is
currently available for leasing.

% W) % 2 20069 11 A Al 12 3%
T BATAIHAEE -

The property was completed in
about September 2006 and is
currently available for retail and
office leasing.

% W) % 2 2006F9 A Al 18 3%
T BRAIAIHEERRAEM

1=

=
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED),
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(i) Revenue (i) YA
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group B Z2019F12A31B L FE A& B
recorded revenue from sale of properties amounted to EMERMBSWRADHDARBISI8EE T
approximately RMB351.8 million, representing a decrease WA E AR #2123 B L 37.6% £
of approximately RMB212.3 million or 37.6%. The EEHNERBCERAREEEER2018F

#953,000%F 77 K 35 220194 #933,000F
B oK B E2019FE12A31B IFEEWHN D

decrease in revenue was mainly due to a decrease in
overall GFA recognised from approximately 53,000 sqg.m.

in 2018 to approximately 33,000 sg.m. in 2019. Revenue BRRATZREERGE_H EB
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2019 was S RBWER= KU - & ZE2018
mainly contributed by Million Cities Legend Phase 2, FI2AMBILEFEMNERRBRAEEK
Crown Grand Court and Million Cities Tycoon Place B —H BREE_H - EEx
Phase 3 and 4, while revenue recognised for the year wREBHER— ZRIOH -

ended 31 December 2018 was mainly attributable to
Sunshine New Court Phase 1, Million Cities Legend
Phase 2, Crown Grand Court and Million Cities Tycoon
Place Phases 1, 2 and 4.

e

|

Dragon Terrace #ABE &

“E-REER o BERERAR AT 19
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The operating results for the year are dependent upon the
GFA being recognised and the selling prices of the
Group’s properties. Conditions of the property markets
change from period to period and are affected by the
economic, political and regulatory developments in the
PRC in general, as well as in the cities and regions in
which the Group operates.

Rental income

Gross rental income from investment properties and inventories
decreased from approximately RMB3.7 million for the vyear
ended 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB2.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2019. The decrease in gross
rental income was due to disposal of certain investment
properties and inventories during the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2019.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales decreased from approximately RMB305.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
RMB221.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2019,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB83.7 million or
27.4%. The decrease in cost of sales was mainly due to the
decrease in GFA recognised for the year ended 31 December
2019.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit decreased from approximately RMB262.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
RMB133.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB129.8 million or
49.4%. The gross profit margin decreased from approximately
46.3% for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
37.5% for the year ended 31 December 2019. The decrease in
gross profit was primarily due to the decrease in GFA
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2019. The
decrease in gross profit margin was due to the difference in the
mix of properties sold during the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018. Revenue for the year ended 31 December
2019 included more sale of carparks which were of very low
gross profit margin. Although located in the same city, Million
City Legend Phase 2 had a higher average selling price and
gross profit margin than Crown Grand Court, which
contributed 62% of the gross profit for the year ended 31
December 2019. Gross profit margins of Million Cities Tycoon
Place Phase 3 and 4 in Tianjin were generally lower than the
Group’s Huizhou projects. The gross profit margin was further
reduced this year due to increase in construction costs in
Tianjin.

I

FANKERBIORN RN EZER
BEAEENEEE -MWETHKAE
RME BEXTEERBURAEEZE
PR ™ K@ &% - BUa REE RN

=2
®mE-

L WA
REMENGFENHS WA LTEBEHZ2018
FI2AMHILEFEMNHNARBITEE TR E
HE2019F12A31H IEFEMNH AR 258
BT REAREZE20184 N2019412831H I
FEETREMERGFEDHE -

HE KA
HEKRNHEE2018F12A31BILFEHAR
#305.08 & LRk 2 4 A R E83.78 & T 3
27 A% EH E2019F12A31HIEFEHNHAR
Bo213E &L T ZERE BN E E2019F12A4
1B FEMEINEERBERD -

EMNRER=E
EFBEEE2018F12A31B I FEHHARE
262.8B B L L X A R ¥120.88 & T =%
49.4% B H Z2019F12A31HIEFEMNH AR
#133.08 & 7T ° E F X R & £2018F12H31
H IFF[Z #) 4946.3% 3 2 2= &, 22019912 A 31
BItFEML37.5% c EFRL EBRERE
F2019F12A31B I FE MR EEmIER
DT o EFIE TR Z BN EE20194F K£2018
F1I2ANBIEFEFERENMERAESETRTR -
HE2019F12A31B LFEMRABREESZE
MERENEBESHNHEHE - BEMNRR —
M BRBE_BHIEHEERENEEERE
W5 ME 22019128318 It F E62%E
FIREETRE - KENBEWE == H KM
FAERLRERAEENERINIEE - XAFEH
FEMEERRFRERRIE INE —FPFEE -
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Other net income

Other net income increased by approximately RMB6.4 million
or 76.1% from approximately RMB8.4 million for the vyear
ended 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB14.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019, mainly as a result of
increase in interest income by approximately RMB11.3 million
due to higher average bank balances from receipts of sales
proceeds of properties.

Selling expenses

Selling expenses decreased by approximately RMB3.6 million or
38.0%, from approximately RMB9.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2018 to approximately RMB5.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019. The decrease of selling
expenses was mainly the result of decrease in revenue, since
most of the selling expenses were revenue
commission.

linked sales

Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses remained virtually unchanged from
approximately RMB67.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately RMB67.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

BHE R RS N

H A F8E

Hib g AFEE R A E2018F12 A31B IEFEER
MARKESABE LI MHARKG4E BTk
76.1%EH E2019F12A31HIEFENHAR
B148BEL  TERARFBERARAY X H
BT 15 RIB < IR 1T F 15 4 8238 hn i 38 A0 49
ARE113EE T

HEMX

HEMY MEIZE2018F12A31B EFEMNLH A
R¥o45E LR L B ARMKI6HE & T3k
38.0% = H E2019F12A31A L FEMHAR
¥5.8B 8T  TEZRARKAR D (KR H
ERTAHERAE@ENEERS) -

THEAX

THASXERERTE - B E£2018512H31H
HFEHNARARKE7TSEE T MEE2019F
12A3MBEFEANRARKGTIEE T °

£ 00 00 00 P tahd

Dragon Terrace A% &
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Finance costs

Finance costs increased by approximately RMB4.7 million or
90.1% from approximately RMB5.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2018 to approximately RMB9.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019, due to increase in average
bank loans balance and interest expenses not qualified for
capitalisation during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Income tax

For the year ended 31 December 2019, income tax decreased
by approximately RMB69.3 million, which was in line with
decrease in revenue and gross profit.

Adjusted net profit for the year attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

It represented net profit for the year attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company after excluding the expenses for
preparation of Listing for the year ended 31 December 2018.
After taking out the non-recurring listing expenses for the year
ended 31 December 2018, adjusted net profit decreased by
approximately RMB34.1 million or 65.5% due to the decreased
gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2019.

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Liquidity and financial resources

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents were mainly used in the Group’s business
operations, to service the Group’s indebtedness and to fund
the Group’s working capital. The Group financed its funding
requirements mainly through a combination of cash generated
from operating activities, borrowings and proceeds from Listing.
The Group’s gearing ratio decreased from approximately 60.5%
as at 31 December 2018 to approximately 33.9% as at 31
December 2019. Such decrease was mainly due to repayment
of pre-IPO loan and construction loans, together with the profit
recorded for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The gearing ratio is calculated as interest bearing bank loans
divided by equity.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s cash and cash

equivalents, amounting to approximately RMB731.9 million,
were denominated in HK$(12.3%) and RMB(87.7%).

22?%;&::'““ .

Al & KA
BMEKABEHE2018F12A31HIEFENHA
REs2BEE T MAOARKELITE & T K
0. 1%EH Z2019F12A31HIELFENHAR
¥9.88 & 7T+ It Ty B R Bl 2201912 H31H
LFEMNRTERTIHERREITEEAREL
AR F B g o

Ry
HZE2019F12A31B IEFE > IO A
R#e9.3B &L BRAREFNR D> —E -

AABERRRELFESHELR

HE2018F12A31HIEFE KRR KR
EEFEANEMBEARERHE LMHORAEZ -
BAEZ2018F12A31H L FEMIELE L
S 1% B E2019F 128318 IEEE @ KA
FAEFR DM DHAREIMAE E LK
65.5% °

HttBgER

RBEERESRR

B E2019F12A31HIEFE - AEEMNRE K
ReEBMEIEZEREREENEREE EE
EERBNEEES ALEEFZRBEET
PSHe BREKLETHAGHREERNEST
ko KREBEME G EH2018F12A31H B
60.5% T P& 2201912 A31H &) 4933.9% * £
EEAREEEA A AHBRENERRERE
oA REE20195F12 8318 H EE 5% A
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MR2019F12A31H » AEBERNRE KRB LEE
W) N RHEET731.98 &7t OB T(12.3%) 2 A
R¥(B7.7%)sHE °
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s bank loans were due for E/\2019¢12H 318 REEMIRITE A EH
repayment as follows: BERBEAWAT
2019 2018
2019% 2018%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR FT
Within one year —%F R 168,462 288,762
After one year but within two years —FREMFEN 123,377 154,775
After two years but within five years WERBRAFR 21,263 104,877
313,102 548,414
Notes: M5t
(@)  The above amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment  (a) J«‘/{ RS R E

dates set out in the relevant agreements and ignore the effect of

any repayment on demand clause.

(b) As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s bank loans were all  (b)
denominated in RMB. The bank loans were interest-bearing at
110% and 130% of the benchmarked loan interest rate
published by the People’s Bank of China (“RMB Loan

Benchmark Rate”) or at one-year Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”)
published by the People’s Bank of China plus 1.2% per annum.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s certain bank loans were
secured by inventories with a total carrying amount of
approximately RMB917.4 million.

Million Cities Tycoon Place & i % =

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

ERIERRIA Ty E N AR B 0 A
EFXE 8 - BT E B 2R BE & RGN

P2019F12A318 » AEEMETERH U
ARBHE- BITERERFEARRITAMN
MEEERFNE(ARBEREERXK])
110% &% 130% 5T B sk iz B A RR 1T 216 &Y
—FHEX m%—iﬁfﬁﬂwfﬁ 15 W& A
Z ) INFB12%HE

R2019F12A318 - AEBEE THRITE XA
MERMENARKI7TIABETHFEERR -

Million Cities Tycoon Place & i % 5
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s management has adopted certain policies on
financial risk management with the objective of: (i) ensuring that
appropriate funding strategies are adopted to meet the Group’s
short term and long term funding requirements taking into
consideration of the cost of funding, gearing ratios and cash
flow projections of the Group; and (ii) ensuring that appropriate
strategies are also adopted to minimise the interest rate risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from borrowings
and cash at bank. Borrowings and cash at bank issued at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk
and borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. The Group did not enter into any
financial instruments to hedge against interest rate risk for the
year ended 31 December 2019 but the Board will continue to
closely monitor the Group’s loan portfolio in order to manage
the Group’s interest rate risk exposure.

Credit risk

As of 31 December 2019, no trade debtors of the Group were
past due. The Group normally receives full payment from
buyers before delivering the property. For mortgage sales
without settlement, the Group would not deliver the property to
the customers unless it obtains confirmation from the banks
providing mortgage that the respective mortgages have been
approved. In addition, the Group would not transfer titles of the
properties to customers until full amount of sale proceeds are
received. Accordingly, the Group is of the view that the
expected irrecoverable trade debtors were insignificant. Thus no
bad debt provision for trade debtors was recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, all the Group’s bank balances and
deposits were held with major financial institutions in Hong
Kong and the PRC which the Directors believe are of high
credit quality. The Directors do not expect any losses arising
from the non-performance by these financial institutions.

TREMREEEERBKE
AEENEEECRBEHRESBAREEDN
FTHBER - L)EFREAEESNE 2 RIEEY
AEENERALERESFTRK(BELAEED
BeRA BELERBEREFAR) ¢+ K
BREAEEMNRERDNXER FERAR
KMme & & R e

R = & b
AEEMNFMERERRFEZRREBERRRITES -
B2 ERENERRETERES  FAEHE
AZBRERFERR  ZETEHNEELNGE
FoFEAEEAZAFEMNEERR - B E2019
FI2AMBLEFE AEEYEFHeRTEA
HAMXRER HMESEHEERYERAE
ENEFEANTEREERNF AR -

= 8 &k
R20195F12 4310 » 7 & B 3 & & W iR 5K78
Hle ARE-—RRBXMERMAE LRI EH
R LR ARG NIRBEEN S - NEREH
TEBXMETEP  BRIFRFI KRB RHLRE
ZRITHMERE  HREHEIRBE R E - it
S REBERWR 2BHEEMBRIERL 7
ERMEERBRIEP - At A&EER R
AR O IR A RIK - MELE2019
F12A31H 1L F I 5 B FE WR TRRE 57032 R 33
(I

201912310 » REBRMBRITER KR
FREOGERESERAEESEEEZNE
BERPEFZSREE ESEHITERALS
CRIMETIBAOMEEEMIBL-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED), {0\ N

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty
in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and long terms. The Group
has not experienced and does not expect to experience any
difficulties in meeting credit obligations when they fall due.

Capital expenditures

The Group incurred capital expenditures of approximately
RMB2.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, which
were mainly related to the replacement of motor vehicle and
electronic equipment. These capital expenditures were fully
financed by internal resources.

Capital commitments

The Group’s capital commitments as at 31 December 2019
amounted to approximately RMB617.9 million which were
mainly related to development costs for the Group’s properties
under development.

Charge on assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s inventories with a total
carrying amount of approximately RMB917.4 million were
pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities granted to
the Group.

Contingent liabilities

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has
issued guarantees to banks to secure the mortgage
arrangements of certain property buyers. The outstanding
guarantees to the banks, amounted to approximately
RMB765.9 million as at 31 December 2019, will be terminated
upon completion of transferring the legal title of the properties
to the property buyers. The Directors consider loss arising from
these guarantees as a result of default payment by customers
to be insignificant, as the banks have the rights to sell the
property and recover the outstanding loan balance from sales
proceeds. The Group has not recognised any deferred income
in respect of these guarantees as their fair values are
considered to be insignificant.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

BHE R RS N

RBESER

nBETRARDAKSEERITESBAER
MOEERSBEIRENRAR - AEBE KB
EEMEERDECERKULREFTAMER
RORE  BREFAENESHE  REE
BIETHERBAHRRHRENNERES A
ENREHRDESFR -ANEEKRE BETEH
TEHEETIHNEEREERBAEMEEE -

EXREX
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE - AEBE AR
WARB2CEBIL TZARBBRAERE
THRE 2HHABERE -

EAREE
2019512 A31H - AEREMEREAEL R/ A
REGI7TIBEB L X ZHRASEEERTME
MFAERABR -

EEEHA

2019 12H31H AR BEAEEBEHNARK
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TREMEA FIRIT

HREE

HZE2019F12A31ALLFE AKERETE
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group provided
guarantee to secure the loan borrowed by a joint venture of the
Group. The total banking facility secured by this guarantee was
approximately RMB1.45 billion and the outstanding loan
balance was RMB779.9 million as at 31 December 2019. The
bank loan is also jointly guaranteed by another shareholder of
the joint venture and secured by the inventories of the joint
venture. Deferred income of approximately RMB8.9 million was
recognised in respect of this financial guarantee as at 31
December 2019.

Use of net proceeds

The net proceeds from Listing amounted to approximately
HK$190.8 million after deducting the underwriting commission
and other fees and expenses paid by the Company for Listing.

Up to the date of this report, the net proceeds from Listing
were used as following:

° HK$100.0 million, representing approximately 52.4% of the
net proceeds from the Listing, were used to repay the
pre-IPO loan;

° HK$11.5 million, representing approximately 6.0% of the
net proceeds, were used to fund the development costs
for Million Cities Legend Phase 3;

° HK$68.5 million, representing approximately 35.9% of the
net proceeds, were used to pay the earnest money for
the potential project in Shenzhen in accordance with a
memorandum of understanding (“the MOU”) entered into
on 9 January 2020;

° HK$10.8 million, representing approximately 5.7% of the
net proceeds, were used for general working capital
purposes.

As at 31 December 2019, the net proceeds was utilised in full.
Significant investments, acquisitions and disposals

The Group had no significant investments, acquisitions and
disposals during the year ended 31 December 2019.

HZE2019F12A318 L FE - ZAEEH
g EREER - K2019F 128318 -
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Events after balance sheet date

On 9 January 2020, Lucky Win Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the MOU with an
independent third party (the “Partner”), pursuant to which,
Lucky Win Limited and the Partner intended to cooperate in the
acquisition of 100% equity interest in a company incorporated
in the PRC (the “Target Company”), which owns four land
parcels in Shenzhen. The MOU is effective for one year from
the date of the MOU. During its term of the MOU, the Partner
cannot procure any other third party to acquire the Target
Company. In consideration of the exclusive negotiation right, an
amount of RMB93 million earnest money was paid by the
Group to the Partner on 9 January 2020. There is no binding
cooperation agreement signed as at the date of this report.

The coronavirus outbreak since early 2020 has brought about
additional uncertainties in the Group’s operating environment
and has impacted the Group’s operations and financial
position. The Group has been closely monitoring the impact of
the developments on the Group’s businesses and has put in
place contingency measures. These contingency measures
include: setting out guidelines about prevention of coronavirus
outbreak on construction sites and sending them to all site
managers, assessing our contractors’ readiness for resumption
of construction work on sites; monitoring cash flows and
negotiating with suppliers to postpone construction payments;
negotiating with customers on delivery timetable. The Group will
keep our contingency measures under review as the situation
evolves.

On 20 December 2019, the Group announced that due to a fire
accident happened in a temporary construction worker
dormitory adjacent to the site of Million Cities Legend Phase 2,
the delivery of Million Cities Legend Phase 2 to our customers
was expected to be postponed to the first quarter of 2020. All
construction works in China were suspended during February
2020 in order to contain the spread of COVID-19. As a result,
the Group expected the delivery of Million Cities Legend Phase
2 will be further postponed to second quarter of 2020. The
Group has proactively communicated about the foreseeable
delay with our customers and does not consider there would
be material claims from our customers.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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Operating segment information
The Group’s revenue and results for the year ended 31
December 2019 were derived from property development.
Performance assessment is based on the results of the Group
as a whole. Therefore, management of the Group considers
there is only one operating segment.

The geographic information is disclosed in a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally to the
Group’s chief operating decision maker for allocation of
resources and performance assessment.

Human resources and emolument policy

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a total of 163 (2018:
154) full-time employees in the PRC and Hong Kong. For the
year ended 31 December 2019, the total staff costs, including
the directors’ emoluments, amounted to approximately
RMB43.8 million (2018: RMB34.6 million).

The Group’s emolument policies are formulated based on the
performance and experience of individual employee and are in
line with the salary trends in Hong Kong and the PRC. Other
employee benefits include performance-linked bonuses,
insurance and medical coverage and share options.

Since human resources management is an important factor in
maintaining and enhancing the Group’s strong expertise in the
property development, the Group will provide appropriate
training programs to the employees as the Group sees fit. From
time to time, different on-the-job training will be provided to
employees in order to ensure continuous staff development and
skills upgrading.

Remuneration policy of Directors and senior
management

The Directors and senior management of the Group receive
compensation in the form of salaries and discretionary bonuses
related to the performance of the Group. The Group also
reimburses them for expenses which are necessarily and
reasonably incurred for providing services to the Group or
executing their functions in relation to the Group’s operations.
The remuneration committee will regularly review and determine
the remuneration and compensation package of the Directors
and senior management, by reference to, among other things,
market level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the
respective responsibilities of the Directors and senior
management and the performance of the Group.
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Chairman and non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Ting Chung (EEH), BBS, JP, aged 58, is the non-
executive Director, chairman of the Board, a member of the
nomination committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Wong is the founder of the
Group, and is primarily responsible for the overall strategic
planning and business direction of the Group.

Mr. Wong has over in property
investment, property development and management. He
established his business through Huizhou China Field, a project
company engaged in the construction and sale of high quality
residential complexes, in 2003 and was responsible for overall
management of the company. Currently, Mr. Wong assumes
various directorships in Nameson and Nameson Group, where
he has been serving as the chief executive officer and the
chairman of the board of directors of Nameson since August
2015.

16 vyears of experience

Mr. Wong graduated from Hong Kong Yee Tong Ye College (&
&5 BR P E) in 1978. Mr. Wong is currently a delegate of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region to the National
People’s Congress of the PRC (B ARAREXAEFBERARR)
and the chairman of Hong Kong Industrial and Commercial
Association General Chamber Executive Committee (& /& L%
BweeESHTEESE). Mr. Wong is brother-in-law of Mr. Lau
Ka Keung, and is also cousin of Mr. Lin Guoxian (who was an
executive Director until 19 July 2019). Mr. Lau Ka Keung is an

executive Director.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Ka Keung (X)), vH, JP, aged 44, is the executive
Director, the chairman of the Executive Committee and the
chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Lau is responsible
for execution of strategic planning and general management of
the Group.

Mr. Lau has served as an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Million Cities Development Limited since
August 2016. From January 2006, Mr. Lau has assumed
various directorships in the Group, including China Lands
Investments Limited, Join Kong, Cheer Happy, Huizhou Cheer
Happy, Huizhou China Field and Tianjin Jianji. Mr. Lau held
several positions in the Nameson Group from August 1999 to
March 2013, including information technology manager, vice
president, and executive director. From August 2015 to April
2018, Mr. Lau served as a non-executive director in Nameson.

Mr. Lau received his bachelor’'s degree in information
technology from Manchester Metropolitan University, the United
Kingdom in July 1997 and obtained his master’'s degree in
business administration from University of Leicester, the United
Kingdom in July 2008. Mr. Lau has served as national
committee member of the 13th Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference in China (T ARBAHHE %S
+=ZE2BEZ 8g), executive committee member of the 14th
Tianjin Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (PR ARBAHEERERETFE THEETBELZE
&) and Vice Chairman of Tianjin Federation of Industry and
Commerce (R:EM LEZEH A ). Mr. Lau is also an executive
member of the 13th of All China Youth Federation (P22 B &
FHAEEET-_EFHZEEZELE). Mr. Lau is brother-in-law
of Mr. Wong Ting Chung. Mr. Wong Ting Chung is the
chairman of the Company and the non-executive Director.
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Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen (ZZ #), aged 59, is an executive
Director and the general manager of the Group.

Mr. Cheng is graduated from University of Wales, UK, with a
master’s degree in business administration. Mr. Cheng has 39
years of experience in the real estate industry, including over
30 vyears of experience in real estate development and
operation management in China.

Mr. Cheng worked for a number of well-known real estate
companies where he was responsible for management,
including Henderson Land Development Company Limited
(stock code:012), Henderson (China) Investment Co. Ltd.,
Zhejiang Centaline/Nanjing Centaline and Yat Chau Holding. He
has extensive experience in the operation management of real
estate.

Mr. Wong Ka Lun (& X @), aged 52, is an executive Director
and the chief operating officer of the Group. Mr. Wong is
primarily responsible for overseeing general operation and
administration of the Group.

Mr. Wong has over 26 years of experience in sales of
marketing planning, property investment, and operation
management in property industry. Mr. Wong has joined Million
Cities Development Limited as chief operating officer since
February 2018. Prior to that, Mr. Wong held various managerial
positions in several Hong Kong listed property companies,
including Hutchison Whampoa Limited (a company previously
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
0013) which was privatised on 3 June 2015), SEA Holdings
Limited (stock code: 0251, formerly known as SEA Group) and
Soundwill Holdings Limited (stock code: 0878), where he was
responsible for property sales and marketing.

Mr. Wong obtained a diploma in property development with
distinction from the School of Professional and Continuing
Education of the University of Hong Kong in April 1995, a
postgraduate diploma in surveying (real estate development)
from the University of Hong Kong in October 2002, and a
master’s degree of science in real estate from the University of
Hong Kong in November 2007.
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Ms. Lau Pui Kwan (Z|ffi#&), aged 38, is an executive
Director, finance director and company secretary of the Group.
Ms. Lau is responsible for overseeing financial management
and formulating financial strategies of the Group.

Ms. Lau has over 13 years of experience in corporate
accounting and financing, audit and company secretarial
practices. Ms. Lau has joined Million Cities Development
Limited as financial controller since July 2017, where she is
responsible for the finance and accounting operations. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Lau held managerial positions in several
Hong Kong listed companies, including CSI Properties Limited
(stock code: 0497), Hsin Chong Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 0404, formerly known as Hsin Chong Construction
Group Limited) and Doyen International Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Dowell Property Holding Limited (stock
code: 0668)).

Ms. Lau obtained her bachelor’s degree in business
administration from Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 2005 and was admitted as associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in February
2011. Ms. Lau has been an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators
since February 2016.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (E&22) GBS, JP, aged 68, is the
independent non-executive Director, chairman of the nomination
committee and a member of the audit committee of the
Company. Mr. Ip is responsible for providing independent
opinion and judgment to the Board.

Mr. lp is currently serving as independent non-executive
director of five companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, namely China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1313) since August 2008, Lai Sun
Development Company Limited (stock code: 488) since
December 2009, Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1888) since May 2011, Luk Fook Holdings (International)
Limited (stock code: 590) since October 2011 and Nameson
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982) since April 2018. Mr. Ip
also served as independent non-executive director of Synergis
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340) from September 2008 to
December 2017. From November 1973 to July 2007, Mr. Ip
held various positions in The Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region, such as Commissioner of
Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic
Services and Secretary for Financial Services and Secretary for
Economic Development and Labour.

Mr. Ip graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor’s degree in social sciences in September 1973, and
he subsequently completed the program for management
development at Harvard University Graduate School of
Business Administration in November 1986.

Mr. Ip received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
2001 and he was appointed as an unofficial Justice of the
Peace in July 2007.
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Mr. Li Yinquan (Z 5| &), aged 64, is the independent non-
executive Director, chairman of the audit committee and a
member of the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Li
is responsible for providing independent opinion and judgment
to the Board.

Mr. Li has extensive experience in financial management. He
served as an executive director of China Merchants Port
Holdings Company Limited (formerly known as China
Merchants Holdings (International) Company Limited) (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 144)) from June 2001 to March 2015 and as a
non-executive director of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 3968) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600036)) from April 2001 to June 2016. He was an
executive director of China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd
(@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 601872)) from April 2007 to September 2010 and was
an executive director of China Merchants China Direct
Investments Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 133)) from July 2008 to April
2017. He is currently serving as an independent non-executive
director of three companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, namely Genertec Universal Medical Group
Company Limited (Stock code: 2666, formerly known as
Universal Medical Financial and Technical Advisory Services
Company Limited) since June 2015, Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (stock code: 1001) since July 2018
and Kimou Environmental Holding Limited (stock code: 6805)
since June 2019. He has also been serving as an independent
non-executive director of LIZHI INC. (a company listed on the
NASDAQ stock exchange (Stock code: LIZI) since January
2020.
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Throughout the significant years of employment with certain
Hong Kong listed companies, Mr. Li has performed duties
including supervising on the listed companies’ financial
management, involved in various types of transactions in
relation to the Listing Rules and reviewing and analysing
audited financial statements of listed companies. Mr. Li has
gained relevant experience in, including but not limited to, (i)
review and preparation of comparable and/or audited financial
statements of Hong Kong listed companies; (i) review of
internal control systems; and (iii) analysis of financial statements
and information of Hong Kong listed companies. Moreover, Mr.
Li has also obtained vast experience in collaborating and
dealing with internal and external auditors regarding the
supervision of internal financial controls and the auditing of
financial statements.

Mr. Li received his bachelor’'s degree in economics from
Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics (Pt 78 Bf 4 2 %) in
July 1983. He subsequently obtained his master’s degree in
economics from the PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua
University (BEREBRE D 2@ EZF) (formerly known as
Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China (B A REE1T
BITERATITAT) in July 1986. In October 1988, Mr. Li
obtained his master’'s degree in banking and finance for
development from Finafrica Institute in Milan, Italy. In August
1989, he was accredited as senior economist by the Appraisal
and Approval Committee for Professional & Technical
Qualification of the Agricultural Bank of China.
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Dr. Wu Wing Kuen (#87k#), BBS, aged 63, is the independent
non-executive Director, chairman of the remuneration committee,
a member of the nomination committee and a member of the
audit committee of the Company. Dr. Wu is responsible for
providing independent opinion and judgment to the Board.

Dr. Wu has over 26 years of experience in real estate
investment. He has been serving as a director of Jet View
Investment Limited since December 1991 and as a director of
Jade Mind Investment Limited since October 2004. Both
companies are principally engaged in real estate investments.
Dr. Wu has also been serving as an independent non-executive
director of Nanfang Communication Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1617)) since November 2016. Dr. Wu has served
as an independent non-executive director of the HongGuang
Lighting Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8343)) since
December 2016. Since January 2019, Dr. Wu has also served
as an independent non-executive director of Food Idea
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8179)).

Dr. Wu obtained his doctoral degree in business administration
from the Clayton University in the United States in June 1989.

Dr. Wu was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
July 2012. Dr. Wu is currently a voting member of the Hong
Kong Jockey Club and president of the Sha Tin District
Community Fund. Dr. Wu has also served the community
under various other positions in the past. He is a member of
the Appeal Tribunals Panel of the Planning and Lands Branch
of the Development Bureau of The Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management of the Group is responsible for the
day-to-day management and operation of business of the
Group. The senior management team of the Group is as
follows:

Mr. Lu Bingqgian (EX#%), aged 46, is the general manager of
Tianjin Jianji. Mr. Lu is responsible for the overall management
and operation of Tianjin Jianiji.

Mr. Lu has over 12 years of experience in real estate
engineering construction. Mr. Lu joined the Group in August
2007. From August 2007 to March 2013, he worked as finance
manager in Huizhou Cheer Happy, where he was responsible
for financial and marketing management. Since May 2016, Mr.
Lu has served as the general manager of Tianjin Jianjin, where
he is responsible for the overall management of Tianjin Jianiji.

Mr. Chen Junbin (BR&3®), aged 45, is the director of project
development of the Group. Mr. Chen is mainly responsible for
land development, project feasibility studies and pre-
development coordination.

Mr. Chen has over 20 years of experience in project
investment. Mr. Chen joined the Group in October 2016. Prior
to joining the Group, from June 2013 to May 2016, Mr. Chen
served as a general manager of Jinzhou Pinggang Property
Co., Ltd. (38N F & E EBR X F]), where he was responsible
for project management. From July 1998 to October 2012, Mr.
Chen served as a marketing director and deputy general
manager of COSCO Guangzhou Construction Industry Co. (&
PR FERE 22 7)), where he was responsible for project
management.

Mr. Chen received his bachelor’'s degree in investment and
economics from Guangdong Business School (& 3 & &)
(renamed as Guangdong University of Finance & Economics in
2013) in June 1998. Mr. Chen was accredited as a real estate
economist by the Ministry of Personnel (7B A ZE &) of the
PRC in November 2002.
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Ms. Yin Yezhen, aged 44, is the director of cost management
of the Group. Ms. Yin is responsible for the project cost
management, contract management and procurement
management.

Ms. Yin has over 22 vyears of experience in construction
management and has been responsible for cost management
and measurement. Ms. Yin had been the assistant to the
general project manager of Crown Plaza Huizhou and Grand
Square Hotel Wuhu, both of which are owned by Mr. Wong
Ting Chung, and the manager of the cost department of
Sunshine New Court and Crown Grand Court of the Group
since July 2007, and was promoted to the director of cost
management of the Group in March 2020.

Ms. Yin holds a bachelor’'s degree in engineering management
from the Dalian University of Technology, certification of Grade
One Constructor (construction engineering) and qualification
certificate for senior engineer in construction engineering
management.

Mr. Quan Jianxu (B Z &F), aged 39, is the director of human
resources and administration of the Group. Mr. Quan is
responsible for human resources management, administration,
corporate culture management and government relations.

Mr. Quan has over 10 years of experience in human resources
and administrative management and he has been responsible
for human resource affairs and administrative operations. Mr.
Quan joined the Group in August 2016. Prior to that, from
June 2009 to May 2016, Mr. Quan served as the manager of
human resources department of Huizhou Huipeng Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (BMBEMEFEHEFZHBR A ), and
was subsequently promoted to the human resources and
administrative director in November 2010.

Mr. Quan received his bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from Xi’an University of Technology (78 % 2 T X
) in June 2009. In November 2009, Mr. Quan was
recognised as human resources manager by the Ministry of
Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC. In January
2014, he was accredited the title of intermediate economist by
the Huizhou personnel bureau.
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Mr. Huang Daode (E3i&EE), aged 48, is the director of design
of the Group. Mr. Huang is responsible for product research
and design management of the property development projects
of the Group.

Mr. Huang has over 16 years of experience in project design
management. Mr. Huang joined the Group in December 2016.
Prior to that, from May 2011 to May 2016, Mr. Huang also
worked as chief architect and project manager of Shenzhen
Huayang International Engineering Design Co., Ltd. (& Yl T &
5 BB T2 R 519 B BR A 7)), where he was responsible for
project management. From March 2003 to May 2011, Mr,
Huang served as chief architect and project handler of
Shenzhen Urbanspace Planning and Architectural Design Co.,
Ltd. ORIIEB T ZEMFZRETEMABR A R). From May 1997 to
February 2003, Mr. Huang served as an architect of Shenzhen
Huasen Architectural & Engineering Designing Consultants Ltd.

(Y ERRERTRRHERERA )

Mr. Huang obtained his college diploma in real estate
economics and administration from Huazhong Normal University
(FEP AP E K E) in June 1993, and he received his bachelor’s
degree in civil engineering from Northwestern Polytechnical
University (783t T % KX £) in July 2016 by distant learning.

Ms. Luo Hongbing (4L £T), aged 42, is the deputy director
of finance of the Group. Ms. Luo is responsible for budgets
and taxation of the Group.

Ms. Luo has more than 14 years of experience in finance and
accounting. Ms. Luo joined the Group in August 2018. Prior to
that, Ms. Luo served as a finance manager of Fantasia Huizhou
Company Limited* (7& 1 4 #b & = M % 1 2 7)) from July 2011
to January 2017. From January 2004 to June 2011, Ms. Luo
served as a finance manager and tax manager of a member of
TCL Corporation.

Ms. Luo received her bachelor’s degree in management from
Hunan University (#1F AX &) in May 2001, and she received her
master’s degree in management from Sichuan University (£9)]
KE) in December 2012. She obtained the qualification of
intermediate accountant issued by the Ministry of Finance of
the PRC in May 2005.
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Ms. Xiong Weiying (8% {& %), aged 41, is the deputy director
of finance of the Group. Ms. Xiong is responsible for financial
and accounting management of the Group.

Ms. Xiong has more than 8 years of experience in accounting
and financial management. Ms. Xiong joined the Group in April
2017. Prior to that, Ms. Xiong served as a financial manager of
Huizhou Longchen Industrial Co., Ltd. (EM T EREEZEBER A
A]) from October 2013 to January 2017. From April 2011 to
October 2013, Ms. Xiong served as financial manager of
Huizhou Huaji Investment Co., Ltd. (EMNMHEEIKEBR A 7).

Ms. Xiong received her college diploma in asset assessment
from Harbin Engineering College (WHEZ TR m S HERER)
(merged with Heilongjiang Communications College in March
2000 to establish Heilongjiang Institute of Technology) in July
2000. In February 2012, Ms. Xiong was admitted as a certified
public accountant by the Certified Public Accountants
Association of Jiangxi Province. In May 2009, Ms. Xiong was
admitted as a certified tax agent by the Shenzhen Certified Tax
Agent Management Center.

*

For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

As the Company believes that good corporate governance can
create value for its shareholders, the Board is committed to
maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices by
placing strong emphasis on a quality Board, sound internal
controls and effective accountability to the shareholders as a
whole. The Company has adopted the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
complied with all the mandatory code provisions set out in the
CG Code for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Board will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices to ensure that it complies with the CG Code and
aligns with the latest developments.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code for securities
transactions by the Directors.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiries made
by the Company, that they have fully complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code and the
Company’s code of conduct for the year ended 31 December
2019.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance
with written guidelines on terms no less exacting than the
required standards set out in the Model Code. Each of the
relevant employees has been given a copy of the written
guidelines.

No incident of non-compliance with these guidelines by the

relevant employees has been notified to the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2019.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for, and has general powers under
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company
for, the leadership and oversight of the Company’s
management and performance and the formulation and review
of the Group’s overall policies and strategies.

The Board is also responsible for performing corporate
governance duties, including the (i) development and review of
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance; and (ii) review of the Company’s compliance with
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and disclosures in the
corporate governance report. All major decisions, including but
not limited to those decisions affecting the financial results,
operations and shareholders of the Company, such as financial
statements, major transactions and
dividend policies, are made by the Board as a whole. Each
Director is aware of his or her fiduciary duties and duties and
responsibilities as a director under the Listing Rules, the CG
Code and applicable laws and regulations, and has acted
objectively for the benefit and best interests of the Company
and its shareholders.

business acquisitions,

Decisions of the Board are communicated to the senior
management through executive Directors. The day-to-day
management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the executive Directors and an independent senior
management team. The senior management team is also
responsible for the supervision and execution of the Group’s
business plans. The Board reviews periodically the performance
of the senior management team.

Certain functions and responsibilities are delegated to
committees established by the Board. For details, please refer
to the sub-sections headed “Executive Committee”, “Audit
Committee”, “Remuneration Committee” and “Nomination
Committee” below.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Composition of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors whose names are listed
below. Each member of the Board brings a wide spectrum of
valuable experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

Board of Directors
Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung (Chairman)

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Ka Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen (General Manager, appointed with effect
from 30 March 2020)

Mr. Wong Ka Lun (Chief Operating Officer)

Ms. Lau Pui Kwan (Company Secretary)

Mr. Lin Guoxian (resigned with effect from 19 July 2019)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Mr. Li Yinquan

Dr. Wu Wing Kuen

Except for the family relationship between Mr. Wong Ting
Chung, Mr. Lau Ka Keung and Mr. Lin Guoxian as disclosed in
the section headed “Biographical details of directors and
members of senior management” of this annual report, there is
no financial, business, family or other relevant relationship
between the Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules to have at
least three independent non-executive Directors representing at
least one-third of the Board with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.
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Having considered the factors for assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors under Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the written annual confirmations from each
independent non-executive Director, the Board considers all of
its independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

The list of Directors (by category) is disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules. A list of Directors identifying their roles and
functions is also available on the Company’s website at
www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.

Terms of appointment of Directors

Executive Directors and non-executive Director

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director has
entered into a service contract for an initial fixed term of three
years. The appointment may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either the relevant
Director or the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was
appointed by the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from 20 December 2018. The appointment
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either the relevant Director or the Company.

Nomination, appointment, re-election and removal
procedures

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Company’s articles of
association. Every Director is subject to the provisions of
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company
after his or her appointment and be subject to re-election at
such meeting.
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The Nomination Committee has been established on 26
November 2018 to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board at least annually to ensure that the Board has a
balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to meet
the requirements of the Company. This committee will identify
individuals who are qualified or suitable for directorship, assess
their qualifications, skills, prior experience, character and other
relevant aspects, including but not limited to their
independence in the case of an independent non-executive
Director candidate, and make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors or the filling
of casual vacancies on the Board or any other proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategies. Please refer to the sub-section headed “Nomination
Committee” below for more details on the Nomination
Committee.

Board practices and conduct of meetings

Directors are given the opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for Board meetings with notices of regular Board
meetings given or to be given at least 14 days in advance.
Notices and agenda of the Board meetings are prepared by the
company secretary of the Company as delegated by the
chairman. Directors are provided with adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly. They are
allowed to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses.

Directors are encouraged to make a full and active contribution
to the Board’s affairs and to voice out their views and
concerns. Directors are supplied with sufficient information and
given sufficient time for discussion to ensure that Board
decisions fairly reflect Board consensus.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

& EERRE A

REBEZEBER2018F11B26BKY  EREED
BERIN—ANESTTHEE - ASRAK  1#
RESSHIEENG  BMERERERTE
WEEAFEARARANFTE - WEESBYES
ERRBALAEEOAL FEESENE
B BELH R REMBBASE -
BREABTRERABESENB LM (FABILIERTT
EEREAN) URRESTZEHETKER
EEeHRRTERAESSELEMNEMESR
BYURRAARARANARREESEELAE
EeELEBEEZ AHREZEENFE
B2BATXIIRBZEGINE -

ESEEREARARER
EFARERIIRVARELEZTSEBEER
BERBERAEFEMAETSHRIZ -BEF
CEERBHNLEREHEIRZEARANAA
WERH EFERHETEARFHEHINE
WEZERTRE  TAEEENELIER
BYUBXER ARERBARAX

ARFIBRBEFERL2E2REETSEK - I
REERRREBITI EFEIEHEHEH
YERDKRETHm  WEREFGARAD
FiRREFES M LE -

45



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

X ERBRE A

A Director who to his or her knowledge is in any way, whether
directly or indirectly, interested in a contract or arrangement or
proposed contract or arrangement with the Company shall
declare the nature of his or her interest at the meeting of the
Board at which the question of entering into the contract or
arrangement is first taken into consideration, if he or she
knows his or her interest then exists, or in any other case, at
the first meeting of the Board after he or she knows that he or
she is or has become so interested. Subject to the articles of
association of the Company, a Director shall not vote (nor be
counted in the quorum) on any resolution of the Board
approving any contract or arrangement or other proposal in
which he or she or any of his or her close associates is
materially interested.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees
containing sufficient detail of the matters considered and
decisions reached, including any concerns raised or dissenting
views expressed, are sent to each Director for their review,
comment and records within a reasonable time after each
meeting. Final versions of such minutes are kept by the
company secretary of the Company and are open for
inspection by Directors upon reasonable notice.
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Board meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2019, five physical Board
meetings were held at which the Directors reviewed and
approved, among other things, (i) the annual results and report
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018; (i) the
offer of share options to a list of grantees in accordance with
the terms set out in the offer letter; (iii) the quarterly results of
the Group for the three months ended 31 March 2019; (iv) the
interim results and report of the Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2019; and (v) the quarterly results of the Group
for the nine months ended 30 September 2019. The
attendance records of individual Directors at the
aforementioned Board meetings and at the Company’s annual
general meeting held on 3 June 2019 are set out below:
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr. Wong Ting Chung serves as the chairman of the Company.
He is responsible for the overall strategic planning and
business direction of the Group. With the support of the
executive Directors and the company secretary, the chairman
approves the agenda for, and chairs, Board meetings to ensure
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed in a timely
manner, including any matters proposed by other Directors. He
is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board,
including but not limited to taking steps to ensure that all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings, providing all Directors with adequate information
which is accurate, clear, complete and reliable in a timely
manner, communicating shareholders’ views to the Board as a
whole and promoting a culture of openness and constructive
debate during Board meetings.

Mr. Lau Ka Keung serves as the chief executive officer of the
Company. He is responsible for the execution of the strategic
planning and general management of the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established on 3 June 2019 with
written terms of reference approved and adopted by the Board
on the same date. The primary duties of the Executive
Committee include (but not limited to): (i) discussing and
making decisions on day to day management and operation
matters of the Group; (ii) evaluating, determining and presenting
to the Board’s approval the Company’s funding requirement
and strategy; (iiij monitoring and overseeing the financial and
operational performance of the Group; and (iv) assessing and
making recommendations to the Board on major acquisitions of
or investments in business or projects. For year ended 31
December 2019, the Executive Committee consists of all
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Ka Keung (chairman of the
Executive Committee), Mr. Wong Ka Lun, Ms. Lau Pui Kwan
and Mr. Lin Guoxian (resigned as a committee member with
effect from 19 July 2019). Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen was
appointed a member of the Executive Committee with effect
from 30 March 2020. The written terms of reference of the
Executive Committee have been made available on the
Company’s website at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the
website of the Stock Exchange.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph C3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to assist the Board by providing an
independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems of the
Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the
accounting policies of the Group and to perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. For the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li
Yinguan (chairman of the Audit Committee who possesses the
appropriate professional qualification or accounting or related
financial management expertise), Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen,
and Dr. Wu Wing Kuen. The written terms of reference of the
Audit Committee has been made available on the Company’s
website at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the
Stock Exchange. The Audit Committee has reviewed with the
management of the Group the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls
and financial reporting matters including a review of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

The Audit Committee held three physical meetings during the
year ended 31 December 2019. In these three meetings, the
Audit Committee discussed and reviewed, among other things,
() the accuracy and fairness of the Group’s audited annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2018 and unaudited
interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2019; (ii) the
work of the Group’s internal auditor; and (i) the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
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The attendance records of individual Audit Committee members
at the aforementioned Audit Committee meetings are set out
below:

BRBHEEGNER LABHEEG O S
2 EEEBIIIT

Attendance/

Number of

meetings

HERE

Name of Audit Committee member BN ZEERERS FBEXRY

Mr. Li Yinquan (Chairman) o RAEE(EE) 3/3

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen BEEELEA 3/3

Dr. Wu Wing Kuen HAOK TS £ 3/3
Remuneration Committee FMHEES

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules and paragraph B1 of the CG Code. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee include (but not limited to): (i)
making recommendations to the Directors regarding our policy
and structure for the remuneration of all of our Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (ii)
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of our Directors and senior management; (iii)
reviewing and approving the management’s
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; and (iv) considering and approving the grant of
share options to eligible participants pursuant to the share
option scheme of the Company. For the year ended 31
December 2019, the Remuneration Committee consists of one
non-executive Director, namely Mr. Wong Ting Chung, and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Wu Wing
Kuen (chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Li
Yinquan. The written terms of reference of Remuneration
Committee has been made available on the Company’s website
at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.

remuneration
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The Remuneration Committee held two physical meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2019. In these meetings,
the Remuneration Committee discussed and reviewed, among
other things, (i) the remuneration packages of the Directors and
senior management; and (i) the offer of share options to a list
of grantees in accordance with the terms set out in the offer
letter.

The attendance records of individual Remuneration Committee
members at the aforementioned Remuneration Committee
meetings are set out below:

& EERRE A

HZE2019F12A31HILFE - HFMEE S A H
MAEHE THEEERNE LlwmMBEHN(H
FEE)ATERE: ((EERoREEENF
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BREZR -

ErRlFMEEeRER LAFMEE SR
ZHEREESIT

Attendance/

Number of

meetings

HERE

Name of Remuneration Committee member FHEZEEERERS EERY

Dr. Wu Wing Kuen (Chairman) MoK L (EE) 2/2

Mr. Wong Ting Chung FREREA 2/2

Mr. Li Yinquan F5|REAE 2/2
Nomination Committee REEEY

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms
of reference in compliance with paragraph A5 of the CG Code.
It is responsible for determining the policy for the nomination of
directors, identifying and recommending to the Board
appropriate candidates to serve as Directors, evaluating the
structure and composition of the Board and developing,
recommending to the Board and monitoring nomination
guidelines for the Company. For the year ended 31 December
2019, the Nomination Committee consists of one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Wong Ting Chung, and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen
(chairman of the Nomination Committee) and Dr. Wu Wing
Kuen. The written terms of reference of this committee has
been made available on the Company’s website at
www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.
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The Nomination Committee held one physical meeting during
the year ended 31 December 2019. In the meeting, the
Nomination Committee discussed and reviewed, among other
things, (i) the recommendation on re-election of retire Directors
at the AGM,; (ii) the existing structure, size and composition of
the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills
and experience appropriate for the Group’s business and is in
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules; and (iii)
the formation of the Executive Committee.

The attendance records of individual Nomination Committee
members at the aforementioned Nomination Committee meeting
are set out below:

HE2019F12A31B L FE REXELE2EH

—XeH REZERE LFRMEH(H
REB)LATEER: (\EARETESNKRRE

FREEEEANEZ  WEFSRFRE
ANBRAEK  BRESENEEMNZ KK
RBEHFE  BEAKRERBRENTA TR
RIS MK IZATEES -

ERREZEeXERNLAREZEEEH

Z B skE MR

Attendance/

Number of

meetings

HERE

Name of Nomination Committee member REZEEREN®KSR = N

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (Chairman) BEEBEEE(EE) 1/1

Mr. Wong Ting Chung FREREA 1/1

Dr. Wu Wing Kuen HAOK BT £ 1/1
Board diversity EEgmEZ it

The Company recognises and embraces the importance and
benefit achieving diversity on the Board has on corporate
governance and board effectiveness. During the year ended 31
December 2019, the Company monitored the Board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires
board appointments to be made on a merit basis with due
regard for the benefits of the diversity of Board members.
Selection of candidates will be based on a wide range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
race, language, cultural background, educational background,
industry experience and professional experience. The
Nomination Committee has developed measurable objectives to
implement the board diversity policy and would monitor the
progress in achieving these objectives.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The amount of fees charged by the Company’s external
auditor, KPMG, in respect of their interim review services,
annual audit services and non-audit services for the year

ended 31 December 2019 amounted to approximately
RMB0.38 million, RMB2.09 million and RMBO0.41 million
respectively.

THE COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary plays a role in supporting the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board and also that
Board policy and procedures are followed. The company
secretary is responsible for advising the Board through the
chairman and/or the chief executive officer on corporate
governance matters and should also facilitate induction and
professional development of Directors. Specific enquiry has
been made to the company secretary of the Company, namely
Ms. Lau Pui Kwan (“Ms. Lau”), and Ms. Lau has confirmed that
she has complied with the relevant qualifications, experience
and training requirements under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance for its Directors and senior management. The
insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses
and liabilities for any legal action against them arising out of the
Group’s operation.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code,
Directors should participate
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. All the Directors are also encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.

in continuous professional
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The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision A.6.5 of the CG Code for the year ended 31
December 2019 and they participated in the following types of

continuous professional development:

BIE2019F12A31HLEFE EFHERNEF—
BEETRE SRR TR EAL5MF WL R
NTHEINBSEEXERR

Type of
continuous
professional
development

BHEEX

Name of Director EEnA BERNER
Non-executive Director HHITESE
Mr. Wong Ting Chung (Chairman) FTERLE®E(FE) (1), (I
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Lau Ka Keung (Chief Executive Officer) BRBEE (TTHAEZ) (), (1
Mr. Wong Ka Lun (Chief Operating Officer) BERMAE (B /EEERE) 0, (I
Ms. Lau Pui Kwan (Company Secretary) BIMERZ L (RAI#HE) (), (I
Mr. Lin Guoxian (resigned with effect from BB 5 A (7201947 A19H N/A

19 July 2019) B 1) i
Independent non-executive Directors BUHBITEE
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen EHB L (), (I
Mr. Li Yinquan FE|REE (1), (1)
Dr. Wu Wing Kuen HAOK AT £ (), (I
()  Attending seminars/webinars. () HEMIS W|BEHFTS-
() Reading/watching materials in relation to the roles, () BEEB LT AREZEZETNAG B

functions and duties of a listed company director and the

latest developments in the relevant rules and regulations. S

54

REAREBERA RO ERHERNE

Million Cities Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2019



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

INVESTOR COMMUNICATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company considers timely communication to shareholders
and/or investors and transparent reporting as key components
of good corporate governance. The Company aims to maintain
frequent and timely communication with its shareholders and/or
investors through a variety of communication channels,
including but not limited to general meetings, annual and
interim reports and official announcements. General meetings
provide a platform for shareholders to exchange views with the
Board and the Directors are available to answer questions at
the Company’s annual general meetings. Shareholders will be
sent a copy of the annual and interim reports or be notified of
the release of such reports. Annual and interim reports are
accessible on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company’s website at www.millioncities.com.cn, where general
information on the Group’s business and activities is available
for public access. Official announcements will be released from
time to time in accordance with the Listing Rules to update our
shareholders and/or investors with the latest developments of
the Group.

Voting at general meetings of the Company is conducted by
way of poll in accordance with the Listing Rules. The poll
results will be published on both the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. Pursuant to Clause 64 of the
Company’s existing articles of association,
shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings may deposit a
written requisition (the “Written Requisition”) to the Board or the
the purpose of
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in the Written Requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of the Written Requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit,
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

one or more

company secretary for requiring an
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Shareholders and investors are also welcome to submit any
enquiries to the Board and suggestions or proposals at general
meetings directly to the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong as provided in the section headed “Corporate
information” in this annual report.

The Board also encourages shareholders to attend general
meetings to make enquiries with the Board directly.

DIVIDEND POLICY

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has
adopted a dividend policy on declaration and payment of
dividends. The dividend policy is available on the website of the
Company at www.millioncities.com.cn. Depending on the
financial conditions of the Company and the Group and the
conditions and factors as set out in the dividend policy,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board
during a financial year or period and any final dividend for a
financial year which will be subject to the shareholders’
approval.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The amended and restated articles of association of the
Company has been conditionally adopted on 26 November
2018 with effect from the Listing Date. During the year ended
31 December 2019, there was no change to the memorandum
of association and amended and restated articles of association
of the Company. The Company has published its memorandum
of association and amended and restated articles of association
on the Company’s website at www.millioncities.com.cn and on
the website of the Stock Exchange.

ACCOUNTABILITY

The Directors have included a management discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31
December 2019 under the section headed “Management
discussion and analysis” of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board places great importance on risk management and
internal control and has ultimate responsibilities for overseeing
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control system of the Group
on an ongoing basis. The Board is also committed to review

the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.
The Group established the risk management and internal

control systems with aims to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatements or losses caused by judgment in decision
making process, human error, fraud or other irregularities.

In order to comply with the applicable code provisions set out
in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules,
the Board has engaged an independent professional firm as the
outsourced internal auditor (the “internal auditor”) with a view to
ensuring adequacy of resources and quality of review to satisfy
the Group’s internal audit function as required by the Listing
Rules and to assist the Board to perform annual reviews on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has
reviewed the internal audit charter which defined the scope and
the duties and responsibilities of the internal audit function and
its reporting protocol. The Group has conducted an annual risk
assessment which identified respective strategic risks,
operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks for the
Group. Based on the risk assessment results following a risk
based methodology audit approach, a three-year internal audit
plan was devised which prioritized the risks identified into
annual audit projects. The Group has taken further steps to
enhance its risk management and internal control systems
according to some weaknesses found during risk assessment
and examination of the internal control and strengthen the
implementation of all the risk management and internal control
systems. The Board has also reviewed, through the Audit
Committee, the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Group has established procedures in handling and
dissemination of inside information in an accurate and secure
manner and to avoid possible mishandling of inside information
within the Group.

Based on the risk management and internal control systems
established and maintained by the Group, the review performed
by the external auditor, the internal auditor, and
performed by the management, respective board committees
and the Board, the Audit Committee and the Board are of the
view that the Group has maintained sound, effective and
adequate risk management and internal control system during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

reviews
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION
OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has developed an inside information policy which
provides a guidance to the Directors and the Company’s senior
management and in handling inside
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding
The Company should take all reasonable
measures to ensure the confidentiality of inside information until
consistent and timely disclosure of such information is made.

relevant employees

to enquiries.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 and confirm that the financial statements
contained herein give a true and fair view of the results and
state of affairs of the Group for the year under review. The
Directors consider that the financial statements have been
prepared in conformity with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and reflect amounts which are based on
best estimates and reasonable, informed and prudent judgment
of the Board. Such acknowledgement should be read in
conjunction with, but be distinguished from, the statement of
the external auditor of the Company, KPMG, in relation to their
reporting responsibilities as set out in their auditor’s report on
pages 103 to 113 of this annual report.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Group are property development and
sales in the PRC. Particulars of the principal activities of the
Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year ended 31 December 2019.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 and its future development is set out in the
chairman’s statement from page 4 to page 10 and
management discussion and analysis from page 11 to page 28
of this annual report.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
on page 114 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019 amounted to approximately RMB4.4
million (2018: RMBO0.9 million).

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
OF THE COMPANY

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 118 of
this annual report and note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders in accordance with its
articles of association and the laws of the Cayman Islands
amounted to approximately RMB646.7 million (2018: RMB636.1
million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK LOANS

Details of the bank loans of the Group as at 31 December
2019 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the issued share capital of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Pursuant to the capitalisation of shareholders’ loans, the
capitalisation issue and the global offering of the Company,
749,999,998 ordinary shares were issued on the Listing Date.
to the Prospectus for details of the
aforementioned movements in the issued share capital.

Please refer

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and there are no restrictions
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year ended 31
December 2019 attributable to the Group’s major customers
and suppliers are as follows:

Revenue from sales of properties attributable to:

— the largest customer 0.84%

— five largest customers in aggregate 2.61%

Purchases attributable to:

— the largest supplier 42.92%

—  five largest suppliers in aggregate 59.06%

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules), or any shareholder (which, to
the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital), had any interest in any of the

five largest customers or suppliers of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2019.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the five years ended 31 December
2019 is set out on page 257 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2019 and
up to the date of this annual report are as follows:

Chairman and non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung BBS, JP (Chairman)

Executive Directors
Mr. Lau Ka Keung MH, JP (Chief executive officer)
Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen (appointed with effect
from 30 March 2020)
Mr. Wong Ka Lun
Ms. Lau Pui Kwan
Mr. Lin Guoxian (resigned with effect from 19 July 2019)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen GBS, JP

Mr. Li Yinquan

Dr. Wu Wing Kuen BBS

In accordance with articles 109(a), 109(b) and 113 of the
Company’s articles of association, four directors will retire from
office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.
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All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years but are eligible for re-election by shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to
articles 109(a), 109(b) and 113 of the Company’s articles of
association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial
term of three years, which may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was
appointed by the Company for a term of three years in
accordance with their respective letters of appointment with the
Company, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not terminable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions” below and
to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Company’s
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, or in which a
Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the
end of the year ended 31 December 2019.

in note 31

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision contained in the Company’s
articles of association that is subject to the requirements
specified in the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) for the benefit of the Directors of the
Company was in force during the year ended 31 December
2019 and up to the date of this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 31 to the financial
statements. As these related party transactions constitute fully
exempted continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, none of them
constitutes discloseable connected transactions as defined
under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE

EERFETBRAERERS - HEKR
ITREEZENEERAR

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

The interests and/or short positions of Directors and chief
executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
at 31 December 2019 as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the SFC under the Model Code, are set

out below:

SE/SKB T

2019%F12A31H ARAIEENTE
S R ARG MEERND(EEREEN
HEKRMEXNVE) AHBEBALHERNESF AT
E3ll
')ér
HE

TTHEA

FORIFHEEFE mﬁﬁﬁm% SR
FRBZETABENME AR NEES

Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company AAalEBRNTE
Number of Approximate
ordinary shares/ percentage of
underlying the issued share
shares held or capital of the
Name of Directors Nature of interests interested in Company®
%S LER N
RENZEER EBITRAEN
EEgE HmME HERGH B BHOBED e
Mr. Wong Ting Chung"® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
F REERR S A 00 EREX @A
Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.4%
E=#EAA
Mr. Lau Ka Keung®® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%
18 K 08 & PO i 48 &
Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.4%
E Jm }rgg ﬁ A
Mr. Wong Ka Lun® Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.2%
|R fmkEY EnEAA
Ms. Lau Pui Kwan® Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.2%
2mFE 2+ EnEAA
Mr. lp Shu Kwan, Stephen® Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.2%

PP el
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ordinary shares/

wEE W

Number of Approximate

percentage of

underlying the issued share
shares held or capital of the
Name of Directors Nature of interests interested in Company®
FrEFs#ES L NN
BEWZER ERITRAEARN
EENA EEME HERGOH B BHE DS
Mr. Li Yinquan® Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.2%
PO REE ExnEAA
Dr. Wu Wing Kuen® Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.2%
HAOK RETE @ ExnEBA
Note 1: Mr. Wong Ting Chung is the settlor, the protector and one  Fff&E1 : FTEREEEREREIENRTA RE
of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and ARZR@WAZ— WBREBEZRZRLRPE R
therefore he is deemed to be interested in the shares held IR B BETR (S FEFT 5 AR 10 R % B &
by the Happy Family Trust under the SFO. Finlkd
Note 2: Mr. Lau Ka Keung is the spouse of Ms. Wong Wai Ling,  Ff&E2 : BRMEEBTER LT (ERETH
who is one of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust Rm Az )RE WERELFLHAE
and therefore he is deemed to be interested in the shares REIR AR EREFEFTRARD P A
held by the Happy Family Trust under the SFO. e
Note 3: Each of Mr. Wong Ting Chung and Mr. Lau Ka Keung has  Fff 53 : F REHR % A R AR R 58 5 A & B 20194
a beneficial interest in the share options granted to each 3A29H 1R # HE AR # 51 S B 5% 1) 8 IR 1
of them on 29 March 2019 under the Share Option FHEAE=ERD  WMARBITRZEER
Scheme and which, if exercised in full, would result in the # - Bllg Mm% 5 Bl 173,000,0008% %
issuance of 3,000,000 shares to each of them. vk
Note 4: Each of Mr. Wong Ka Lun, Ms. Lau Pui Kwan, Mr. Ip Shu  Fff5E4 : EXxRAEE BMELL EFHEBEL
Kwan, Stephen, Mr. Li Yinquan and Dr. Wu Wing Kuen, EFE|REARAKEELSER
has a beneficial interest in the share options granted to 2019453 A29H 1R 1% i IR 7 51 S| B X 1Y
each of them on 29 March 2019 under the Share Option Eﬁﬂﬁ%‘#‘%ﬁ T o WA BT E %
Scheme and which, if exercised in full, would result in the EHERE erREEHaET
issuance of 1,500,000 shares to each of them. 1,500,0008% f& 1 °
Note 5: The calculation is based on the total number of issued  MiE5 B2019F12A31IBE BT B AH

ordinary shares of 750,000,000 shares as at 31 December
2019.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December 2019 as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the SFC under
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this
annual report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
holding companies, or any of the subsidiary undertakings
(within the meaning of the Companies (Directors’ Report)
Regulation) of such holding companies a party to any
arrangements whose objects are, or one of whose objects is,
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate. Save as disclosed above, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company (including their
spouses and children under the age of 18) had any interests in
or was granted any right to subscribe for the securities of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), or had exercised any such rights.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended and as at 31 December 2019, none of
the Directors had any interest in any business apart from the
business of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

For the year ended 31 December 2019, each of the
Company’s controlling shareholders has confirmed to the
Company of his/her/its compliance with the non-competition
undertakings given by him/her/it to the Company under the
deed of non-competition, as defined in the Prospectus, and
he/she/it had not been offered or become aware of any
business opportunity which may compete with the business of
the Group, during the year ended 31 December 2019. There
was no matter requiring deliberation by the Board in relation to
the compliance and enforcement of the deed of non-
competition. The Board, including all the independent non-
executive Directors, is of the view that the controlling
shareholders of the Company have been in compliance with the
deed of non-competition in favour of the Company.

The Directors are of the view that there are sufficient measures
in place to safeguard the interests of the Company and its
shareholders against any competition potential
competition issues.

issues or

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has approved and adopted the Share Option
Scheme. Under the Share Option Scheme, the eligible
participants may be granted share options pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme. The following is a summary of the
principal terms of the Share Option Scheme.

(@) Purpose
The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to provide
the eligible participants an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company with the view to achieving the
following objectives:

(i) motivate the eligible participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and

(i)  attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going
business relationship with the eligible participants
whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group.
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(b)

(c)
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Eligible participants

The eligible participants include (i) any full-time or part-
time employees, executives or officers of the Company or
its subsidiaries; (i) any directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries; and (iii) any advisers, consultants,
agents, suppliers, customers, distributors and such other
persons who in the sole opinion of the Board will
contribute or have contributed to the Company and/or
any of its subsidiaries.

any of

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all the share options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company (if any) shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue (i.e. a
maximum of 75,000,000 shares) immediately after Listing,
provided that:

()  the maximum number of shares may be renewed,
with the approval of the shareholders in a general
meeting, up to a maximum of 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company at the date of such
shareholders’ approval, inclusive of the maximum
number of shares in respect of which share options
may be granted under another scheme, if any;

(i)  the Company may obtain a separate approval from
the Company’s shareholders in a general meeting to
permit the granting of share options which will result
in the number of shares in respect of all the share
options granted exceeding the then maximum
number of shares provided that such share options
are granted only to eligible participants specifically
identified by the Company before shareholders’
approval is sought (in which case such share
options granted shall not be counted towards the
then applicable maximum number of shares); and

(b)

(c)
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(d)

(i) the total maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding share
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share options
granted and yet to be exercised under another
scheme shall not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Unless approved by the shareholders in a general meeting
(with the relevant eligible participant and his/her close
associates abstaining from voting), no eligible participant
shall be granted an share option if the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
share options granted and to be granted to such eligible
participant in any 12-month period up to the date of the
latest grant would exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time.

An offer of the grant of an option to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates must be approved by
the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who is the grantee of
the options).

Where any grant of share options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or
any of their respective associates, would result in the
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all share
options already granted and to be granted (including
share options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in
issue; and
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(e)

(f)

(9)
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(i) having an aggregate value, based on the official
closing price of the shares at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5.0 million,

such further grant of share options will be subject to the
by the Company and must be
approved by the shareholders in general meeting on a
poll. The grantee, his/her associates and all core
connected persons of the Company must abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting.

issue of a circular

Acceptance of an offer of share options

A share option shall be deemed to have been granted
and accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect
the duplicate offer document constituting
acceptances of the share options duly signed by the
grantee, together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof, is received by the Company on or before the
relevant acceptance date. To the extent that the offer to
grant a share option is not accepted by any prescribed
acceptance date, it shall be deemed to have been
irrevocably declined.

when

Performance target

A grantee may be required to achieve any performance
targets as the Board may then specify in the grant before
any share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme can be exercised.

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any share option shall
be a price determined by the Board and notified to an
eligible participant (subject to any adjustments made
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Share Option
Scheme) which must be at least the highest of:

(i) the official closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the
date of grant, which must be a day on which the
Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing
in securities;

(e)

(f)

(9)
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(h)

U]

(i)  the average of the official closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant; or

(i) the nominal value of the shares.

Ranking of shares

The shares to be allotted upon the exercise of a share
option will be subject to all the provisions of the articles
of association for the time being in force and will rank
pari passu in all respects with and shall have the same
voting, dividend, transfer and other rights. Shares issued
on the exercise of a share option shall not rank for any
rights attaching to the shares by reference to a record
date preceding the date of allotment.

The shares to be allotted upon the exercise of a share
option will not carry voting rights until completion of the
registration of the grantee (such other person nominated
by the grantee) as the holder thereof.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of 10 years from 20 December 2018 (being the
Listing Date), after which no further options shall be
offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall in all other respects remain in full force and effect to
the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any
share options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme. Share options granted prior
thereto but not yet exercised shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme.
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Details of the movements of the share options granted under
the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December
2019 are as follows:

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE » BIEEREE
HEEMBERESEFBOT

Number of share options
during the year ended 31 December 2019
HZ2019F12AALFERRERR

Balance as

Exercise Balance as at 31

price® at 1 January December

Name of grantees Date of grant (HK$) Exercise period? 2019  Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2019

R2019%F 20195

fTEEn 1188 123181

ABRARE R A (Br) fTEH 33 R % i P 323

Mr. Wong Ting Chung 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to — 3,000,000 - - — 3,000,000
28 March 2029
TRERE 201943 A29H 2020%3A208 &
20293280

Mr. Lau Ka Keung 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to — 3,000,000 - - — 3,000,000
28 March 2029
BREELE 201943A29H 202053A29R &
2029F3A28H

Mr. Wong Ka Lun 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to — 1,500,000 - - — 1,500,000
28 March 2029
BEXfmLE 20194 3429H 202063A29R &
20293 28R

Ms. Lau Pui Kwan 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to — 1,500,000 - - — 1,500,000
28 March 2029
EME LT 2019437298 202063A290 &
20293 28R

Mr. Lin Guoxian® 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to — 1,500,000 — (1,500,000 = =
28 March 2029
ME B 540 20193 A29H 2020F3A29H &
20293280

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to — 1,500,000 = = — 1,500,000
28 March 2029
EHEL4E 201937298 2020F3A29A &
20293280

Mr. Li Yinquan 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to — 1,500,000 = = — 1,500,000
28 March 2029
P REAE 20193/29H 2020F3A29A &
20293 5280

Dr. Wu Wing Kuen 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to — 1,500,000 - - — 1,500,000
28 March 2029
HHKERL 2019437298 202063A29A
20293 28R

Other employees of the 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to — 8,700,000 - - — 8,700,000
Group 28 March 2029
rEEEMESR 2019%3A29R 202063A29A &
2029F3 280

TOtil — 23,700,000 - (1,500,000) — 22,200,000

s
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Notes:

1.

Exercise price of share options granted of HK$1.362 per share
represents the highest of:

(i) the closing price of HK$1.330 on the date of grant, i.e. 29
March 2019;

(i) the average closing price of HK$1.362 for five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(i)~ the nominal value of the share of HK$0.01 each.

The share options granted to the above Directors and other
employees of the Group shall be vested in three equal tranches.
The vesting periods of the share options are between the date
of grant and the dates of commencement of exercise periods.
The vesting periods and exercise periods of the share options
are as follows:

Share options granted on 29 March 2019
R20196F3 290 = H iV 8 IR %

B 35

2.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

wEE W

ERHBEREZITEESRK.362E TR T

ZEREE

0] RI%H B EI(B1201943H298) R 2
g {8 1.33078 T

(i) MREEZFHABHIITAEZEARND
BT E1.36278 T K

(i)  RHEESKRO.OIET -

E‘Z

ALEAEERAREEMEES R OBRE
BAN-HERRB BRENEBH AR
HEETEHMGESRHE - BRED

HRATEHRMT

Vesting period
ol

Exercise period

TR

B

One-third of the share options (rounded to the nearest number of share
options which represents an integral multiples of one board lot)

=z HBRE(NRAIAZEREI - TEREHNEREZRE)

One-third of the share options (rounded to the nearest number of share
options which represents an integral multiples of one board lot)

=2 —HBEREMOEIAZREI - TEIEHNBERESE)

The remaining share options

g7 BB A

Mr. Lin Guoxian resigned as an executive Director with effect from
19 July 2019. The share options granted to Mr. Lin Guoxian
were cancelled upon his resignation.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

3.

29 March 2019 to
28 March 2020
201993 H29H =
20203 H28H

29 March 2019 to
28 March 2021
201993 F29H =
202143 H28H

29 March 2019 to
28 March 2022
201993 H29H =
202243 H28H

29 March 2020 to
28 March 2029
20203 H29H =
20293 H28H

29 March 2021 to
28 March 2029
202193 H29H =
202943 H28H

29 March 2022 to
28 March 2029
20223 H29H =
202943 A28H

MBI B EEFERITES © 52019677198
AR R THBEE L ENERBEAERETR

A3 e
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

Save as disclosed below, so far as known to the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, as at 31 December 2019, the
following persons or corporations (other than our Directors and
chief executive of our Company) who had interest and/or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company

FERRERAEMALTRRSG RAEE

ROPHEZERAR
BR NPT RBEES  BEERARAERITR

ANEBFTH - A2019F 128318 » TF| AL 8%
B(RPANEERARBEBITHAERIN R
AKRBHBRGOIBERGTHEEREZHRR
HE M EXVERFE2 R E3D WAEX S M AR
AEBENEER AR KSR ES KB
EI&DIEI6E M EETHFENE LMD
R/SKRBIT

ARABREBRRNER

all

Name of substantial shareholder

Nature of interest

Number

of ordinary
shares held or
interested in

Approximate
percentage

of issued

share capital of
the Company!?

PR #F =R LER N
BEREREN ERITRAEHN
TERRER HE EEME ERERHE B E Do
Fortune Speed Investments Limited Beneficial owner 562,500,000 75.0%
A REGR R A EmEAA
Winnermax Management Limited® Interest in a controlled 562,500,000 75.0%
corporation
BEREEAR AR REZEHEBE R
Happy Family Assets Limited® Interest in a controlled 562,500,000 75.0%
corporation
EREEFARAFO REZEHEB R
East Asia International Trustees Limited”  Trustee of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
East Asia International Trustees Limited® {S3E= 5 A
Ms. Wang Kam Chu® Interest of spouse 565,500,000 75.4%
Wang Kam Chu# £@ Bic (B 1 =
Ms. Wong Wai Ling® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
FEBRKLO BEEXm A
Interest of spouse 3,000,000 0.4%
Bic 18 # 25
Mr. Wong Ting Kau® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%

FTEXREEY
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Name of substantial shareholder

Nature of interest

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Number

of ordinary
shares held or
interested in

Approximate
percentage

of issued

share capital of
the Company!'®

wEE W

sl LR YN
BEERN ERITRAK
TERRER MR EmME HRERBE BAE D
Mr. Wong Ting Chun® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
EEHEEED fEFEZ 2 A
Mr. Wong Wai Wing, Raymond® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
FEELELEO EEXE A
Ms. Chan Ka Wai® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%
Chan Ka WaiZz £ Aic 18 7 2
Ms. Tsoi Suet Ngai® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%
Tsoi Suet NgaiZzz +® Aic 18 # 2=
Ms. Kwan Ying Tsi, Catherine® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%

Kwan Ying Tsi, CatherineZz +=©

Fic 5 #E =

Notes:

1

Fortune Speed Investments Limited is a company wholly owned
by Winnermax Management Limited, which is in turn wholly
owned by Happy Family Assets Limited, a company wholly
owned by East Asia International Trustees Limited.

East Asia International Trustees Limited is the trustee of Happy
Family Trust, a trust established by Mr. Wong Ting Chung as the
settlor. Accordingly, each of Happy Family Assets Limited, East
Asia International Trustees Limited and Winnermax Management
Limited, is deemed to be interested in the 562,500,000 shares
held by Fortune Speed Investments Limited under the SFO.

) Ms. Wang Kam Chu is the spouse of Mr. Wong Ting Chung and
is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held, directly
or indirectly, by Mr. Wong Ting Chung under the SFO.

8) Ms. Wong Wai Ling, sister of Mr. Wong Ting Chung, is one of

the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and therefore she is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by the Happy Family
Trust under the SFO. Ms. Wong Wai Ling is also the spouse of
Mr. Lau Ka Keung and is therefore deemed to be interested in
the shares held by Mr. Lau Ka Keung under the SFO.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

Fi g

@

)

A KREERAFREREEERAREZE
HE MEBEEERAFBEREEAR
NAEEHE EREEARRRA G A HEast
Asia International Trustees Limited =& # A °

East Asia International Trustees Limited& fE
RIEFE (B EEREFIEAE T ABIZH(EFE)
MXFEA AUt EREEARRRQ A - East
Asia International Trustees Limited & 1E & & 12
BRAFRZBIREREF RBEEMEEZR
Il & A R A B AT A #9562,500,0008% Ak
DHRES R -

Wang Kam ChuZ =+ & F 2 5 £ B9 B 48 -
U REBEZFRABKRAER RN T ERL
SEESRERENROTEAER -

ITERZET(FEBEENMRB IR RERE
AENRmAZ— Bl REES RBAE GG
BRINERGEEFENRNDTHEE#E - T
BERLZEITRERBRELENER  WRER
ZRBEHRAESNEBREEEFBOHERN
hHEA R -
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4) Mr. Wong Ting Kau, brother of Mr. Wong Ting Chung, is one of
the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and therefore he is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by the Happy Family
Trust under the SFO.

5) Mr. Wong Ting Chun, brother of Mr. Wong Ting Chung, is one
of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and therefore he
is deemed to be interested in the shares held by the Happy
Family Trust under the SFO.

(6) Mr. Wong Wai Wing, Raymond, brother of Mr. Wong Ting Chung,
is one of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and
therefore he is deemed to be interested in the shares held by
the Happy Family Trust under the SFO.

(7) Ms. Chan Ka Wai is the spouse of Mr. Wong Ting Kau and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held, directly or
indirectly, by Mr. Wong Ting Kau under the SFO.

(8) Ms. Tsoi Suet Ngai is the spouse of Mr. Wong Ting Chun and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held, directly or
indirectly, by Mr. Wong Ting Chun under the SFO.

9) Ms. Kwan Ying Tsi, Catherine is the spouse of Mr. Wong Wai
Wing, Raymond and is therefore deemed to be interested in the
shares held, directly or indirectly, by Mr. Wong Wai Wing,
Raymond under the SFO.

(10) The calculation is based on the total number of issued ordinary
shares of 750,000,000 shares as at 31 December 2019.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2019 or subsisted as at 31 December
2019.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31
December 2019.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries, has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE
COMPANY’S IPO

The net proceeds from Listing amounted to approximately
HK$190.8 million after deducting the underwriting commission
and other fees and expenses paid by the Company for Listing.

Up to the date of this report, the net proceeds from Listing
were used as following:

o HK$100.0 million, representing approximately 52.4% of the
net proceeds from the Listing, were used to repay the
pre-IPO loan;

o HK$11.5 million, representing approximately 6.0% of the
net proceeds, were used to fund the development costs
for Million Cities Legend Phase 3;

° HK$68.5 million, representing approximately 35.9% of the
net proceeds, were used to pay the earnest money for
the potential project in Shenzhen in accordance with the
MOU entered into on 9 January 2020.

° HK$10.8 million, representing approximately 5.7% of the
net proceeds, were used for general working capital
purposes.

Up to the date of this annual report, the net proceeds were
utilised in full.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits schemes participated by the
Group are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Particulars of the directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 29 to 40 of this annual report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION BY
BAND

The remuneration of the Company’s senior management,
whose biography are set out on pages 30 to 32 and 37 to 40
of this annual report, for the year ended 31 December 2019 is
set out below:

BEEREREERE
ARBEERSREEENFBIHNAER
E20F40E o

RyMEES T NS REEEMNS
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE AR HEIE

(BREEHN AR EREIEI2NITELI0E) H M
/(L N

Number of individuals

AE
Remuneration bands B <& &
HK$Nil-HK$500,000 Z 7 7T £500,0007 7T 3
HK$500,001-HK$1,000,000 500,001 JT £1,000,000/% 7T S
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £2,000,000/%8 7T 1
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/ 7T £2,500,0007% JT 1
HK$4,500,001-HK$5,000,000 4,500,001/ JT 2£5,000,0007% JT 1

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG
Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The Board
is of the view that the Company is in compliance with the
mandatory code provisions of the CG Code for the year ended
31 December 2019.

For details of the Corporate Governance Report, please refer to
pages 41 to 59 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is
confirmed that there is sufficient public float of the Company’s
issued shares for the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to
the date of this annual report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM for the year ended 31 December 2019 is scheduled
to be held on 5 June 2020. A notice convening the AGM will
be issued and disseminated to the Company’s shareholders in
due course.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to implement policies in environmental
protection in order to conserve natural resources. The Group
strives to minimise the Group’s environmental impact through
reducing electricity and water consumption and encouraging
recycle of office supplies and other materials. The Group is also
committed to ensure that the Group is in strict compliance with
the applicable environmental laws and regulations of the
relevant jurisdictions.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company strives to balance business growth with
environmental protection.

As the major businesses of the Group are property
development and sales in China, the Group (i) evaluates,
manages and mitigates from time to time environmental issues
within the context of the Group’s business activities and
objectives for the conservation of energy and other natural
resources; (i) devises environmental policies and measures for
the Group so as to keep them in line with the standards
required under the applicable laws, rules and regulations to the
extent practicable; and (iii) applies the Group’s philosophy on
environment protection to the Group’s supply chain and
operations. These include but not limited to the scrutiny in the
selection of the Group’s business partners or services
providers and award the bids of construction and other
projects of which the Group is involved to reputable and
environmentally-conscientious corporations and contractors with
good compliant and environmental records.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in the
workplace through (i) appropriately designing, constructing,
maintaining and, if required, modifying facilities wherever
applicable; (i) replacing gradually existing
appliances with more energy efficient appliances for lighting,
heating and ventilation systems to reduce energy consumption
and (iii) protection at
workplace.

using or to

raising awareness of environmental

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board is not
aware of any material breach or non-compliance with relevant
local laws and regulations which have a significant impact on
the Group’s business.
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WORKPLACE QUALITY

The management of the Group believes that employees
constitute one of the valuable assets of the Group and regard
human resources as the Group’s corporate wealth. The Group
offers employees with competitive remuneration packages and
provides additional bonus in accordance with their performance
and contributions to the growth and development of the Group.
The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance employees’ career progression, these
training programs cover different areas such as management
skills, sales and production, and other courses relating to the
Group and the industry.

The Group is dedicated to promoting equal opportunities for all
of the employees and do not discriminate on the basis of
personal characteristics. All employees are assessed based on
their ability, performance and contribution, irrespectively of their
nationality, race, religion, gender, age or family status. The
Group has employee handbooks outlining terms and conditions
of employment, employees’ rights and benefits, duties and
responsibilities, conducts and behavior.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group is committed to the health and safety of our
employees and provides a safe and effective working
environment. The Group pledges full compliance with all
occupational health and safety legislation. The Group values the
health and well-being of the employees. The Group supply free
first-aid kits and medicine to the employees and they are
entitled to medical insurance benefits.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group is committed to the professional and personal
development and growth of employees and considers
development and training as a continual process. The Group
offers and encourages employees at all levels to participate in
various internal and external courses in order to promote the
advancement of their job-related skills. The Group’s employees
are provided with fair opportunities for adequate learning,
trainings and promotions.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains solid and steady relationship with its
customers and provides products which satisfy their needs and
requirements. The Group enhances the relationship by
continuous interaction with customers to gain insights on
market demand and consumer needs so that the Group could
respond proactively. The Group also maintains close
relationship with its suppliers. This leads to a high degree of
cooperative development and enables the Group to deliver the
high-quality solutions as required and expected by the Group’s
customers.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the Company’s
auditor will be proposed for shareholders’ approval at the
AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Wong Ting Chung
Chairman

30 March 2020

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

wEE W

HEFRAEFINERE

AEBEEZFPRFHZEREMNBE  XREHH
REEFENBERNER AEEBERETS
KELY BUTEMEFRLEEERTE
BAEETEGOERAZEREPHBKR A
SETEAEHERTIRE RESEAE
ZRAEDASERNTEFREHEMERLHE
MEERRTR -

¥ BLEm
MBRAEHESHETMEHMES - £5
BEFEEHMERSEER HEEERLBEER
XRER - BEREFHESHAMEHEAAARAR
BHMABRENBERAFAELREZRR
HEAE

RREFS
E
TRER

202093 A30H

83



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

W - e kEinw

REPORTING PERIOD AND FRAMEWORK

This section, Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
Report of Million Cities Holdings Limited (“Million Cities”,
“Company”, “we” and “our”), and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”), presents and disclose ESG related matters that
are relevant to the Group’s business and have material impacts
on the environment and society for the year ended 31
December 2019 (the “Reporting Period”). Unless otherwise
stated, the Reporting Period is from 1 January 2019 to 31
December 2019.

This ESG report of the Group has been prepared in
compliance with the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” set forth in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and based on actual
conditions of the Company. We have identified relevant ESG
issues and assess their materiality on our businesses as well as
on our stakeholders, through reviewing our operations and
holding internal discussions. Adhering to the reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency,
this report aims at sharing our performance in aspect of
sustainable development and summarising our efforts made on
sustainability for the year ended 31 December 2019. Our
reporting boundary is limited to, Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) unless otherwise specified.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

OUR BUSINESS AND APPROACH TO ESG
AND ESG REPORTING

Million Cities focuses on developing affordable, luxury,
residential, complex and integrated properties in Huizhou, the
Greater Bay Area and locations in the PRC which we consider
with potential growth. The Group also engages in property
investment business in the PRC. Beyond the delivery of quality
properties, we continue to serve our customers by offering
innovative and customer-oriented products as well as
expanding the diversity of properties to be developed.

The Group commits to improving its ESG performance by
upholding good corporate governance standards, protecting
our environment, engaging the community and promoting social
integration. The board (the “Board”) of directors of the
Company is responsible for overseeing our ESG strategy and
reporting.

The Board has approved the content of the ESG report. For
details of environmental and corporate governance, please refer to
the official website of the Group (http://www.millioncities.com.cn)
and the annual report. We value your feedback regarding the
review and our overall sustainability practices. Please provide your
comments by email to ir@millioncities.com.hk.
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SCOPE OF REPORTING & EE
This report is organised into two sections, namely ABREDAREIRIHEEIME @ BIERE -
“Environment” and “Social’, focusing on the following in #H&NKERIZERTUATHE :

compliance with the ESG standards:

ESG standard for reporting
BRE -HEREABEEE

Million Cities’ compliance section

BHaRBD

A. Environment A1. Emissions

A IRIE Al HEMR

A2. Use of resources

A2, BRF A
A3. The environment and natural
resources

A3. RELBAREIR

B. Social Employment and labour practices
B. #® EBFERETED

B1. Employment

Bi. [EfE

B2. Health and safety

B2. BEALZE

B3. Development and training
B3. #EK&IF

B4. Labour standards

B4 BIF%

Operating Practices

wwEED

B5. Supply chain management
B5. ffEEE IR

B6. Product responsibility

B6. EmEE

B7. Anti-corruption

B7. RES

B8. Community investment

BS. #E&KE

86

1. Governance on air and greenhouse gas

(“GHG”) emissions
1. EEREEBERREERBHK
2.  Waste management
2. EmER
Minimising energy consumption
A Be IR OH 7
Protecting the environmental impact and
natural resources
RERBEZENBAER

Equal employment practices
V2% & 1R 18 I

Promoting health and safety
REBRERZE

Talent management

AT ERE

Prohibiting forced child and labour
DFETRAES

Upholding high procurement standards
FrESRBEE

Delivering unmatched product quality
REZEEMER

Commitment to anti-corruption
REFZEH

Contributing to the welfare of society

sEeEiERR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

CARING FOR THE ENVIRONMENT AND
NATURAL RESOURCES

A.
A1

ENVIRONMENTAL

Emissions

GHG emissions

The Group is strongly committed to the long-term
sustainability of the environment and communities in
which we operate. As such, the Group has established
relevant procedures to detect and prevent any possible
pollution incidents which affect the surrounding
environment that may occur in the course of our business
operations. During the year ended 31 December 2019, we
measured and managed our environmental performance in
several aspects throughout our operations.

In terms of the Group’s property development businesses,
we understand there are environmental emissions such as
air emissions, GHG emissions, waste-water discharges,
general waste, and hazardous waste disposals. The
emissions and waste produced at property development
constructions sites are managed by the construction
contractors as stipulated on the agreement with the
contractors. For the year of 2019, the Group’s activities
has increased in scope such that it now manages a
construction company as well where the Group has direct
control over its related emissions specifically including air
emissions, direct and other indirect GHG emissions along
with the management of general waste and hazardous
waste disposals. Having considered the environmental
impact on the construction contractor’s operations along
with the Group’s newly construction company, we have
required both construction contractors and our
construction company to comply with relevant laws and
regulations and we monitor the ESG performance of
construction contractors closely, especially on regulatory
compliance.
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The Group encourages and requires the construction
contractors and its construction company to implement
the following environmental protection measures within the
construction site areas with a view to reducing the
impacts on emissions, effectively managing the air
emissions and ensuring in compliance with relevant rules
and regulations: entrusting professional firms to formulate
soil and water conservation plans and monitoring
procedures, and to conduct project inspection and
acceptance prior to completion of the development
project; promoting green construction and reducing the
use of resources and the impact of construction activities
on the environment through scientific management and
technological advancement; effectively reducing energy
consumption through the regional sunshine planning,
district-wide ventilation planning, noise reduction and
noise reduction design; adopting materials with dust
prevention component; taking measures such as soil
cover and sprinkle water to reduce dust pollution at the
project construction site; and setting up a vehicle washing
pool near the gate of construction sites to ensure that
transportation vehicles do not carry sediment and dust
when leaving the construction sites.

The Group also engages the engineering supervision
companies to conduct on-site inspections on a regular
basis, apart from strictly requesting our construction
contractors and construction company to follow with the
environmental protection controls.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Air emissions

The Group’s air emissions generated mainly from gasoline
consumption of the Group’s vehicles that used for
employee transportation in 2019 are as follows:

Air emissions

B~ & k&im@g

JER K
AEBER0M9FTZHREREZBERH
FEUHELMBERERBIENT

BE SR BE K

Nitrogen oxidex (“NOX”) ARey(TrE‘w])
Sulphur oxidex (“SOx”) mety((HmaEyl)
Particulate matters (“PM”) TRy (TN ])

Greenhouse gas emissions and energy conservation

The GHG emissions generated by the Group are
summarised below in direct, indirect, and other indirect
section. The direct emissions are from the Group’s
vehicles’ consumption of gasoline, while the indirect
emissions are via using outsourced electricity with other
indirect emissions generated from air travel by employees.
The following table shows the figures of the Group’s
greenhouse gas emissions during the Reporting Period.

GHG emissions

Unit 2019
By 20194
Emissions tonnes M 2.73 x 10!
Emissions tonnes Mg 8.36 x 10™*
Emissions tonnes M 2.54 x 10"2

/i 2 5% 8 HF I K B e
AEBELANRERBHEBN TXE
% RELEMEZRSOSM - EETER
KB A EE BT - EEHE
BOBBERINBENEL  HoREEH
MAAREEMERTEL - TRETR
SHEASEREREHFRBUE

BERBEHEN

Direct emissions of GHG BEREEEIEN
Indirect emissions of GHG B EREEE YN
Other indirect emissions of GHG & == 5m 52 H 1th [ 3 5

In line with our policies to minimise air and greenhouse
gas emissions, the Group’s offices in most cities are
equipped with video and telephone conferencing facilities
to minimise the need for face to face meetings and keep
business travelling to a minimum. For unavoidable
business trip, direct flights are arranged to reduce air
emissions.
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Unit 2019

By 20195

tCOe B —AfLiRE 2 134.14
tCO,e B —_AftimEE 3,208.84
tCOe B — AL E 2 31.92
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Waste management

The Group puts significant emphasis on proper storage
and handling of any hazardous waste and construction
waste at the Group’s construction sites. With the new
construction company now being managed by the Group,
at the site level, this construction company would have
concrete, brick residue, steel bar, molding plate, and
square timber as waste that are deem not harmful to the
environment. To handle concrete and brick residue, the
Group would use these materials in building temporary
roads along with applying them in the foundational
structure in construction when necessary. Not only can
the Group save in cost from buying extra materials for the
activities mentioned above, but also the Group can help
protect the environment via being eco-friendly by using
less materials for its activities. For steel bar, moulding
plate, and square timber, the Group would sell them to
companies that demand such materials. In terms of waste
that are considered harmful, the Group would appoint
related professionals for the handling of such waste to
ensure there is appropriate management of such waste.

Though the Group does not directly handle the waste at
the site level for its construction contractors, the Group
works closely with them to ensure these hazardous waste
and construction waste are properly managed and
disposed of.

During the Reporting Period, there was no incidence of
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations with
significant impact on the environment and natural
resources relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

A2 Use of resources

Minimising energy consumption

The Group strives to minimise the various energy
consumed at all levels in its operations. These energies
consumed by the Group are from gasoline, electricity, and
tap water. In 2019, total direct energy consumption from
the use of gasoline was approximately 56,839.57 liters,
and the total indirect energy consumption from the use of
electricity was approximately 3,473,462.62 kilowatt per
hour (“kWh”). Water usage for the Group’s daily
operations and office administration activities was
approximately 103,407.06 cubic metres during the
Reporting Period.

B~ & k&im@g

A2 ERF A

B BEIR H FE

TEBB ORI ERELEEENZER
BB AEBFERNZERREE
BH - EHRBHRK 20195 - £ 7
MEEAMBEEREREREERAENAR
56,839.57F - BEEAMEERRRRE
A 2 4 /53,473,462.62F K B - 3 & Hf
M AEENBETEERBRAETERE
B 1) 7K 2 4 A108,407.0637 /5 K ©

Types of resources Unit 2019
&IRE R B 20194
Gasoline V5 H liter F+ 56,839.57
Purchased electricity HNEE B kWh TRE  3,478,462.62
Tap water SR m3 32 5 K 103,407.06

The Group had direct involvement in 2019 in the use and/
or purchase of package materials with the new
construction company. Throughout the years, the Group
put forth a strong emphasis on minimising the usage of
mentioned materials during our daily operations. The
following table shows the figures of material consumption
in the Group’s business operations:

2019F - AEBEREFZERREER Y
REEMHOERRE/RRE - FAR A&
SERHAREXNAFELERHDS LAy
B ER - TRINTNAKBEFZER
MEDERE T

Material consumption Unit 2019
MRUE B 20194
Paper consumption A tonnes A 5.30
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A3 The environment and natural resources

92

Protecting the environmental impact and natural
resources

The business activities of the Group have no direct/
significant impact on environment and natural resources.
The Group nonetheless commits to using natural
resources wisely and efficiently while we encourage the
reuse and recycling of materials within our operations. In
property development projects, the Group takes into
consideration of resource-efficient designs such as the
use of LEDs and the adoption of energy-efficient
appliances, as well as water-efficient fixtures including
faucets and water closets. In our offices,
adopted several eco-friendly measures to promote
efficient use of resources and energy conservation:

we have

1. Switch off lights and air-conditioning in rooms not in
use;

2. Switch office equipment and electronic appliances to
energy saving mode;

& Set air-conditioning at an optimal temperature;
4. Pre-set printers to two-sided printing mode and post
paper-saving reminders near photocopy machines;

and

5. Promote reuse and recycle of paper by placing
recycling boxes in the office.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Meanwhile, the Group recognises that businesses must
take responsibility for their industry’s effects on the
environment and we should bear the responsibilities and
fulfill the obligations of protecting them, while making
appropriate use. In response, the Group has taken three
actionable steps to help promote the sustainable
environment:

Sustainable building philosophy

The Group has taken initiative to incorporate the Green
building aspect of building construction into its
construction project design philosophies. As such, the
Group has engaged qualified third party designers to
provide greenery design for several development projects,
with the aim of (i) promoting building efficiency in terms of
energy, water and materials, etc.; (i) constructing
environmentally sound properties with less carbon and
energy footprint; and (iii) complying with the
environmental-related regulatory standards, if necessary.

In addition, the Group has made efforts to add green
elements to its buildings to reduce the environmental
impact and improve environmental quality, such as using
reusable construction materials, maximising the green area
in the properties etc.. The Group strives to comply with
the “Assessment Standard for Green Building”.

Sponge City

The Group has adopted the “Sponge City” concept in its
development projects for more effective drainage and
rainwater reuse. “Sponge City” is a modern stormwater
management approach to help solve drainage problems,
fully utilising land resources and promoting sustainable
development. In such case, the Group builds green
sponge facilities to prevent waterlogging after storms and
effectively collect and utilise rainwater resource.
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Conservation of water and soil

The concept of soil and water conservation is vital to a
sustainable and poverty-oriented natural
management. We have commissioned qualified third-party
units to prepare reports on soil and water conservation
programs in order to better assess soil erosion during our
construction of basement and ground buildings. The
Group continuously enhances its construction direction to
conserve and sustain the utilisation of natural resources
for the benefit of the people and the environment.

resource

The Group commits in applying industry best practices
and complying with legislation, establishing and reviewing
safety, security and environment objectives and targets,
using energy and materials efficiently and reducing waste
and emissions and communicating the Group’s
environmental protection policy to all staffs.

CARING FOR THE PEOPLE AND SOCIETY

B.
B1

94

SOCIAL

Employment and labour practices

Equal Employment Practices

The Group puts significant emphasis on the welfare of
employees whom we consider to be the Group’s most
valuable assets. Hence, the Group strives to attract and
retain talents and reconcile economical imperatives with
well-beings, aiming at reinforcing satisfaction, loyalty and
commitment of human capital.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Group has adopted comprehensive human resources
manual which includes policies and procedures applicable
to staff. All employees are treated fairly regarding
recruitment, training and development, appraisal of work
performance, promotions, rest periods, remuneration and
benefits. Staff dismissals are based on the Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) or
relevant local laws and regulations, as well as the
requirements stipulated in the employment contracts. The
Group is committed in providing equal opportunity for all
employees and applicants without regard to race, colour,
religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, sexual
orientation, disability, political affiliation, personal
appearance, family responsibilities, matriculation or any
other characteristic protected under local law.

Throughout Million Cities’ operation, the Group strives to
provide an excellent and comfortable working
environment. Based on the features of the principal
business, the Group sets appropriate working hours and
rest breaks for all staff members. The Group also
provides paid annual leave, marriage leave, maternity
leave, casual leave and compassionate leave in addition to
statutory holidays.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed 163 staffs
in total. As an illustration, the workforce statistic by
gender and age group are illustrated in pie graphs while
the employment type and employment category are
disclosed as bar charts:
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Gender and age distribution

Employee breakdown
by gender
BERESES

B Female [ Male
g B

-y

With nearly half of its workforce are female and more
than 30% of its workforce are of age less than 30, the
Group strives to put both gender distribution and younger
workforce as one of its core priorities to promote a more
dynamic environment with a fresher perspective.

1 5 K 4F e 77 o

Employee breakdown
by age group
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B Lessthan30 [ 31-50 Above 50
/INRAB0BR 312508 508 E

‘10% .

HRAEET—F5EH /LM - M30%
A ERSEE N Fic/N N30 AEEHK
AREHERI D EEFENE S IIER
ZLUBEZ - UHENEAESES
EITEERE o

Million Cities Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2019



B2

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Employment type and category distribution

Employee breakdown
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Employee breakdown

by employment type by employment category
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The Group is committed in complying with relevant labour
standards and employment laws and regulations which
are applicable to our business. During the Reporting
Period, no material and significant disputes between the
Group and the employees were occurred.

Health and safety

Promoting health and safety

The Group considers health and safety of its employees
as one of its primary responsibilities. As such, the Group
is committed to provide a workplace free from injury and
illness through effective procedures and practice on
occupational health and safety. The Group pays great
attention to the safety of construction sites and strictly
require the construction contractors to be responsible for
workers’ safety. As a responsible property developer, the
Group makes sure that the construction contractors
comply with the standards and regulations for safe
production and civilised construction of property
development projects, and clearly requires the
construction contractors to provide site workers with
safety equipment and to check whether the construction
personnel are wearing such equipment at all times.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group has ensured full
compliance with relevant occupational health and safety
legislations of Hong Kong, the PRC, and other relevant
legislations. No severe injury or fatality was reported
throughout the Reporting Period.

Development and training

Talent management

The Group acknowledges and highly value continuous
staff training and development which it considers can help
to improve both its efficiency and productivity. In this
case, the Group provides employees with training and
development courses which cover various areas, including
orientation, leadership and management skills, marketing
skills, legislations updates, etc. with the aim of improving
employees’ efficiency, knowledge and skills for
discharging their duties at work.

During the Reporting Period, the development and training
statistic by gender and employment category are
disclosed in following bar graphs:
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Labor standards

Prohibiting forced child and labour

The Group prohibits the use of child labour and forced or
compulsory labour at all its units and suppliers. No
employee is made to work against his/her will or work as
forced labour, or subject to corporal punishment or
coercion of any type related to work.

Also, the Group has zero-tolerance to employment of
child labour and forced labour by our construction
contractors. The Group is not aware of any non-
compliance with relevant rules and
preventing child or forced labour during the Reporting
Period.

regulations on

Supply chain management

Upholding high procurement standards

With the implementation of strong contract policy and
corresponding evaluation procedures underlying the
importance of supply chain management, the Group
strives to govern the selection of suppliers and
construction contractors. To ensure product and service
quality, and to manage environmental and social risks in
supply chain, the Group only engages suppliers and
construction contractors with licenses that are granted by
relevant regulators or government authorities. The
obligations of suppliers and construction contractors with
respect to environmental protection and compliance with
relevant safety laws and regulations are clearly stated in
signed contracts.
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B6 Commitment to product responsibility

100

Delivering unmatched product quality

The Group continues to aim at providing the best quality
products to its clients. In such case, the Group strictly
complies with the Construction Law of the People’s
Republic of China and other national laws and regulations
and industry standards. The Group closely monitors the
property development projects at every stage and our
project engineers regularly inspect the building materials
and construction works so as to ensure the constructors
strictly abide by the relevant national laws and regulations
to construct building with reasonable quality and safety
and meet the acceptable reliability level. The Group has
entered into contracts with construction contractors to
obtain indemnity agreements and their commitment to
carry out operational and quality assurance activities, and
to comply with regulatory requirements. We require
construction contractors to immediately resolve any
defects or non-compliance incidences, where necessary.
The Group has also established property acceptance
procedures to ensure that the properties that are ready
for delivery to our customers are in compliance with the
terms set out in the sales agreements. The Group
recognises the importance of advertising, labelling and
privacy matters related to products and services provided
by the Group. The Group has established relevant policies
to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations
and to fulfill its corporate responsibility towards the
customers. During the Reporting Period, there was no
case of non-compliance with laws and regulations in
relation to product responsibility within the headquarters
and offices of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Anti-corruption

Commitment to anti-corruption

The Group commits to maintaining a high standard of
integrity when doing business as we strongly believe that
it is essential to meet the expectations of our
stakeholders.

The Group promotes integrity and prevents unethical
pursuits. The Group has implemented an effective whistle-
blowing policy for reporting fraud, corruption, bribery,
extortion and money laundering. We encourage the
reporting of suspected business irregularities and provide
channels specifically for this purpose. When
suspected wrongdoings are identified, such as breach of
duty, abuse of power, receiving bribes, staff should report
to the Board for investigation and verification, and report
to the regulator and/or to law enforcement authority,
when necessary.

clear

There are no concluded legal cases regarding corruption
brought against the Group or its employees during the
Reporting Period.

Community investment

Contributing to the welfare of society

The Group encourages staff to take part in community
welfare and voluntary work and our Directors actively
maintain communication with non-governmental
organisations to understand community needs for the
sake of fulfilling its responsibility and giving back to the
society.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
made a donation of approximately RMB4.4 million to
support the community services and charitable activities
arranged by non-profit organisations.
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In addition, the Group also participated in the
charitable events and volunteering activities:

The Community Chest 50th Anniversary
Walk for Millions (Central — Wan Chai
Bypass) in January 2019

2019 1A R m @50BF A BT (PR E
tFaE:8)

Celebration of Children’s Day in June 2019
in support of “Pingtan Hope Primary
School”

2019F6 ABRRE R EH - R T ERE/N
2]

Celebration of Chongyang Festival in
October 2019 in support of “The Elderly
Association of Shuikou Dongxing
Community”

2019FF10 A BEMERGE - X#F[/KARHE
HBRZFARS

Choir Classic and Praise the Motherland
Chorus Competition in December 2019
“Shuikou Secondary and primary School”
2019512 A [Pk A AR /N2 [ {EIS 4L 81 - FhiE
HEEELLLE

following AN REBENS2E T RS ESHRE

TES:

The group participated the Community Chest 50th
Anniversary Walk for Millions (Central — Wan Chai
Bypass) to support “Family and Child Welfare Services”.
AEE2ENRZE0BFAETED(PREEFE
B) IRIRERZERMRSE] -

The Group participated in Pingtan Hope Primary School’s
school event and shown tremendous support to the
participants.

AEES2BEFTEFLENENEREEY  H2REXR TR
R

The group sent gifts to the nursing home to promote the
love and respect fine tradition to the elderly.

AEEREEZRBERY LBEHEEREEEZANER
B4 -

The Group supported the traditional activities of singing
and praises to demonstrate Nationalism.

AEBXFHRERKEIENEREE -

Awards and recognition

Throughout the years, the Group has been honoured with
numerous commendations. These events provide evidence
of the Group’s commitment to fulfilling its social
responsibility and supporting the development of the
community through its services during the Reporting

4877 M 57 7]
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SERBEHERERBEETHLEE M
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Period.

Name of award

Organisation

BREEWE A
Creative Building Community 2019 Leju
2019F Al B i H AL & 2=
Innovative, Classic and Livable Villa 2019 Leju
2019%F £ 37 2 &5 & /& Il &2 2=
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the directors of
Million Cities Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Million Cities Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 114 to 256, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2019 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

W R s )

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

BREFETEE
ARBAFEHIRERMANERZHE  RRY
TG AEMBRENBARR/EENFTR &
LEERERMEFERRAMBERR LD
ARRFETREN - HMATSHELERE
HEBNER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Revenue from the sale of properties recognised over time

RHBBRIVEHERA

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(u)(i)

B2 IR & B TR W 4L B T 2)0) ) & 5 B

The Key Audit Matter
BRESEE

Revenue from the sale of properties recognised over
time for the year ended 31 December 2019 totalled
RMB142 million, which accounted for 40% of the
Group’s total revenue for the year.

HZE2019F12A31 B L FE R BRI BERNYMEHE R
ABARBI142BEB T & BEEEFELAKAL0% -

Revenue arising from the sale of properties is
recognised over time when the Group’s performance
under a sale and purchase agreement does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date; otherwise, the
revenue is recognised at a point in time, being when
control over a property has been transferred to the
customer.

E BEEERBEEMZREALESEY S£EM
SEHEMAERECEER BEEBARHITENKIEE
SRIEETKBEHZRIE  AIHEWEMRSWRAA R
HERER DR WARDMENZEFREREZEEFH
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANET OMEEZEE

Our audit procedures to assess revenue from the sale
of properties recognised over time included the
following:

BT AREERYEEERANBEZIEF BE N
T

° assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the recognition of revenue on the sale of
properties;

FHE Y HE W AR A AN BRAIBIZESE
®at - BEMEEFTEBNBRE

o assessing whether the proceeds from pre-sales of
property had been received by comparing the
amounts receivable for a sample of signed sale
and purchase agreements with bank statements
and assessing whether the related revenue

should have been recorded in the current period

or should have been deferred as contract
liabilities from pre-sale of properties;

HRERZEEMEEANEKRHRIARRITLE

B M EREMERERLS D LWER - WY

HEBRARSNABERY B 2 RERTEEY

FHENAE:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Revenue from the sale of properties recognised over time

BHNEBEINEHEERA

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(u)(i)

BRI A RN AR ZE20)0) 8 & 5B

The Key Audit Matter
BREEFSE

For the revenue from sales of properties recognised
over time, the Group recognises revenue by
measuring the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation at the reporting date,
using cost-to-cost method based on the proportion of
the Group’s actual costs incurred relative to the
estimated total costs.
HNEHRAERNMEHERA - EEERAXE
LLANEER BEXEEEESERKANEREMGEKTD
LBl - ElRE B EE 5w 2 KB E A E MR
WA o

Payments received in respect of pre-sale of properties
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position as
contract liabilities.
WREABHAANMEREE RN RBEREGHNEE
FFAREHBARRE -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN ETOMEEZEE

inspecting the key terms of sale and purchase
agreements, on a sample basis, to assess
whether the Group has the right to payment for
performance completed based on the contract
terms;

MEBREEBHZFERERANE EXEEES
5 HE N AR R 10 2 15k SR E S A B B A0 T WL ER R IE

obtaining the opinion of the Group’s legal counsel,
in particular, the legal counsel’s interpretation of
the applicable laws and their implication on the
assessment of the enforceability of the right to
payment;

B ESEZEZERNERE  BHEENR
FERAHERANEENEEREE SE£EAH
THNRBERENZE

assessing the competence, experience and
objectivity of the legal counsel engaged by the
Group;
A EEBEBEFNEFZERNEN  BRNE
Bt

for those properties under development for sale
with revenue recognised over time, discussing
with management, on a sample basis, the
development progress of the projects and
challenging management’s development budgets
reflected in the latest forecasts with reference to
signed construction contracts and/or unit
construction costs of recently completed projects
developed by the Group;

HRBARBEERNERTEEYE - MR
ERENWmEREE W2R EEBELHER
MERTHEBEZEEBRESGOR B EER
N BHEREROPNEINMRMNERES
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Revenue from the sale of properties recognised over time

EHNERINEHEERA

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(u)(i)

B 2RI A B i R B i2)) ) & 5 B

The Key Audit Matter
BREBETSE

We identified revenue recognition on the sale of
properties over time as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of
the Group and significant to the consolidated financial
statements, and because it involves significant
accounting judgement and estimates, to assess
whether the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date and to
measure the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation, all of which give rise to
an inherent risk that revenue could be recorded in the
incorrect period or could be subject to manipulation to
meet expectations or targets.

BB RAEERYEHERAERBEREFFE
TEREAR BESENBERERIERE — HiEad
BRRTHDEZ  THNFREANGHE A - A
A EEERSAAMITEMNKEES RIEE TK
BARBMZAERBETE2BEITENREZERE A
FHREAEEBEGRRE  SWAFREGLEETER
BOEAR - P RE REBTE RIS B 1R 1 X BHRE o
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMNETOMEEZEE

selecting samples from the total actual costs
incurred up to the reporting period end and
comparing them with the supporting documents
including underlying contracts, supplier invoices,
bank slips and the survey reports from external
supervising engineers, where applicable;

RBERERRDELENER LR AT K EE
AXHLE  BAXGBEEEER - HE®DE
2 RITERKERARINBEIE TR A e B IR 3R

\‘m

off

conducting site visits, on a sample basis, to
property development projects for which revenue
had been recognised in the current year and
discussing with site management to observe the
completion status; and
MERSRERNFERABRAT RO M EERR
B ETHEIRASmEIEERB B EIARRN
M

assessing the reasonableness of the basis of cost
allocation, checking the mathematical accuracy of
the calculation of cost allocation and percentage
of completion of the property projects.
TERADBEENSEY BEXRAS EHE
BEEAERMERYEBEBKRI X
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Assessing the net realisable value of inventories
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2()).

B2 B BN 17K AE2()89 & 51 R

The Key Audit Matter
BREEFSE

As at 31 December 2019, the aggregate carrying
value of the Group’s properties held for development
(“PHD”), properties under development (“PUD”) and
completed properties held for sale (together
“inventories”) totalled RMB2,245 million. These
properties principally comprise residential properties
and car parking bays in Huizhou and Tianjin.

2019 12A31H © EEEREERERNYE ([FH1EH#
EMEDRBERTODE(TERFTYED EFELE
ExXIVE(ERBIFEEDNEREES RARK2245
BET ZEVEFZERBEMNERENEEZEREE

5 o

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value. The calculation of the net realisable

value for each property development project at the

financial reporting date is performed by management.

T“&V&$£T“ﬁ%ﬁ2Fﬁ%ﬁ%°§ﬁﬁﬁ
B BHRERBEAMEEREENAIEEFE-

The calculation of the net realisable value of
inventories involves significant management judgement
and estimation in preparing the updated costs to
complete each property development project for PHD
and PUD as well as in assessing the future selling
prices for each property development project (by
reference to recent sales transactions in nearby
locations), the estimated future selling costs and the
relevant taxes.
AEARAERFESREEBERETK R IARE
BERVEEEXDPVENZIREN  ULFHEZEY
FERBENAKREE(2RIVOIMENIBEER
5) ~ RRAEETHHE XA R AB BT B B (F &K
Kkt e

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN ETOMEEZEE

Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value
of inventories included the following:

BMFEFEANERFENEZREFEBREAT

° assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the preparation and monitoring of
management budgets and forecasts of
construction and other costs for each property
development project;
TERGERRELEREEYEERBEINRAEE
BB SR N CH M B AN B9 TEORIHE 1T /O B 82 A BRI
R BEIEETENERIL

° conducting site visits to property development
sites, on a sample basis, and discussing with
management the progress of each property
development project and the development
budgets reflected in the latest forecasts for each
property development project;
HMERBMBRETHEENER  WHEHEIEE
NMEMEERBENEENZMEZRIER &
AR FERSE

o evaluating the valuation methodology adopted by
management for assessing the net realisable
value of inventories and comparing the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in the
valuations, including those relating to estimated
future selling prices with market available data
and the sales budget plans maintained by the
Group;
HEEREEGAEEUERFEMKANGES
UM EERRKANERGANRR(BERE
ARG EBER B RRE G A RR) E5a
ERERMN SEEENHEREASETHE
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Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

AEFETRRFEE

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2()).

BB T E N 17 R T20)8) & 51 B

The Key Audit Matter
BREEFSE

We identified the assessment of net realisable value of
the Group’s inventories as a key audit matter because
of the significance of inventories to the Group’s total
assets and because of the inherent risks involved in
estimating the costs to complete each property
development project and the future selling prices for
each property development project, particularly in light
of the current economic circumstances and various
property market measures implemented in the cities
where the Group’s development projects are located.
B ESEEFEANEZRFENTEIASBRET
EE-DHEREEY ESELZEMNEZML - TA
RAMTEREMERRBEENKNEANTEZMERER
BHENWARKREBFEEFRAR  FrSERIE AL
BRER BEBEFEIERMEANTED S ES
HYETS R -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN ETOMEEZEE

comparing the estimated costs to complete each
property development project with the Group’s
latest budgets and comparing the costs incurred
to 31 December 2019 with budgets made at 31
December 2018 to assess the accuracy of
management’s forecasting and budgeting
process; and
KETKMEBRBANMAKAE SEEK
MEEETHE  WHKEIE2019F12A31HE E
£ A E2018F 12 A3 1B EE M TEE L& - A
AEEEERAMBEREAENERELE: R

performing sensitivity analyses to determine the
extent of changes in key estimates and
assumptions that, either individually or
collectively, would be required for inventories to
be materially misstated and considering the
likelihood of such a movement in those key
estimates and assumptions arising.
ETHERMEST - AEEERMGEANBRRERL
HAHBRABEENStEERNFEREST KN
HoWERBARGFTANRER LR L REEH A A 88
Moo
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Provision for land appreciation tax (“LAT”) in Mainland China

TEREE L EER (DR ER]) BB

Refer to notes 8 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting judgement and

estimates in note 3(b)(iii).

2455 B 53R 2K BT 528 ~ I 5226 K% BT s 3(b)ii) 59 &

The Key Audit Matter
BRESEE

LAT in Mainland China is one of the main
components of the Group’s taxation charge.

PEAMN T HIBERE EEENEXENETER

5o
LAT is levied on sale of properties at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% based on the appreciation
of land value. At the end of each financial reporting
period, management estimates the LAT charge based
on its understanding and interpretation of the relevant
tax rules and regulations and the estimated total sales
of properties less total deductible expenditure, which
includes lease charges for land use rights, property
development costs, borrowing costs and development
expenditure. When the LAT is subsequently
determined, the actual payments may be different
from the estimates.
HEMEFTER L HIBERRRBXZETRIONE
BO% M L IZER - EEEMBHREH R BEE
ERHHEATBRAUKROINERRZEE Bt WE
HEABRE L EREREE S %%Sﬁﬁéﬁx$

fERA REERSUHKRHERE Bt Ltiig
ER X o Ea/\fézﬂiiimi'ﬁmﬁﬁ : iﬁfi’%ﬁ?ﬂﬁfﬁﬁ
BRI AR ©

We identified the provision for LAT in Mainland China
as a key audit matter because of its significance to
the consolidated financial statements and because the
estimated provisions for LAT are based on
management’s judgement and interpretation of the
relevant tax laws and regulations.

B E A B ER A AR ETEE
THREIMBERBEEHGEVBRRONEENL - 75
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETOMEEZEE

Our audit procedures to assess the provision for LAT
in Mainland China included the following:

BAPIRT Al A B i £ s IR E B B B B AZIR B4 A
T

° assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the calculation of the estimated LAT

provisions;
STl B 5T &k 5t 38 (8 T4 AE 78 &Y 8 4 1 50 122 1)
ERET - BERIMEEFENE B

° engaging our internal taxation specialists to

evaluate the Group’s LAT provisions as at 31
December 2019 which involved challenging the
management’s assumptions and judgements
based on our experience, knowledge and
understanding of the practices of the application
of the relevant tax laws by the various local tax
bureaus;
MAXRFABRBEERNITIE FE EEER
2019F12ABT A L IR EMBEE - BFEERNK
P80 48 B~ AR aSk K 5% 3 51 155 44 B L AR A UK B
AHERRENER AFEEEBENRRK LA
s

o evaluating the management’s assumptions and
judgements based on our assessment of the
value of the estimated sales of properties and the
deductible expenditure; and
ﬁﬁﬂ%%a’ﬂﬁuﬁ%%@&Tm
AT B E IR B H R AR M HI T -

B2 BT A

o re-calculating the provisions for LAT and
comparing our calculations with the amounts
recorded by the Group.

EFFE LI MIZEREEG  URRMANGTES
H SEEMIENSEER-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

S K% WO o)

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

W R s )

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee of the Company

e HEEE=MERASHBERNKGEENE
SEtAFMERRENS RN -

e HEETRARKEBELESTERNRKEN
B & - RIBFAEDRNEFEE @ BE
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b 4 43 4o MK
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e HESAVBHMRONERIHRSIA &
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EERTERBRZMER -

e  BEXEENERIXBEINOMBE
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MBEEE BRTH EAEFERST &
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regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

BMEMEAZESRXEN  HARMEN
EEBBYMEMEBERESENR I E M
BBBEAREAEMEARRERXERMBILY
MATBREMEMSER  UREERNBN
T BRI EE

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit in this
independent auditor’s report is Lam Kai Wa.

resulting

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

30 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

2= I\ 8 3

= /= N
A HE R R
For the year ended 31 December 2019
HZE2019F12AGIB L FE

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(A AR R)

2019 2018
2019% 20184
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® TR AR T
Revenue A 4 354,284 567,827
Cost of sales RN (221,286) (305,001)
Gross profit EF 132,998 262,826
Valuation gains on investment KEMEMEBER S
properties 13(a) 780 4,495
Other net income H A A\ F 5 5 14,757 8,382
Selling expenses HEMX (5,820) (9,391)
Administrative expenses ITHH X (67,316) (67,473)
Other expenses H th 32 6 (4,965) (1,064)
Profit from operations REFF 70,434 197,775
Finance costs B & P A 7(a) (9,818) (5,166)
Share of losses of associates FEAL B & X B 18 (324) (2,506)
Share of losses of joint ventures E(E& &R A S8 (1,456) (1,809)
Profit before taxation B B4 B & F 58,836 188,294
Income tax s 8(a) (41,168) (110,475)
Profit for the year FEBF 17,668 77,819
Attributable to: DT EFHEWN:
Equity shareholders of the ZANYNESIE > £y
Company 17,954 33,375
Non-controlling interests JEE PR (286) 44,444
Profit for the year FERA 17,668 77,819
Basic and diluted earnings per BREAREETR
share (RMB cents) (ANRED) 11 2.39 5.87

The notes on page 121 to page 256 form part of these

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e BE R

N T

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HZE2019F12A3IA L FE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAREFIR)
2019 2018
2019% 2018%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Profit for the year FEREA 17,668 77,819
Other comprehensive income FEHMEZEKE
for the year (after reclassification (REFH P ERE)
adjustments)
ltems that may be reclassified HAEREH D EEZ B A
subsequently to profit or loss: HEH
Exchange differences on translation of & LA T B R K A IE 5§ = 58
financial statements of
— the associates and joint ventures —BERRRAEERT (1,558) (3,032)
— the Hong Kong and overseas — BAERBINKE R A
subsidiaries (1,613) (34,866)
Other comprehensive income FEHMZ2ERE 2K
for the year, net of nil tax EHIE (3,171) (37,898)
Total comprehensive income FEZHKREE
for the year 14,497 39,921
Attributable to: PRI N=F; 3
Equity shareholders of the Company ZANYNESIE £:od S 19,797 5,745
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR == (5,300) 34,176
Total comprehensive income FEZHEHWRZERE
for the year 14,497 39,921

The notes on page 121 to page 256 form part of these

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

22\ Y LI
oM BRI E
At 31 December 2019
7201912 A31H

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(A AR R)

2019 2018
20194 20184
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BT 5 AR® T AREFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE

Property, plant and equipment IE 12 57,905 58,898
Investment properties KEME 13 20,200 19,420
Interest in associates REEZE R BRI 15 104,141 104,576
Interest in joint ventures REZERNAIH R 16 64,696 63,997
Deferred tax assets B IBEE 26(b) 17,199 1,087
Other non-current assets EMIERBEE 3,464 —
267,605 047,078

Current assets REBEE
Inventories and other contract costs 78 & E b & 494 17 2,271,588 1,688,275
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b fE W E IR 19 97,576 175,925
Prepaid tax AR IE 26(a) 93,959 70,382
Pledged and restricted deposits B & PR & 15 3 20 402,964 487,013
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBFCEEY 21 731,909 1,106,426
3,597,996 3,528,021
Non-current assets held for sale BIERENERDEE 22 - 4,224
3,597,996 3,532,245
Total assets WEE 3,865,601 3,780,223

Current liabilities REAE
Bank loans RITER 23 313,102 548,414
Contract liabilities AHaE 18 1,923,393 1,494,172
Trade and other payables B 5 N E b E S R 24 544,161 664,928
Tax payable FEAT R IE 26(a) 55,432 63,701
2,836,088 2,771,215
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

a M B KRR E &

At 31 December 2019

2019412 A31H
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAR®3T)
2019 2018
20194 20184
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000

Y & AR® TR ARET T

Net current assets REBEEFE 761,908 761,030
Total assets less current BEERRBAERS

liabilities 1,029,513 1,009,008
Non-current liabilities knBERE
Other payables B b fE A 3R 24 73,741 71,253
Deferred tax liabilities BELEHIBAEE 26(b) 30,889 31,456

104,630 102,709

NET ASSETS BEEFE 924,883 906,299
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E 27
Share capital Ji% 7% 6,605 6,605
Reserves (ER 811,632 787,748

Total equity attributable to equity Z& 2 TR EEL

shareholders of the Company B 818,237 794,353
Non-controlling interests FERER 106,646 111,946
TOTAL EQUITY EXBEE 924,883 906,299

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on % = € ¥202093 A308 #t /& M X 3 1T o
30 March 2020.

Wong Ting Chung Lau Ka Keung
FRER BXRE
Director Director

EF EF

The notes on page 121 to page 256 form part of these HF121F256E 2 Mix AZSZHBBHREREH —

AN

financial statements. 77 °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

EYFYIE

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HZE2019F12AGIB L FE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(A AR R)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
ARRERRRES
Share Non-
Share Share option  Statutory  Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital Premium reserves reserves reserves profits Total interests equity
R&  ROEE BRERE iERE EXRE  REEN B KERER BEs
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Wi AREBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETRT ARETR AR%TR
Balance at 1 January 2018 R2018F1 1AM 22,385 - - 17,953 21,579 115,848 177,765 90,170 267,935

Changes in equity for 2018 20185 fYEH 2 H

Profit for the year FREF - - - - - 33,375 33,375 44,444 77,819
Other comprehensive income E2ERS - - - - (27,630) - (27,630) (10,268) (37,898)
Total comprehensive income 2ENELE - - - - (27,630) 33,375 5,745 34,176 39,921
Deemed distribution to RIEMRR DK

shareholders 24(c) - - - - - (34,080) (34,030) (31,413 (65,443)
Arising from reorganisation ELSEA 14() (22,385) - - - - - (22,385) - (22,385)
Capital contribution from RAFERERN

non-controling interests BRIk - - - - - - - 19,013 19,013
Capitalisation of shareholders’ ~ REEHE A (L

loans 27b)) N L) - - - - 478602 N L)
Capitalisation issue ERILET 27(b)i) 4,954 (4,954) - - - - - - -
Shares issued upon initial public & AR & S FE TR

offering (‘IPO”) 27 (o)) 1,651 186,945 - - - - 188,596 - 188,596
Appropriation to statutory RETEEHE

reserves 27(c)(i) - - - 2,107 - (2,107) - - -

Balance at 31 December 2018 A2018F12831A &
and 1 January 2019 201951 A1AME S 6,605 660,653

20,060 (6,051) 113,086 794,353 111,946 906,299

Changes in equity for 2019 20196 EZEH

Profit for the year EREH - - - - - 17,954 17,954 (286) 17,668
Other comprehensive income Hth2ENE - - - - 1,843 - 1,843 (5,014) 8,171)
Total comprehensive income 2ENELE - - = - 1,843 17,954 19,797 (5,300) 14,497
Equity settled share-based NEREENRD AREN

transactions 5 25 - - 4,087 = - - 4,087 = 4,087
Appropriation to statutory RETEEHE

reserves 27(c)(i) = = = 9,859 = (9,859) = = =
Balance at 31 December 2019 R2019%128318 &8 6605 660,653 4,087 29919 4208 12181 818237 106,646 924,883

The notes on page 121 to page 256 form part of these HF121F256BE 2 M AZSZHBHRERH — I

AN

financial statements. 77 °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEBenE R

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HZE2019F12A3IA L FE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAREFIR)
2019 2018
20194 20184
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt &E AR T AR T T
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHHEERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations K& EHFFESRSE 21(b) 38,262 841,863
Income tax paid B (89,694) (130,703)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from BRETHHRSORE)
operating activities RAFEE (51,432) 711,160
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZTHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Investments in associates and REBE R REGE QA
joint ventures (44) (15,000)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of WEWEB AR - 2k
cash acquired WEEmMSMIRE 5,445 —
Acquisition of property, plant and WHE % - B R &i#E
equipment (2,227) (1,259)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  WENEE
plant and equipment Fr 15 5018 351 -
Proceeds from disposal of non- HEFELENIER
current assets held for sale BERSHRIE 4,125 16,182
Interest received B U F B 13,893 2,618
Proceeds from disposal of HEHMEMEEFS
other financial assets IR 150,367 40,026
Payments for purchase of BEHMESREENK
other financial assets (150,000) —
Net cash inflow from investing RETHESRAFRE
activities 21,910 42 567

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

FadlenEx )

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HZE2019F12AGIB L FE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(A AR R)

2019 2018
2019% 2018%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt &% AR T AR T T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ®EZHRESFKE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank loans RITERFTSNIE 21(c) 55,000 330,357
Repayment of bank loans ERFBITER 21(c) (290,155) (80,700)
Interest paid on bank loans EMRITERFE 21(c) (26,266) (18,509)
Advances from related parties A B 5 B R 21(c) 27,333 36,920
Repayment to related parties B = B 7 518 21(c) (107,298) (204,302)
Payment of listing expenses YR ETHAX (5,841) (22,441)
Proceeds from shares issued BRARREBEEMBITRG
upon IPO FT 18 218 - 198,160
Proceeds from capital injection from D EEFZRE T E TS
minority equity shareholder RIE - 19,013
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from MEETEHRS RH),
financing activities AR (347,227) 258,498
(Decrease)/increase in cash and BE&RBEELZEEY
cash equivalents (R 2,/ i (376,749) 1,012,225
Cash and cash equivalents MB1EHNEER
at 1 January HEEEY 1,106,426 94,172
Effect of foreign exchange EXGHNELE
rate changes 2,232 29
Cash and cash equivalents at R12A31EHE SR
31 December ReZEEY 21(a) 731,909 1,106,426

The notes on page 121 to page 256 form part of these

F121 2256 Z M BZE M IF R K 79— 26
financial statements. b2l

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Million Cities Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15 November
2016 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
core business activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) include property
development and sales (the “Listing Business”) in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Listing
Business were conducted through various domestic
companies established in the PRC (the “PRC Operating
Entities”), all of which are under the control of Wong Ting
Chung, Wong Ting Kau, Wong Ting Chun, Wong Wai
Wing, Raymond, Wong Wai Ling, Lau Ka Keung and
Wong Wai Yue (together referred to as the “Wong Ting
Chung and his family”). To rationalise the corporate
structure in preparation of the listing of the Company’s
shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Group
underwent a reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”). Upon
completion of the Reorganisation on 28 June 2018, the
Company became the holding company of the Group. As
the Reorganisation primarily involved inserting a newly
formed entity, with no substantive operations, as the new
holding company between Wong Ting Chung and his
family and the PRC Operating Entities, there has been no
change in the ultimate control and there were no
substantive changes in the business and operations of the
companies now comprising the Group. As the control is
not transitory and, consequently, there was a continuation
of risks and benefits to the Wong Ting Chung and his
family, the financial statements have been prepared and
presented using the merger basis of accounting as if the
Group has always been in existence. The net assets of
the companies taking part in the Reorganisation are
consolidated using the book values from perspective of
Wong Ting Chung and his family.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2018 include the financial
performance and cash flows of the companies now
comprising the Group as if the current Group structure
had been in existence and remained unchanged
throughout the year ended 31 December 2018. Intra-
Group balances and transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 comprise the Group and
the Group’s interest in associates and joint ventures.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. For the purpose of preparing these financial
statements, the Group has adopted all applicable
new and revised HKFRSs, except for any new
standards or interpretations that are not yet effective
for the accounting period ended 31 December
2019. The revised and new accounting standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective for
the accounting period beginning on or after 1
January 2020 are set out in note 36.

Basis of measurement

These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), rounded to the nearest thousand,
as the Group’s principal activities were carried out in
the PRC. RMB is the functional currency for the
Company’s subsidiaries established in the mainland
China. The functional currency of the Company and
the Company’s subsidiaries outside the mainland
China are Hong Kong dollars, as these entities’
principal activities are financing and
activities, and Hong Kong dollars are the primary
currency generated from and used in these
activities.

investing
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

124

(b)

(c)

Basis of measurement (Continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the financial statements is the historical cost basis
except that the other
investment properties are stated at fair value as
explained in note 2(g) and note 2(h).

financial assets and

Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell (see note 2(x)).

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with  HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis.
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Revisions to

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on
the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6 M B R K )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRE=BFTBIN  AAREIIT)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEAREGTFEHERGE)

(Continued)
(d) Changes in accounting policies (d EFHEX2H

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS and a EEGHMAGEB/M —EMITH

number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first (BEMBHREENRZBE(ER

effective for the current accounting period of the BRI ELERINER]  RAEEE Al

Group. Of these, the following developments are T HEBERER - EP UTE

relevant to the Group’s financial statements: BHERBEASEEVHERREA !

e HKFRS 16, Leases o (EAUBHMELEA)E165K

HE

e Amendments to HKAS 19, Plan amendment, o BHEREENFE19RMIEET
curtailment or settlement FTEIEET - Bl AEE

e Amendments to HKAS 28, Long-term interests s FHET qu A 2285k 1B ET -
in associates and joint ventures RBEERNFIREE N AR RE

e Annual improvement to HKFRSs 2015-2017 o (EAEMBIMEER)20155F
Cycle E2017TF AT ENE

e HK(FRIC) 23, Uncertainty over income tax e THEERUBHREZRBEZE
treatments 2)RBENRY R EE

Z T HEE 14

None of these developments have had a material ZEERVYAREEAEERE I B

effect on how the Group’s results and financial THRGRENKEY 2 $ SEMEE

position for the current or prior periods have been FHBRAEERTE AEEH

prepared or presented. The Group has not applied RIEFR R E RIS 5T B R R A& R

any new standard or interpretation that is not yet EFETERI KRR -

effective for the current accounting period.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

126

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control
ceases. Intra-Group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
Group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-Group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

commences until the date that control

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those
financial liability. For each business combination, the
Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

interests that meets the definition of a

2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statements of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statements of profit
or loss and the consolidated statements of profit or
comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of
the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling
interests and other contractual obligations towards
these holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statements of financial position in
accordance with note 2(p),(w) depending on the
nature of the liability.

loss and other

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are
made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to
reflect the change in interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or
loss is recognised.

relative

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see note 2(g)) or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or joint venture (see note 2(f)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

128

(e)

(f)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(k)).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the
Group or Company and other parties contractually
agree to share control of the arrangement, and have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method. Under the
equity method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share
of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the associate or joint
venture that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of
the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss
relating to the investment. Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any
impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss, whereas
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax
items of the investees’ other comprehensive income
is recognised in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f)

Associates and joint ventures (Continued)
When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with the Group’s long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or the joint venture
(after applying the ECL model to such other long-
term interests where applicable (see note 2(k)(i)).
Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s in the except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

interest investee,

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity
method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint control
over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at
the date when significant lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset.

influence is
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

130

Other investments in debt and equity
securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and
equity securities, other than
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are set
out below.

investments in

Investments in debt and equity securities are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus
directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value
of financial instruments, see note 28(e). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.

(i) Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the
measurement categories:

following

— amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash
flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income
from the investment is calculated using
the effective interest method (see note

2(u)((ii))-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity
securities (Continued)
(i) Investments other than equity investments
(Continued)

fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) — recycling, if the
contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal
and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection of
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes
in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses.
When the investment is derecognised,
the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from
equity to profit or loss.

fair value at profit or loss (FVPL) if the
investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest)
are recognised in profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

132

(9)

(h)

Other investments in debt and equity

securities (Continued)

(ii) Equity investments
An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL unless the equity investment is
not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition of the investment the Group makes
an election to designate the investment at
FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent
changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but
may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective.
Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
until the investment is disposed of. At the time
of disposal, the amount accumulated in the
fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment
in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised
in profit or loss as other income.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
(see note 2(j)) to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include property that is
being constructed or developed for future use as
investment property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Investment properties (Continued)

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless
they are still in the course of construction or
development at the end of the reporting period and
their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that
time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair
value or from the retirement or disposal of an
investment property is recognised in profit or loss.
Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in note 2(u).

In the comparative period, when the Group holds
property interest under an operating lease to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the
interest is classified and accounted for as an
investment property on a property-by-property basis.
Any such property interest which has been classified
as an investment property is accounted for as if it
were held under a finance lease (see note 2(j)), and
the same accounting policies are applied to that
interest as are applied other investment properties
leased under finance leases. Lease payments are
accounted for as described in note 2(j).

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment loss (see note 2(k)):

— buildings held for own use which are situated
on leasehold land classified as held under

operating lease (see note 2(j)); and

—  other items of plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BAETAN - KA REEIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(i) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

134

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an
appropriate proportion of production overheads and
borrowing costs (see note 2(w)).
Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Residual

Useful life value%

Lands 50 years 0%
Buildings 20 years 5%-10%
Office equipment 2-12 years 0%-10%
Motor vehicles 4-5 years 0%—-10%
Electronic and other 2-10 years 0%-10%

equipment
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

1)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

a. As a lessee
() Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less and leases of low-value
assets which, for the Group are primarily
laptops and office furniture. When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are
not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the
lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
AANREDR)

(Br=HBETHI

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continued)

1)

Leased assets (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

a.

()

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
(Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is recognised at the
present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease
or, if that readily
determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability
amortised cost and interest expense is
calculated using the effective interest
method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease
liability and hence are charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRE=BFTBIN  AAREIIT)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEREFTEHEE)
(Continued)
(i) Leased assets (Continued) () HEEBEE#E)
a. As a lessee (Continued) a fEBERBEAE)
() Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 ()  H2019%F141H ZE#H
(Continued) H B (&)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial
direct costs incurred. Where applicable,
the cost of the right-of-use assets also
includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 2(i) and
2(I)(i), except for the following types of
right-of-use asset:

— right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are
carried at fair value in accordance
with note 2(h);

— right-of-use assets related to
interests in leasehold land where the
interest in the land is held as
inventory are carried at the lower of
cost and net realisable value in
accordance with note 2().
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
AANREDR)
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

138

(Continued)

1)

Leased assets (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

a.

()

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
(Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease
payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the
Group’s estimate of the amount expected
to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase,
termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.

extension or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Leased assets (Continued)
a. As a lessee (Continued)

(1)

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee
the Group classified leases as finance
leases if the leases transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group. Leases which
did not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the Group
were classified as operating leases, with
the following exceptions:

—  property held under operating leases
that would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property
was classified as investment
property on a property-by-property
basis and, if classified as investment
property, was accounted for as if
held under a finance lease (see note
2(h)); and

— land held for own use under an
operating lease, the fair value of
which could not be measured
separately from the fair value of
a building situated thereon at
the inception of the lease, was
accounted for as being held under
a finance lease, unless the building
was also clearly held under an
operating lease. For these purposes,
the inception of the lease was the
time that the lease was first entered
into by the Group, or taken over from
the previous lessee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
AANREDR)

(Br=HBETHI

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

140

(Continued)

1)

Leased assets (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

a.

(1)

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019
(Continued)

Where the Group acquired the use of
assets under finance leases, the amounts
representing the fair value of the leased
asset, or, if lower, the present value of
the minimum lease payments, of such
assets were recognised as property, plant
and equipment and the corresponding
liabilities, net of finance charges, were
recorded as obligations under finance
leases. Depreciation was provided at
rates which wrote off the cost or
valuation of the assets over the term of
the relevant lease or, where it was likely
the Group would obtain ownership of the
asset, the life of the asset, as set out in
note 2(l). Impairment losses were
accounted for in accordance with the
accounting policy as set out in note 2(k).
Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments were charged to profit or loss
over the period of the leases so as to
produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining
balance of the obligations for each
accounting period. Contingent rentals
were charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they were
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Leased assets (Continued)
a. As a lessee (Continued)

(1)

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019
(Continued)

Where the Group had the use of assets
held under operating leases, payments
made under the leases were charged to
profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis
was more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased
asset. Lease incentives received were
recognised in profit or loss as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals were charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period
in which they were incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an
operating lease is amortised on a
straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term except where the property is
classified as an investment property (see
note 2(h)) or is held for development for
sale (see note 2(l)(i)).

b. As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying
assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the
lease is classified as an operating lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BATHES - AARKEF|T)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

142

() Leased assets (Continued)

b.

(k)
(i)

As a lessor (Continued)

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with note
2(u).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the
sub-leases are classified as a finance lease or
as an operating lease with reference to the
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the exemption described in
note 2())(a), then the Group classifies the sub-
lease as an operating lease.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments
and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECLs) on the following
items:

— financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other receivables and loans to
associates); and

— lease receivables.

Financial assets measured at fair value are not
subject to the ECL assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

and lease receivables (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash
flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate; and

— lease receivables: discount rate used in
the measurement of the lease receivable.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. This includes information about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BAETHI - AAREFIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

144

and lease receivables (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
lease receivables are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to
12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

and lease receivables (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or

interest on their contractually due dates;
— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if

available);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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(B BAETHI - AAREFIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

146

and lease receivables (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)
— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and
— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change
in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a
loss allowance account, except for investments
in debt securities that are measured at FVOCI
(recycling), for which the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

and lease receivables (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 2(u)(iii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on
the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or
financial reorganisation;

other

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the
debtor; or

— the disappearance of an active market for
a security because of financial difficulties
of the issuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHETBAN
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

148

(k)

(i)

(ii)

AANREFIR)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and lease receivables (Continued)

Werite-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
on lease receivable is written off (either partially
or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Credit losses from financial guarantees
issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEETHN - LARKESTR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEAEFTHEE
(Continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets k) ERBEAREEREE)
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial guarantees (i) EEHHBIERZIZHEK.
issued (Continued) (%)

Financial guarantees issued are initially
recognised within “trade and other payables” at
fair value, which is determined by reference to
fees charged in an arm’s length transaction for
similar services, when such information is
obtainable, or to interest rate differentials, by
comparing the actual rates charged by lenders
when the guarantee is made available with the
estimated rates that
charged, had the guarantees not been
available, where reliable estimates of such
information can be made. Where consideration
is received or receivable for the issuance of the
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no
such consideration is received or receivable, an
immediate expense is recognised in profit or
loss.

lenders would have

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount
initially recognised as deferred income is
amortised in profit or loss over the term of the
guarantee as income from financial guarantees
issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract and
recognises a provision when ECLs on the
financial guarantees are determined to be
higher than the amount carried in “trade and
other payables” in respect of the guarantees
(i.e. initially recognised,
accumulated amortisation).

the amount less
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

150

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(ii) Credit losses from financial guarantees

issued (Continued)

To determine ECLs, the Group considers
changes in the risk of default of the specified
debtor since the issuance of the guarantee. A
12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased
significantly since the guarantee is issued, in
which case a lifetime ECL is measured. The
same definition of default and the same
assessment of significant increase in credit risk
as described in note 2(k)(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the specified
debtor in accordance with the terms of the
instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is
estimated based on the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amount that the Group expects
to receive from the holder of the guarantee,
the specified debtor or any other party. The
amount is then discounted using the current
risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the
cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6 M B R K )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEETHN - LARKESTR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEREFTEHEE)
(Continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets k) ERBEAREEREE)
(Continued)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets (iii) E fit I i B 5 6l 1B

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, except in the case of
impairment loss previously
longer exists or may have

goodwill, an
recognised no
decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;

— investments in subsidiaries, associates

and joint ventures; and

— other non-current assets

If any such the asset’s

recoverable amount is estimated.

indication exists,

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI

AANREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

152

(Continued)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), or in use (if
determinable).

value

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised
Reversals of

in prior years.
impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in

which the reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Inventories and other contract costs

()

Property development

Inventories in respect of property development
activities are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost and net realisable
values are determined as follows:

Property held for development and
property under development

The cost of properties held for
development and properties under
development comprises specifically
identified cost, including the acquisition
cost of land, aggregate cost of
development, materials and supplies,
wages and other direct expenses, an
appropriate proportion of overheads and
borrowing costs capitalised (see note
2(w)). Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less estimated
costs of completion and costs to be
incurred in selling the property.

Completed property held for sale

The cost of completed properties held for
sale comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

In the case of completed properties
developed by the Group which comprise
of multiple units which are sold
individually, the cost of each unit is
determined by apportionment of the total
development costs for that development
project to each unit on a per square foot
basis, unless another basis is more
representative of the cost of the specific
unit. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less costs to be
incurred in selling the property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBATHEN - LARESR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
() Inventories and other contract costs

(Continued)

(i)  Property development (Continued)
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount
of those inventories is recognised as an
expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

(ii) Other contract costs

154

Other contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer
or the costs to fulfil a contract with a customer
which are not capitalised as inventory (see
note 2()(i)) or property, plant and equipment
(see note 2(i)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are
those costs that the Group incurs to obtain a
contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been
obtained e.g. an
commission. Incremental costs of obtaining a
contract are capitalised when incurred if the
costs

incremental sales

relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period and the
costs are expected to be recovered. Other
costs of obtaining a contract are expensed

when incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Inventories and other contract costs
(Continued)
(ii) Other contract costs (Continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the
costs relate directly to an existing contract or
to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract; generate or enhance resources that
will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered.

Costs that relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract may include direct labour,
direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that
are explicitly chargeable to the customer and
other costs that are incurred only because the
Group entered into the contract (for example,
payments to sub-contractors). Other costs of
fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Impairment losses are recognised to the
extent that the carrying amount of the contract
cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining
amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for the goods
or services to which the asset relates, less (ii)
any costs that relate directly to providing those
goods or services that have not yet been
recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue to
which the asset relates is recognised. The
accounting policy for revenue recognition is set
out in note 2(u).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M WoR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI

AANREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m) Contract liabilities

156

(n)

(o)

(p)

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 2(u)). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised (see note 2(n)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract liability includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see
note 2(u)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2(k)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities
measured in accordance with note 2(k)(ii), trade and
other payables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at

fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial

recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Interest expense is recognised in accordance with

the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs

(see note 2(w)).

(a)

(r)

Employee benefits

()

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, employee wages or salaries, bonuses,
social security contributions such as medical
insurance, work injury insurance, maternity
insurance and housing fund, measured at the
amount incurred or at the applicable
benchmarks and rates, are recognised as a
liability as the employee provides services, with
a corresponding charge to profit or loss or
included in the cost of assets where

appropriate.

Defined contribution plans

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations
of the PRC, the Group participates in a defined
contribution basic pension insurance in the
social insurance system established and
managed by government organisations. The
Group makes contributions to basic pension
insurance plans based on the applicable
benchmarks and rates stipulated by the
government. Basic pension insurance
contributions are recognised as part of the
cost of assets or charged to profit or loss as
the related services are rendered by the
employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREABETHMN - AAREIITR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(r) Employee benefits (Continued)
(ii) Defined contribution plans (Continued)
The Group also participates in a pension
scheme under the rules and regulations of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
(the “MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong
Kong, which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme. The contributions to the
MPF Scheme are based on minimum statutory
contribution requirement of 5% of eligible
employees’ relevant aggregate income. The
assets of this pension scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds.
(iii) Share-based payments

158

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost
with a corresponding increase in a capital
reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the binomial
lattice model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were
granted. Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEETHN - LARKESTR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEAEFTHEE
(Continued)
() Employee benefits (Continued) r EETANE)

(iii) Share-based payments (Continued) (i) UBRGBEBEHTF(E)

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed.
Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair
value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to
not achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the company’s shares. The
equity amount is recognised in the capital
reserve until either the option
(when it is included in the amount recognised
in share capital for the shares issued) or the
option expires (when it is released directly to
retained profits).

is exercised
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M WoR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI

AANREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

160

(s)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other
directly in equity, respectively.

comprehensive income or

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that
may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences include
those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary difference or in periods
into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax
asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or
periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

unused tax

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting or taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the
case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI

AANREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

162

(s)

Income tax (Continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair
value in accordance with the accounting policy set
out in note 2(h),
recognised is measured using the tax rates that
would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is
depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other case,
the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

the amount of deferred tax

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s) Income tax (Continued)
Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Group intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered, intend to realise the
current tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M WoR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI

AANREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

164

®

(u)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Other provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or
occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

non-

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of properties or the use by
others of the Group’s assets under leases in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the
right to use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax
(“VAT”) or other sales taxes and is after deduction of
any trade discounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction with the customer, and interest income
is accrued separately under the effective interest
method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on
the contract liability under the effective interest
method. The Group takes advantage of the practical
expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does
not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sale of properties
Revenue arising from the sale of properties in
the ordinary course of business is recognised:

— when properties are handed over to the
customers which is the point in time
when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits
of the property. Advanced payments
received on properties sold prior to the
date of revenue recognition are included
in the statement of financial position
under contract liabilities (see note 18); or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

166

(u)

()

Sale of properties (Continued)

— as the performance obligations are
satisfied over time in accordance with the
progress when the properties sold have
no alternative use to the Group due to
contractual arrangements and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment from
the customer for the performance
completed to date. The excess of the
consideration that the Group has the
unconditional right to receive from the
customers over the revenue recognised in
profit or loss is included in the statement
of financial position as contract liabilities
(see note 18).

For contracts where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised property exceeds one year, the
transaction price and the amount of revenue
from the sales of completed properties is
adjusted for the effects of a financing
component. If the advance payments by the
customer regarded as providing a
significant financing benefit to the Group,
interest expense arising from the adjustment of
time value of money will be accrued by the
Group during the period between the payment
date and the date of delivery of property. This
accrual increases the balance of the contract
liability during the period of construction, and
therefore increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the completed
property is transferred to the customer. The
interest is expensed as accrued unless it is
eligible to be capitalised under HKAS 23,
Borrowing costs, in accordance with the
policies set out in note 2(w).

are
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(u) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i) Rental income from operating leases
Rental income receivable under operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in
profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are
earned.

(iii) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset.

For credit impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net
of loss allowance) of the asset (see note 2(k)

(i)

(v) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI

AANREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

168

(v)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
the fair value was measured.

The results of Hong Kong and foreign operations are
translated into Renminbi at the exchange rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Renminbi at the
closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a Hong Kong or foreign operations,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that Hong Kong or foreign operations is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the
profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Borrowing costs

(x)

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the
cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified
as held for sale if it is highly probable that its
carrying amount will be recovered through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use and
the asset (or disposal group) is available for sale in
its present condition. A disposal group is a group of
assets to be disposed of together as a group in a
single transaction, and liabilities directly associated
with those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified
as held for sale when the above criteria for
classification as held for sale are met, regardless of
whether the Group will retain a non-controlling
interest in the subsidiary after the sale.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

170

(x)

Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)
Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all
individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is
brought up-to-date in accordance with the
accounting policies before the classification. Then,
on initial classification as held for sale and until
disposal, the non-current assets (except for certain
assets as explained below), or disposal groups, are
recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions
to this measurement policy so far as the financial
statements of the Group and the Company are
concerned are deferred tax assets, assets arising
from employee benefits, financial assets (other than
investments associates and joint
ventures) and investment properties. These assets,
even if held for sale, would continue to be measured
in accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in
note 2.

in subsidiaries,

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for
sale, and on subsequent remeasurement while held
for sale, are recognised in profit or loss. As long as
a non-current asset is classified as held for sale, or
is included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale, the non-current asset is not
depreciated or amortised.

2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

& 6 M B o WG o)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEAREGTFEHERGE)

(Continued)
(y) Related parties (v) EBEER
(1) A person, or a close member of that person’s (1) fM—BATRE T3 KRG Bl
family, is related to the Group if that person: ZBATHEREELFRK S E
RNEB BB -

()  has control or joint control over the Group; () PRI

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; i) BXXEBEBEFEEATE
or 7K

(i) is a member of the key management (i) BRAEAEBEBXAEBRER
personnel of the Group or the Group’s AIMTEEREEKE °
parent.

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the 2 MWM—EER™FES TIEMAIK
following conditions applies: Hh AZEREASEEH
it

()  The entity and the Group are members of () ZERBBEASEEBER-
the same group (which means that each SEMKE AR (BIEE
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is NA-MB AR KEF
related to the others). M@~ a AR B R ) o

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture i) —RBAEERS—EEYN
of the other entity (or an associate or joint RN A /N (=1
venture of a member of a group of which S—ERARKE QAN
the other entity is a member). SEETKE R A /B

AEA‘ N Ej E‘A_ = '&EAT N ET ) °

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same (i) MEEEHRR-—F=
third party. THEE QR -

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity vy —BAERBAF=1ER
and the other entity is an associate of the MEERA MBS — &
third entity. RAZFE-_FEEOH

/NG

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit vy, BERRAEENEALRE
plan for the benefit of employees of either FHBNEERES
the Group or an entity related to the & 7 5% 37 A B B 1% 1@ A
Group. FTEl -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M WoR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI

AANREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

172

(v)

(2)

Related parties (Continued)
(2)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

The Group manages its business as a whole as
properties development is the only reporting
segment. The financial statements is presented in a
manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s senior executive
management for the purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

(a)

Critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
accounting judgements:

Classification between investment properties
and properties held for sale

The Group develops and purchases properties held
for sale and properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation. Judgement is made by
management on determining whether a property is
designated as an investment property or a property
held for sale.

For the developed properties, the Group considers
its intention for holding the properties at the early
development stage of the related properties. During
the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties
under development included in current assets if the
properties are their
completion, whereas, the properties are accounted
for as investment properties under construction if the
properties are intended to be held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

intended for sale after

For the purchased properties, the Group considers
its intention for holding the properties at the early
stage when obtained control the related properties.
The related properties are accounted for as
inventories included if the
properties are intended for sale, whereas, the
properties are accounted for as investment
properties if the properties are intended to be held
to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

in current assets

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN  LAREIITR)

3 ErtHERMEE

(a)

RERAKEESEHRERNEE
= 5T H Ef
RERAEE G ERRE
EEH AT &5 HIH -

EEE

B P REWFEEFIFL EHH R

AEERERBESFLENDE
RREGHES R EREE T
BHME - BEEEELHABEEY
XERHEERREYMEARKHELE
B ) % o

REREMEMS  AKERHEE
MENEHREEREZRBEDE
MFEBM IR TIEk
FHENERTURIESERDE
RRBEEAR MBERTEIRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI

AANREFIR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 28 contains information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to fair value of other
financial assets. Other key sources of estimation

174

(b)

uncertainty are as follows:

(i)

Properties for sale

As explained in note 2(lI), the Group’s
properties for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Based on the
Group’s recent experience and the nature of
the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of
completion in cases for properties held for
development and properties
development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing
market conditions.

under

If there is an increase in costs to completion
or a decrease in net sales value, the net
realisable value will decrease and this may
result in provision for properties for sale. Such
provision requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, the carrying value
and provision for properties in the periods in
which such estimate is changed will be
adjusted accordingly.

In addition, given the volatility of the property
market and the unique nature of individual
properties, the actual outcomes in terms of
costs and revenue may be higher or lower
than that estimated at the end of the reporting
period. Any increase or decrease in the
provision would affect profit or loss in future
years.

3 ErtHERMAEE

(b) fEEFABERRRR
fiifcsH BEEMEMEENTFEZ
MR EERRE = - E5 T T
AEmEMERHIRMOT

() =“HEY*
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fieh 7€ T A S 38 0 2K 3 5 73 ER
o BRI R FES SR
AR ERARTFEM R IRE
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o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

Revenue recognition

As explained in note 2(u)(i), revenue from sales
of properties can be recognised over time
when the Group’s performance do not create
an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

The determination of whether the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for its sales in the
PRC depends on the actual payment pattern,
terms of the sales contract and the
interpretation of the applicable laws. Such
determination requires judgements. The Group
considers that it has enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date
based on the terms of agreements with the
customers by reference to the legal opinion
obtained from its legal counsel. The above
interpretation from the legal counsel may be
different from the interpretation or judgement of
the relevant authorities in the PRC, which
would affect the revenue and profit recognised
in future years.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRE=BFTBIN  AAREIIT)

3 ErtHERMEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M WoR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI

AANREFIR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

176

(b)
(ii)

(iii)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

In addition, revenue and profit on uncompleted
projects recognised over time is dependent on
estimating the total outcome of the contract,
as well as the percentage of work done to
date. Based on the Group’s recent experience
and the nature of the construction activities,
the Group has made estimates of the point at
which it considered the work was sufficiently
advanced such that the outcome of the
contract can be reasonably measured. Actual
outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue
may be higher or lower than estimated at the
end of the reporting period, which would affect
the revenue and profit recognised in future
years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.

Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”)

As explained in note 8(a)ii), LAT is levied on
properties developed by the Group for sale, at
progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, which under the
applicable regulations is calculated based on
the proceeds of sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including lease charges
of land use rights, borrowing cost and relevant
property development expenditures. Given the
uncertainties of the calculation basis of land
appreciation tax to be interpreted by the local
tax bureaux and the actual appreciation of land
value may be different from the original
estimates, the actual outcomes may be higher
or lower than that estimated at the end of the
reporting period. Any increase or decrease in
estimates would affect profit or loss in future
years.

3 ErtHERMEE(E)

et THREERRR(E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(iv) Expected credit loss for trade and other

(v)

receivables

The Group makes allowances on receivables
based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group used
judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the credit loss
calculation, based on the past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Recognition of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses and
other deductible temporary differences carried
forward are recognised and measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amount of the assets, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period. In determining
the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets,
expected taxable profits are estimated which
involves a number of assumptions relating to the
operating environment of the Group and require
a significant level of judgement exercised by the
directors. Any change in such assumptions and
judgement would affect the carrying amounts of
deferred tax assets to be recognised and hence
the net profit in future years.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

6 M B R K )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRE=BFTBIN  AAREIIT)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)
4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4
(a) Revenue
The principal activities of the Group are property
development and sales in the PRC.

(i) Disaggregation of revenue
Revenue mainly represents income from sale of
properties and gross rentals from properties,
net of sales related taxes and discounts
allowed, and is analysed as follows:

WAR D EB®E

(a)

Revenue from contracts (& & B IE | & E Q)
with customers within EISGEEANEF

A
AEENTELTH/AETEEEY
XERRHE -

() UA#HZ
WAFERMEHERARY
¥HeesE 2HkHERH
MIE N4 TH M- 54w
T

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T

the scope of EHWA
HKFRS 15
Sales of properties: MEIEE -
— Recognised at a point  — % {5 2 1 R
in time 210,090 243,010
— Recognised overtime — RERFREER 141,739 321,082
351,829 564,002
Revenue from other H At R WA
sources
Gross rentals from KEHEHeRSE
operating lease 2,455 3,735
354,284 567,827

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by geographic markets is disclosed
in note 4(b).

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group’s customer base is diversified and does
not have a customer with whom transactions
have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue
(2018: nil).

BiwEmHESHNEL A LI
A5 R T4 E -

BHZE2019F12A31HLFE -
AEENEFPEBRD AR W&
BE-XPHRZHHEAEERA
FBiB10% (20184 | &) »
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4

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from contracts with customers at
the reporting date.

The following table includes revenue expected
to be recognised in the future related to
performance obligations that are not satisfied
or partially satisfied at 31 December 2019:

4

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

WARDEB®RSE (&

(@) WAGE)
(i) FEHRERRBERIRNHEHH
MEFPEBIA -

TREBEEPELRKERE A
2019F 12318 & & 17 5k 2B
DETEHEEHWA

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETFT
Remaining performance FEHRUTHEETHT
obligations expected BHREME:
to be satisfied:
Within 1 year —FRN 1,181,545 1,279,553
After 1 year but —FREMFRN
within 2 years 472,348 10,340
After 2 years MEZB=ZFR
but within 3 years 313,309 404,143
1,967,202 1,694,036

These amounts represent revenue expected to
be recognised in the future from pre-sale
contracts for properties under development
entered into by the customers and the Group.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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BARERHWA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREABETHMN - AAREIITR)
4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)
(@) Revenue (Continued)
(iii) Total future minimum lease payments
receivable by the Group
Total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable

4

WARDEB®RSE (&

(a)

WA (&)

(iii) 7@ R A KR IEEE N
e 4]
RIEFAHELEHENEK
ARZEHEENHBRAT

as follows:
2019 2018
2019% 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
Within one year —F A 906 1,327
After 1 year but —FREMFERN
within 2 years 818 1,077
After 2 years but MEZB=ZFR
within 3 years 863 1,003
After 3 years but —FERENFER
within 4 years 871 859
After 4 years but MEBRERFEA
within 5 years 896 607
After 5 years hF% 5,861 4,917
10,215 9,790

(b) Operating segment

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
is more focused on the Group as a whole, as all of
the Group’s activities are considered to be primarily
dependent on the performance of property
development. Resources are allocated based on
what is beneficial for the Group in enhancing its
property development activities as a whole rather
than any specific service. Performance assessment
is based on the results of the Group as a whole.
Therefore, management considers there is only one
operating segment under the requirements of
HKFRS 8, Operating segments.

180

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4

(Continued)

(b) Operating segment (Continued)
Geographic information
The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of () the Group’s revenue from
external customers and (i) the Group’s property,
plant and equipment, investment properties, other
non-current assets and interests in associates and
joint ventures (“specified non-current assets”). The
geographical location of customers is based on the
location at which the properties were developed or
leased out. The geographical location of the
specified non-current assets is based on the
physical location of the asset, in the case of
property, plant and equipment and investment
properties, and the location of operations, in the
case of other non-current assets and interests in
associates and joint ventures.

Revenue from
external customers

RENREFHBA

2019
20194
RMB’000
AR®T T

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRE=BFTBIN  AAREIIT)

WARDERE (Z
(b) BEDI(E)

HEEHR

TREJNEAONAEERBINRE
FHBA  REEBYE  BE
REE REME - HMFERHE
EXRBERRRGERAAER
(EBEFRBEEDFEHMBHE
B e RPRMEMNERER L HEMA
MENLE - FBEFRBEENF
EHDEREENERCE (B
ME - BERZBRIEEYE) R
BNE(WMBHEMIERDEERR

e RA LA EREER) -

Specified
non-current assets

EEFRBEE

2018 2019 2018
20184 20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT PR \E% T

Huizhou =M 306,924 476,148 112,734 108,463
Tianjin K 47,360 91,679 31,808 33,516
Zhumadian HEE - - 104,141 104,576
Others Hit - — 1,723 336

354,284 567,827 250,406 246,891

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

5 OTHER NET INCOME 5 Hitl AFH

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETFT

Interest income B A 13,893 2,618

Net gain on disposals of other HEHMEmEENKE
financial assets F R 367 26

Net (loss)/gain on disposals of HEREMER (BB),/
investment properties I e F 58 (99) 5,450

Net gain/(loss) on disposals of HEME  BERZED
property, plant and equipment Wz, (F18) F58 225 9)
Net exchange gain b 5 W % % 58 53 29
Others H A 318 268
14,757 8,382

6 OTHER EXPENSES 6 HMAX

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETF T

Donations B 4,355 940
Other sundry expenses HtMIEAX 610 124
4,965 1,064
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 7 BRBANER
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/ BR B AT S A DB (BEA) T &8
(crediting): BER
(a) Finance costs (a) BERAE

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREBTFT

Interest on bank loans RITEERNE
(note 21(c)) (P 5¥21(c) ) 25,463 20,430
Accrued interest on significant A X BEHEARE LD
financing component of #) FEET A B
contract liabilities 37,353 14,175
Others Eifb 3,508 1,701
66,324 36,306
Less: Interest expenses B BREEFENFE
capitalised into &
inventories™ (56,506) (81,140)
9,818 5,166
* The interest rates of borrowing costs that have been * #H =2019F12A31B L FE - &
capitalised ranged from 5.23% to 6.18% per annum b A& TR A B 6 F R B5.23% &=
during the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 6.18% (2018%F : 5.23%%6.18% ) °

5.23% to 6.18%).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREETHN - LARKESIR)
7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 7 BRBAER ()
(b) Staff costs (b) EIRAE
2019 2018
2019% 2018%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETFT
Salaries, wages and other e IERH(MIE
benefits 37,391 32,480
Contributions to defined M) R 5E  FORRET B K
contribution retirement plan 2,360 2,120
Equity-settled share-based NREmEE RN HER
payment expenses (note 25(b)) XA SZ (B 3E25(0) ) 4,087 —
Less: Staff costs capitalised into 8 : EX{LEFEMNE L
inventories [N (9,799) (5,969)
34,039 28,631

184

The PRC Operating Entities participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes (the
“Schemes”) organised by the PRC municipal and
provincial government authorities, whereby the PRC
Operating Entities are required to make contribution
at the rates required by different local government
authorities. The local government authorities are
responsible for the pension obligations payable to
the retired employees covered under the Schemes.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the Schemes.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HKD30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

TREEERSEMTBEMANE
AR T 1 TR AR A S E BRI AR
MErE (58 BUTBEEEER
BARRIRE M BT #EZ KD
ST EE B R 5K o 3575 BR T 14 B8
BEM2EGFINERETMNE
R - RARIRET 8 E B F b R
B HREBERPHIRR -

AEENTRBEE LR ERE R
ERPI B RIEE SRR ROIH RDE
BEEEEANEREE—HRH M
N2 B ([RERFE) - miE
TSR HHBIXEAEEDN
FEHRBERNKGE - REBEBRE S
g EXILEEERBEARERR
AU ABB% A EIER - &5 EA
18 B8 W A 730,000/ 7T ° [A &t & 1F
2 RN R A R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

& 6 M B o WG o)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)
7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 7 BRBAERN(E)
(c) Other items (c) HMEB

2019 2018
20194 2018%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR FIT

Depreciation and amortisation & & 8 5 5,773 3,951
Auditors’ remuneration % 2R BN & 2,470 2,090
Listing expenses EmRAX — 18,718
Rentals receivable from KEMERKAS
investment properties (640) (1,483)
Less: Direct outgoings W BEEX - 47
(640) (1,436)
8 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8 HMEEBBZRAWMBH
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HmEBEBZRABERE

profit or loss represents:

2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T

Current tax B B Bt 18
Provision for Corporate Income  (®¥FTEHR ([DEMREFR])
Tax (“CIT") B 22,995 13,733
Provision for LAT o b 1 (B R 34,852 71,178
57,847 84,911
Deferred tax EER 18
— CIT —ERBR (8,372) 25,564
— LAT — T HBIRE R (8,307) -
(16,679) 25,564
41,168 110,475
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BBATI - LARESIR)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(Continued)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents: (Continued)

8

186

(a)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

CIT and Hong Kong Profits Tax

The provision for CIT is based on the
estimated taxable income at the rates
applicable to each subsidiary in the Group. The
income tax rate applicable to the principal
subsidiaries in the PRC is 25% during the year
(2018: 25%).

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was
recognised for the year (2018: nil) as the
subsidiaries in Hong Kong did not have any
assessable profits for the year.

LAT

LAT is levied on properties developed by the
Group for sale, at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, which under the applicable regulations is
based on the proceeds of sales of properties
less deductible expenditures including lease
charges of land use rights, borrowing costs and
relevant property development expenditures.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI"), the Group is not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

8

REBBERANFTER (&

(a)

ReERBERABEE: (B

(i) LEEIFEHREEBFNEH
EEMERBEEN G ER
i W a8 1R AN 65 [ 5 1B 2 R
ARBERGAE - PREETEWNE
RARFEEANARIRER

25% (20184 : 25%) o

AEEHEREIRETENEHE
B (2018F : &) - AABEN
B AR AFE B EL ] RN

DR

(i) T HE

= 3 4% B 3 R 30% £ 60% #) R
ERERAKECHELHE
WEN LI ERBK - R
MHEER - LHIRERRHEE
W) E PSSR R R 0 R X
(BRI EAEEEE (&
N LR E Sk )

SHE -

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

& 6 M B o WG o)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8 MEBRBZRANEH ()
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (b) BIERYHZREARESE 2S5

profit at applicable tax rates:

i ] B9 $ B

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREF T
Profit before taxation B % A1 & A 58,836 188,294
Less: LAT B T E R (26,545) (71,178)
Profit before CIT BR 1 2% BT 15 B0 A i A 32,291 117,116
Notional tax calculated at HHRBEEBEARBAMSE
applicable income tax rate of MEFENBEMN
the relevant Group entities
concerned 9,013 35,187
Tax effect of non-deductible AR A S MR &
expenses 5,610 4,110
CIT EMEN 14,623 39,297
LAT T IR E R 26,545 71,178
Income tax expense Frig 8 X 41,168 110,475

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Basic
salaries,
allowances
and other
benefits
Ef BER
Hio Fl s
RMB’000

Directors’
fee

2k

Note RMB’000

EEME

1R & & B(R & 01 $383(1) & K& A A
(3% B8 3 5 F1) 25 B4 45 01 523 45 72 P ¢
BrEEMemT

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE2019F12ANALEE

Retirement
scheme
contributions

Share-based
payment
R B A

RN
RMB’000

Discretionary

bonuses Sub-total Total
META

RMB’000

BIARFBER
RMB’000

Nt
RMB’000

ast
RMB’000

(EM \R%Tn ARTR AR%Tn AR%Trn AR%Tn AR%ETn AR¥Txn
Chairman and non- TERFUTES
executive director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung TEELE (a) 264 — = 13 217 584 861
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Lau Ka Keung BRBIEE (b) 211 2,201 1,320 16 3,748 584 4,332
Mr. Lin Guoxian HEELE (b) 116 261 o 16 393 = 393
Mr. Wong Ka Lun ERXmAE (c) 211 1,258 132 16 1,617 292 1,909
Ms. Lau Pui Kian ARELL © 211 ot - 16 1,138 292 1,430
Independent non- BUFGTES
executive directors
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen ~ EBB %4 ® 264 - - - 264 292 556
Mr. Li Yinquan FoREHE (6) 264 - - - 264 292 556
Mr. Wu Wing Kuen HkERE © 264 — = — 264 292 556
1,805 4,631 1,452 7 7,965 2,628 10,593
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN  LAREIITR)

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 9 EEM4 (&
For the year ended 31 December 2018
BZE2018F12A31H L EE
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and other  Discretionary scheme
fee benefits bonuses  contributions Total
EF fAK
EEHE HAebFl s MBA  RIREHEIHK Bt
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Wi AREFTT AR®Fr ARETn ARETr ARETn
Chairman and non- IEREBTES
executive director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung TEREE (@) 8 - - - 8
Executive directors TES
Mr. Lau Ka Keung BRBKE (b) 7 1,833 846 15 2,701
Mr. Lin Guoxian WEE % £ (b) 7 482 - 18 507
Mr. Wong Ka Lun ERMEE (©) 7 1,024 169 14 1,214
Ms. Lau Pui Kwan ARELL © 7 849 169 15 1,040
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Wong Wai Yue ITRREE (d) - - - - -
Independent non- BUFHTES
executive directors
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen EEBit (6) 8 - - - 8
Mr. Li Yinquan Fo|gkHE (e) 8 - - - 8
Mr. Wu Wing Kuen Bk (e) 8 - - - 8
60 4,188 1,184 62 5,494
(@ Mr. Wong Ting Chung was appointed as non- @ TEELEADHR20165F11A15H
executive director and the Chairman of the Company K2018F6 4198 B & T A K A A
on 15 November 2016 and 19 June 2018 FPMITESRER -
respectively.
(b) Mr. Lau Ka Keung and Mr. Lin Guoxian were by BRAELERMEELXE DR

appointed as executive directors of the Company on
15 November 2016 and 19 June 2018 respectively.
Mr. Lin Guoxian has resigned as executive director
of the Company with effect from 19 July 2019.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

20164114158 %2018F6A19H
BEZEABARAINITES - MEE
EEBERAFBHNITES - 52019
F7TA19B £ 5 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 9 EEME(E)

() Ms. Lau Pui Kwan and Mr. Wong Ka Lun were € BlfE X+ EkERMEENR2018F
appointed as executive directors of the Company on 6HIOREZEAARRNRIHMITES -

19 June 2018.

(d) Mr. Wong Wai Yue was appointed as non-executive d) TEHRHWEER2016F11 158 EE
director of the Company on 15 November 2016 and FARRRENITESE - I H2018
resigned on 1 April 2018. FLA1H BT -

(e) Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen, Mr. Li Yinquan and Mr. € ZEHEEA - TS| REERIAKE
Wu Wing Kuen were appointed as independent non- St E 20186 198 BE R £ A%
executive directors on 19 June 2018. UIEBMITESE -

10 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 10 AlUumSHFMA L

Of the five highest paid individuals, four (2018: three) are TuZmHFMA TR BN (20185F | =

directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 9. The f)ES  HEFMMRMFOMEE - Hib—1z

aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other one (2018F : M) AT B & @FEN T -

(2018: two) individual are as follows:

2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREET T

Salaries and other emoluments FTehEMME 1,091 1,954
Contributions to retirement benefit & K48 F 5 2t 7%
scheme 16 20
Share-based payment AR 1D A E i &9 3k 252 —
1,359 1,974
The emoluments of the one individual (2018: two) are —fZ AL (2018F : M) WS BR T
within the following bands: H & E -
2019 2018
20194 20184
HKD1,000,001-HKD1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T
%1,500,000/% 7T = 2
HKD1,500,001-HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7T
22,000,000 7T 1 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

11 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on the profit attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company of RMB17,954,000 (2018:
RMB33,375,000) and the weighted average number
of issued ordinary shares of 750,000,000 (2018:
568,664,000) during the year ended 31 December

6 M B R K )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN  LAREIITR)

11 EREF

(a)

BREFXER

#H ZE20199F12A31H It F &
BREXRBFTDREARQ B
f% 3 FE 4G & A A R 17,954,000
L (2018%F :+ A R ¥33,375,000
) &750,000,000&(2018&
568,664,0000% ) B 2 17 I i@ A% A0 &

2019, calculated as follows: THEEGERT :
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ZEBRMETITE
2019 2018
20194 20184
’000 shares 000 shares
F & T B
Issued ordinary shares at M1A1TBEE BT EAR
1 January 750,000 —
Effect of capitalisation of REERK §$1t)§2 - N|d
shareholders’ loans and BT E (MiE27())
capitalisation issue (note 27(b)) = 562,500
Effect of shares issued upon IPO B X A% EMEITIR G
-2 - 6,164
Weighted average number of M12A318 2 & @mAR &
ordinary shares at 5 2
31 December 750,000 568,664
The weighted average number of shares in issue in 2018F B /TR INFEF B E
2018 were based on the assumption that N S N/NEI S ﬁﬁxﬁﬁtﬁﬁﬁ
562,500,000 shares were issued before the listing of B 2 17562,500,0008% f% 17 5T & %
the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange, as if % & B% (0 7N B, 2201812 A31H
such shares had been outstanding throughout the IEFE—BEETRB-
year ended 31 December 2018.
Diluted earnings per share b) EREFTEF

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 were the same as the
basic earnings per share.

At 31 December 2019, 22,200,000 share options
(2018: nil) (see note 25) were excluded from the
diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares
calculation because their effect would have been
anti-dilutive. The average market value of the
Company’s shares for the purpose of calculating the
dilutive effect of share options was based on quoted
market prices for the period during which the
options were outstanding.

At 31 December 2018,
dilutive ordinary shares.

there were no potential

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

B E20194F K2018F12H31H IE4F
B BEREFEANEGRERNEN
eI

72019512 8318 » & 722,200,000
1 B8 B% # (20184 : Z)( R Ff 5225)
EEREENE  HNAE L AR
ENMETHRERSTTEEZSE
B - BRI E B EEESED
AARBMH ZFHMEDERERE
PEAE BT SNARI A T 35 TR{E ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI

A REIR)
12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 ME- -BERSKE
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) FREEHIER
Electronic
Lands and Office Motor and other
buildings equipment vehicles equipment Total
ETR
THREF BARE RE Hit% @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT AR®TR AR®Tt ARETR
Cost: BA:
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1 A1H 64,367 1,549 6,300 590 72,806
Additions NE - 199 780 280 1,259
Disposals & - - - 92) 92)
Exchange adjustments L - - 126 9 135
At 31 December 2018 and 72018512 A31A
1 January 2019 R2019F1 A1H 64,367 1,748 7,206 787 74,108
Additions NE = 79 1,877 21 2,227
Acquisition of subsidiaries Y H B A A = - - 1,315 1,315
Disposals & - (717) (1,661) (63) (2,441)
Exchange adjustments X AR = = 71 6 77
At 31 December 2019 A2019F12A31H 64,367 1,110 7,493 2,316 75,286
Accumulated depreciation: RIAHE:
At 1 January 2018 #2018%1818 (5,181) (1,184) (4,395) (464) (11,224)
Charge for the year FRZH (2,933) (137) (799) (88) (3,951)
Written back on disposals & - - - 83 83
Exchange adjustments L - - (116) @) (118)
At 31 December 2018 and 72018512318
1 January 2019 }20196151A (8,114) (1,321) (5,304) (471) (15,210)
Charge for the year FRZH (2,933) (124) (952) (465) (4,474)
Written back on disposals HERE - 659 1,599 57 2,315
Exchange adjustments (B 5 A% = = () @) (12)
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A31A (11,047) (786) (4,666) (882) (17,381)
Net book value: BREFE
At 31 December 2019 #2019F12731H 53,320 324 2,827 1,434 57,905
At 31 December 2018 #20184128318 56,253 427 1902 316 58,898

As at 31 December 2019, the Group was in the
process of applying the certificates of ownership for
certain properties with the net book value of

RMB31,411,000

(2018: RMB32,964,000).

The

directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
use of and the conduct of operating activities at the
properties referred to above are not affected by the
fact that the Group has not yet obtained the
relevant property title certificates.
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2019512 A31H * A& E [F & H
EROMERNFTERES  ZSWE
B BR mOF B A A K #31,411,0007C
(20184 : A R #32,964,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

& 6 M B o WG o)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12 X -BERSKEE)

(Continued)

(b) The analysis of net book value of right-of-use assets (b) FHATYE BERZEIZFEHE
included in “Property, plant and equipment” is as EEMREREFEITET :
follows:

31 December 1 January
2019 2019
20194 20194
12H31H 1H1H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREBFT
Ownership interests in leasehold M/ BI#1E B IR ER A
land and building held for ABRBHTHHOTZ
own use, carried at HE i RIEFHPTH#E
depreciated cost in the PRC, e
with remaining lease term of:
— 50 years or more — 50F sk A £ 53,320 56,253
13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13 REWE
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (@) FREEHR
RMB'000
AR TFIT
Valuation: fh{E :
At 1 January 2018 720181 H1H 29,880
Disposal & (10,732)
Fair value adjustment N EHE 4,495
Transfer to non-current assets held for sale EEEFIELENIERDEE (4,223)
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 72018512 H31H Kk2019F1 A1 H 19,420
Fair value adjustment N EFE 780
At 31 December 2019 201912 A31H 20,200

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI

13

194

AANREFIR)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties

(b)

(i)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s properties measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or
measurement date

liabilities at the

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and
not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

13 REWME(E)
(b) MEZLXFEHFE
() =HFEER
TRAFASEAEERREHR
BREREEEFEZYVERF
B BRERKEEWHHESERD
FIBRAFEAFEZEEZRA
FEINDS=EER ~FE
AEERTD2ER TG ERM
FHERBABIEZ TBREE
CEERES D :

- FEBAFE:EER
F-EREARE R
R ERRERRTS
EEHREBCORHAR) 2H
REEXBBEFERF
(=l

- F_EBAFGE ERASE
“EREABE RAE
HERINMEE —ER
P28 ABE - M3k
ERATABRZIERS
ABEFEQFE T
AR ABEBERTE
™5 8UIE Z A BUR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

& 6 M B o WG o)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 13 BEWME(E)
(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b) MEZAFEE(E)
(Continued)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued) () RFEERGE)
—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured - F-ERATH:ERTD
using significant unobservable inputs R 2EZH ASE
AEAFE

Fair value measurements as at
Fair value 31 December 2019 categorised into
at M2019512A318 2 &
31 December MAFETE
2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

20194

128318

HAFE - - o - B=E

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR¥TR AR¥TR AR%TxR

Investment properties R E IR E
in the PRC: ER
— Commercial - B 20,200 - - 20,200

Fair value measurements as at

Fair value 31 December 2018 categorised into
at 2018 12A31H H A
31 December BRFERNE
2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R20184F
12H31H
A TFE £—F 2-F £

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTRT ARETRT AR®BTR

Investment properties R BRI KR E
in the PRC: E
— Commercial - B% 19,420 - - 19,420
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI

13

196

AANREFIR)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties
(Continued)

(b)

()

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3
(2018: nil). The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which
they occur.

The Group’s investment properties were
revalued at fair value as at 31 December 2019
by an independent firm of surveyor, Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited (formerly
known as Unicorn Consulting and Appraisal
Limited), an independent valuer
relevant professional qualification and recent

who has

experience in the location and category of
properties being valued. The same valuation
techniques were used by this valuer when
carrying out the valuation as at 31 December
2018. The Group’s management
discussion with the surveyors on the valuation

have

assumptions and valuation results twice a year
for financial reporting.

13 REWME(E)

(b)

MEZXTFETEE)
() RAFEERGE)

HE2019F12A31B LFE -
BMERE—EBRAEF_ERZ
MHEE  TEEANETE
ZEH(2018F &) - A& H
ZHBRBEAFERELERER
MR RS AR LT
272 o

NE B 2" EYENR2019F
12A31B BB A 2RI1TA%
A KA S B R A B (A7 8
EHEARTHEERAR A
HAEEXER B BT
B b ER FE UM R (B 2 iR /)
B AEER) R A FEBRF
flr o Z A ERI#E 1720185 12 A
318 ER A AR A ER
fir - AEBEERE LN EMT
FRMBmETREERE
HEZBRMK -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(b)

Fair value measurement of properties

6 M B R K )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

13 REWE ()
(b) MEZLAFETEE)

(Continued)
(i) Information about Level 3 fair value (i) BEE=FERLFEATEHNE
measurements #
Range
i

Valuation Unobservable

techniques input 2018

{8 £ fir TABRGEAYE 20184

Investment properties:

REME

Direct market
comparison
approach

— Commercial — PRC

—Bx - FH

Adjusted market
price (RMB/
square meter)

BEEMBLEE KHEME

8,000-15,400 7,699-14,640

(BF I AKARE)

The fair value of investment properties located
in the PRC is determined using the direct
market comparison approach by reference to
recent sales price of comparable properties on
a price per square meter basis, adjusted for a
premium or a discount specific to the location,
property size and age of the Group’s

MNRFBENREMEAFED
EREEMSLBELENE
o B2 5 B 3T B 3 4 B AR (I
BYHAKEBRFABE)EE XL
B8 Hﬁiﬁ’iﬁﬁﬂi’%l%%
M E - MEKRNDRBERR
T’Eﬂjm{aiﬁ“ﬁﬂ%‘dwﬂé

properties compared to the recent sales. The MEMS  AFEFELS .
higher adjusted market price will result in a
higher fair value measurement.
The movements during the period in the ZEE-ERATEFELR
balance of these Level 3 fair value REAREET|H AT -
measurements are as follows:
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Investment properties in the KPP BEREE Y
PRC — Commercial — B
At 1 January »1A1H 19,420 28,600
Fair value adjustment N EFHE 780 4,129
Disposal & - (10,732)
Transfer to non-current assets & EH{EH S IE
held for sale mEN & E - (2,577)
At 31 December W12 H31H 20,200 19,420

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 13 REWME(E)
(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b) MEZAFEE(E)
(Continued)
(i) Information about Level 3 fair value (i) BEE=FERLFEAENE
measurements (Continued) #(E)

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETFT

Investment properties in REBEMEEDNE — =%
the PRC — Residential

At 1 January M1A1H - 1,280
Fair value adjustment NEEFAE = 366
Transfer to non-current EREER/EHENIERD
assets held for sale BE - (1,646)
At 31 December M12H31H = -
(c) The analysis of net book value of right-of-use assets () FTAIREMEIZEAEEENRK
included in “Investment properties” is as follows: HFEI>TET :

31 December 1 January
2019 2019

20194 20194
12A31H 1H1H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREBFT

Ownership interests in leasehold  RHBEIZAFEARABHT
investment property carried at HEMT 2 HEREYE

fair value in the PRC, with WP HERE AR

remaining lease term of:

— 50 years or more — 50F gk A E 13,400 12,920
— between 10 and 50 years — 102504F 27 & 6,800 6,500

20,200 19,420
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14

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(d)

The Group leases out investment properties under
operating leases. The leases typically run for an
initial period of 1 to 10 years, with an option to
renew the lease upon expiry of the initial term.
Lease payments are usually increased every year to
reflect market rentals. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN  LAREIITR)

13 REWE (&

(d)

AEERBEEZHOLEREY
X-BO—RNT/HB—ZE+5F
EERVSEBERGEE B
REBmHEEKFE  BONKBE
REEM - ERNBRIEER ¢

14 RHBARMNKRE

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREEFT T
Unlisted shares, at cost (note (i) JEEMBEGD - LA

(M 3E)) 23,784 23,264

Capital loans to subsidiaries (note (i) # FTHEARIMNELER
(B 3 (i) ) 545,546 521,612
569,330 544 876

Before the Reorganisation, Huizhou Yuefu Real Estate
Co., Ltd. (“Huizhou Yuefu”) and Huizhou Million
Cities Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Huizhou
Million Cities”) were indirectly non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group.

According to the Reorganisation, on 28 June
2018, the Company further acquired 4.99%
equity interests in Huizhou Yuefu and 5% equity
interests in Huizhou Million Cities from Wong Ting
Chung at considerations of RMB19,760,000 and
RMB2,625,000 respectively.

The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have
no fixed terms of repayment, and are expected to
be recovered after one year.

The following tables list out the information relating
to Huizhou Million Cities, the subsidiary of the Group
which have material non-controlling interests (“NCI”).
The summarised financial information presented
below represents the amounts before any inter-
company elimination.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

B BMNTHEFHEERA
m ([FMNEE D REIMNT S HEH
ERZEARAR(EMER]) SA
SEMEFZEMBAR -

B 1% & 48 N2018F6H28H * &
ARIRTEREBRBEEMNEE X
BN E W 4.99% 5% HE - RE D
Bl A A R #19,760,0007T & A R #
2,625,0007T °

BHRAEEWN 2ERTEETE
K BER-FREE -

TRINLBEEHRAEERNFERES
([PRHERER]) 2 NEE M E R 7
BMNEBHZER - AT 252875
ERMERETMAREYHEN 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M WoR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI
14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

AANREFIR)

(Continued)
(iy  (Continued)

14 RMBATINIRE (&)

Gy (#&)

200

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE® TR ARBTFT
Huizhou Million Cities EMEBH
NCI percentage FEERER BT 45.5% 45.5%
Current assets mEEE 1,552,672 1,673,683
Non-current assets ERBEE 13,152 14,029
Current liabilities mENAE (1,341,072 (1,492,037)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (23,113) (17,116)
Net assets BEFH 201,639 178,559
Revenue LN 107,891 249,681
Profit for the year F s A 23,079 50,201
Total comprehensive income 2H W R 23,079 50,201
Reconciliation to the carrying FEREZREEYER
amount of NCI
Gross amounts of net assets of MEBAR FEERT
subsidiary 201,639 178,559
Elimination of the unrealised profit upon & 4f 1% #ifi % & & 35 % 7
consolidation (7,849) —
193,790 178,559
NCI's effective interest SEERERAGERER 45.5% 45.5%
Carrying amount of NCI FEREREEE 88,174 81,244
Reconciliation to the profit FERESEMER
attributable to NCI IR
Gross amounts of profit of subsidiary M B 2 &% | 4 58 23,079 50,201
Elimination of the unrealised profit upon & 4f 18 #ifl & & & 35 % 7
consolidation (7,849) —
15,230 50,201
NClI’s effective interest FERERMGERER 45.5% 45.5%
Profit allocated to NCI DR FEFE IR 2 2 5 A 6,930 22,841
Cash (outflow)/inflow from EEBRE (),
operating activities A (1,169) 587,605
Cash inflow from investing activities KEFBHEEN 66 39,971
Cash outflow from financing activites Bt & & EIR & 7 (250,175) (86,744)
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INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6 M B R K )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN  LAREIITR)

15 RBEQNTNES

The following list contains the particulars of all associates,
all of which are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted
market price is not available:

Ti%ﬁlJHji’ii%élFJ:ﬁ“’ ERBIET

BREZHMABERRNER:

Proportion of

ownership interest

BEEREZLH
Form of Place of Particulars of
business incorporation issued and  Held by the Held by a
Name of associate structure and business paid-up capital Company subsidiary Principal activity
AR AL R BRTKR M H
BeNTEM ES Y- 5 S 51 BRRARE AREKE WELARKE TEEBED
Gold Concept Incorporated Hong Kong USD100 - 30% Investment holding
Bz & 100% T = 30% REER
Asia Image* Incorporated Hong Kong HKD1 - — Investment holding
fas BRli1Zav £ 1B = - RE#ER
Henan Julongju* Incorporated PRC HKD20,000,000 - — Property development
MERER BRI Av HE 20,000,0007% 7T - - MEER
Henan Julongwan Property Incorporated PRC RMB20,000 - — Property management
Management Co., Ltd.*
MERRANEERERAF #fiRu H AR #20,0007T = - NXEER
* These companies are wholly-owned by Gold Concept. * 2% A F HGold Concept® EHEA
# These entities are PRC limited liability companies. The G ZEBRBRTEAEREEAR - AA)E
English translation of the companies’ names are for VEZEH2E . ':F‘X%Z% B 7‘;‘%%% °
reference only. The official names of these companies are
in Chinese.
All associates are accounted for using the equity method FRABA NG IS ERE AT KR E
in the consolidated financial statements. ABE o

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBATAEN - LAREGR)

15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Management considers that Gold Concept together with
its subsidiaries have
significant impact to the financial position and
performance of the Group individually. The summarised
consolidated financial information on these associates,
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and
reconciled to the carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements for the year is as follows:

15

(“Gold Concept sub-group”)

REERNTINER(F)
BB EBR AGold ConceptE[REK B A
7] ([ Gold Conceptlf & & @) # o Bl &
AEBNHBERARRRELEEARAY
B ZEWMENRRAVBERBE (3
EHBRENAMNE2ELABRLERNEF
ERAVBRENEDESHR) S50
s ¢

Gold Concept sub-group
Gold Conceptffi B £ E

2019 2018
2019% 20184
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ T ARETFT
Gross amounts of associates BENT 2 EEE
Current assets mEEE 967,905 470,465
Non-current assets EREBEE 4,119 4,187
Current liabilities mEaE (987,448) (487,037)
Deficit in equity 1 2 B Al (15,424) (12,385)
Revenue A 21,073 —
Loss for the year FANBHE (1,080) (8,352)
Other comprehensive income HE2miks (1,959) (3,457)
Total comprehensive income EHWEBRE (3,039) (11,809)
Reconciled to the Group’s HEAEEREEATNER
interest in associates R
Gross amounts of net liabilities of BENRFABERSE
associates (15,424) (12,385)
Group’s effective interest REBEEREZR 30% 30%
Group’s share of net liabilities of AEBEEBERAFAR
associates gl (4,627) (3,715)
Capital loans to associates BTHBERNRNESER
— non-current portion (note) — FEREE D (FFFE) 108,768 108,291
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEEREZMERE
interest 104,141 104,576

As at 31 December 2019, Gold Concept sub-group were
of net liabilities due to the early stage of development.

202

2019512 H31H » B M Gold Concept
MBEEERERVEE WEBE
BEFBAMRA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN  LAREIITR)

15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 REEERTINER(F)

Note: In 2017, the Group provided capital loans of MsE: 2017 A& B 5l WA /@5
RMB87,000,000 and HKD300,000 (equivalent to FREEXEERAG(IERERED
approximately RMB251,000) respectively to Henan Julongju EtEeEEB AR 2IATHED
Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Henan Julongju”) and Asia Image RMEE S E R AR 87,000,000
(H.K.) Limited (“Asia Image”). In 2018, the Group provided 7C }%300,000% 7T (& KN #H A K
an additional shareholder’s loan of HKD24,000,000 #£251,0007T) ° 2018%F + 7~ & @ @
(equivalent to approximately RMB21,040,000) to Gold Gold Concept Development Limited
Concept Development Limited (“Gold Concept”). The ([ Gold Concept ) IRt BN R E
amount was paid by Winnermax Management Limited on 3X24,000,0007% 7T (FH & RO AR
behalf of the Group, and was included in amounts due to 21,040,0007T) - B AR IEHEE &
related parties which were capitalised on 20 December BERARIRKASEELZM 5t AR
2018 (note 27(b)(i)). The balances are unsecured, interest- 201812208 & A1k &Y & 1 8 5t
free and have no fixed terms of repayment, and are 77 #E (B aE27(0)() ) © B B4 e IR
expected to be recovered after one year. - B K I £ B E R K E - TEER A

R—F /U m -
16 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES 16 REERTNER

2019 2018

20194 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR AREEFTT

Share of net assets DIHEEFE 5,240 5,557
Capital loans to joint ventures BKTAERAINESER

(note) (B 5E) 59,456 58,440

64,696 63,997

Note: The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed

terms of repayment, and are expected to be recovered
after one year.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

B EE

ERREER %8RI EEEER
B FHR—FRKDE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M WoR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

16

204

INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES

(Continued)

Details of the Group’s interest in joint ventures as at 31
December 2019, which is accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements, are as

follows:

16 REE LA AMWES

(#)

R2010F12A31H K B & & 2 A

CRNNE

Proportion of
ownership interest

BEEREZLA
Form of Particulars of
business issued and Held by the Held by a
Name of joint venture structure paid-up capital Company subsidiary Principal activity
BRETR FUNG| KEBARE
RERNTER EBEBREA BRRAFE f&E A TEEH
Well Kong Investments Limited Incorporated usb2 - 50% Investment holding
BEARERARLA Bz EEGEARKS 2XTT = 50% 1#REER
Well Kong (H.K.) Limited* Incorporated HKD10,000 - — Investment holding
BREB)ERAR Ak 3z 10,0007 7T - - REER
Huizhou Well Kong Real Estate Co., Incorporated RMB88,000,000 - — Property development
Ltd.*
ENEREEERAA T Ak 32 A K #88,000,0007T - - MEEE
* These companies are wholly-owned by Well * ZERNTHEBREBER A 2EH
Investments Limited. A
i The entity is PRC limited liability company. The English # ZEBRTEABEREMERR - REIEX
translation of the company name is for reference only. The ERERSE PNEREHFEH-
official name of the company is in Chinese.
All joint ventures in which the Group participates are AEELENMEGE AR AT ENS

unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market price is

not available.

REMFLTEEER

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES 16

(Continued)

Summarised financial

information of Well

Kong

Investments Limited and its subsidiaries (“Well Kong sub-

group”), adjusted for any differences

in accounting

policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

REERANER(

)

BAEAREARAAREMB AR ([EE
o 8 &= B 1) w0 3L 5k A 75 B R K B 4R A B
BREANKEAEHRREOT 25E
AR EREREHHE

Well Kong sub-group
EENEE®

2019
20194

RMB’000
AR®T

Gross amounts of the joint
ventures

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Equity

Included in the above assets and
liabilities:

Cash and cash equivalents and
pledged and restricted deposits

Non-current financial liabilities

Revenue

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

Included in the above loss:
Interest income
Income tax credit

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

BELRMNAE

mEEE
FRBEE
iEBS YT
FERBEIE
ot

tREENABBERRE

BehReEEHM
EHEAEZ R FR
FRBEREE

WA
FAERE

H b 2 W=
HEHKEARE

BRI
S A
Pt e

1,948,763
19,945
(1,168,802)
(779,900)
20,006

573,946
(779,900)

55,147
(2,912)
(1,939)
(4,851)

964

2018
20184
RMB’000

AR®TTT

1,177,018
14,763
(819,178)
(360,000)
12,603

10,065
(360,000)

(3,619)
(3,990)
(7,609)

121
1,164
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M WoR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

16

206

INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES 16 REELTINER(Z)
(Continued)
Well Kong sub-group
EENBER
2019 2018
2019 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T
Reconciled to the Group’s HEAEEREELTANER
interest in joint ventures ZEER
Gross amounts of Well Kong sub- BEAENBEBFEERLTE
group’s net assets 20,006 12,603
Elimination of the unrealised profit B PHE bR R IR % 7
upon consolidation (9,525) (1,489)
10,481 11,114
Group’s effective interest AEEMERM X 50% 50%
Group’s share of Well Kong sub- REBD(HEBWBEE
group’s net assets FEE 5,240 5,557
Amounts due from joint ventures EW & & R AIRIE
— non-current portion — EmBE D 59,456 58,440
Carrying amount in the consolidated 434 B IR X A A BE A E
financial statements 64,696 63,997

Million Cities Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6 M B R K )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)
17 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT 17 FERHEMEHARK
COSTS

2019 2018

20194 20184

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARBTR AREBTFT

Inventories 78
Properties held for development RIEEEME 38,301 38,301
Properties under development BRPME 1,660,794 1,215,175
Completed properties for sale FECRIWE 545,625 418,822
2,244,720 1,672,298
Other contract costs b= A= RN (©) 26,868 15,977
2,271,588 1,688,275
(a) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised () EREMIVFABZNTFESRE
as an expense and included in profit or loss is as DI
follows:
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR AR T T
Cost of inventories FERKAK 219,989 301,533
At 31 December 2019, the amount of inventories MR2019F12831H » FEEAN B E —
expected to be recovered after more than one year FrUBNGEESEINAARK
is RMB1,521,904,000 (2018: RMB1,168,816,000). All 1,521,904,0007T (20184 : A K #&
of the other inventories are expected to be 1,168,816,0007T) - FT B H b 7 &
recovered within one year. FEE R —F AKE -
At 31 December 2019, certain inventories were E’\2019¢12H 1A - ETFTHFEER
pledged for bank loans (see note 23). RITERELHER (R MEE23) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

&8 M R MR
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

17 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT
COSTS (Continued)

17 GEREMEHIRAE(EZ

(b) The analysis of carrying value of land held for property (b) FHEHFEMEBEIHMNEEREE
development for sale is as follows: DHAT
31 December 1 January
2019 2019
2019 2019%F
12A31H 1H1H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T T
In the PRC, with remaining RAPAE - FBRERS
lease term of:
— 50 years or more — 50F sk A E
(long leases) (KHMEA) 267,391 300,249
— between 10 and 50 years — 10E50%F 2
(medium-term leases) (R EBFE4Y) 62,476 62,476
329,867 362,725
(c) Other contract costs (c) EMEHRAE

Other contract costs capitalised as at 31 December
2019 relate to the incremental sales commissions
paid to property agents whose selling activities
resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group’s properties
which are still under development as at 31
December 2019.

Other contract costs are recognised as part of
“selling expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the period in which revenue from the
related property sales is recognised. Other contract
costs of RMB548,000 were recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2019
(2018: Nil). No impairment was identified for the
other contract costs as at 31 December 2019
(2018: nil).

208

2019512318 BRI W E R E
IAMEEHERSBEME LK
REXRLE  BEVERENHEES
FFEXF R ASEBE2019F12A31H
MEZHMYEITLEERGE -

HEMSARARBEREAMEREE
W BER GBS RER A
ERXIN—35 - HLEHMAEA
K #548,0007T 7 # £20195F12 A
318 IE F E #Y18 7 #E 3R (20184
T) o W & 3 I A £20199F12 531
HE E & # KA I 3R R (B (2018
F )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT

COSTS (Continued)

(c)

Other contract costs (Continued)

The Group applies the practical expedient in
paragraph 94 of HKFRS 15 and recognises the
incremental costs of obtaining contracts relating to
the sale of completed properties and services as an
expense when incurred if the amortisation period of
the assets that the Group otherwise would have
recognised is within the same reporting period as
the date of entering into the contract.

The amount of capitalised contract costs that is
expected to be recovered after more than one year
were RMB21,101,000 as at 31 December 2019
(2018: RMB9,963,000).

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN  LAREIITR)

17 EERHEMBEHNRK(Z

(c)

Hitb & RAE (&)

AEBEACEEVBREEADS
165 EOAR M A TR 5 X
REE A BE R TR B E /) # 5H
HERIILABAANEBREERH®
TH-Z BRELERERREAR
BRIHEC R ENIRE A HRE

MR2019F12A31H » FEHI RN B iE —
FRWEMERN AR ABAR
#21,101,0007T (20184 : 9,963,000
JL) °

18 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 18 EH AR
The following table provides information about receivables TRINSBEEAREFEHNERFIBERE LN
and contract liabilities from contracts with customers: BEMHNER

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFTT
Receivables from contracts (BEEBMBmELER])
with customers within the scope E1FEBEANEF
of HKFRS 15, which are included BHIEWHRIE A
in “Trade and other receivables” [8 5 K H i & U 3K I8 |
(note 19) (M7E19) — 95
Contract liabilities — Receipt in AHEE - WEHEE
advance from property sales T8 U 3k 1,923,393 1,494,172

EBRNEBEETEPHRYMEHENTK - B
B AR E > (BN Y R I8 R B Bl & ) &)
RAEHMNBEEER ANBERXNAH
MERRBmER -

Contract liabilities represents payments received from
customers on sale of properties. A financing component
being the financing benefit from the receipt in advance is
recognised in the contract liabilities. Contract liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss when the related properties
are delivered.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT 209



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

18 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 18 BWEaEE

210

Movements in contract liabilities

BHNAEEES

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETFT

Balance at 1 January
Decrease in contract liabilities as a

result of recognising revenue during

the year that was included in the
contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year

Increase in contract liabilities as a
result of receipt in advance from
property sales during the year in
respect of properties still under

P1A1H & 8 1,494,172 71,281
EHNBERFNE

FAFHEHNAENSRE

TR A WA R

(213,391) (71,281)
AHEBERFARNI2H31
BIOAERNYEHEE
T8 I X i 12 0

construction as at 31 December 610,519 1,479,997
Increase in contract liabilities as a & B ERE AT TR A

result of accruing interest expense FT 2 ) B F 2 M 8

on receipt in advance 32,093 14,175
Balance at 31 December M12 A31H B 4 & 1,923,393 1,494,172
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

19 ESZRHMEWRE

2019 2018
2019% 2018%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBETT
Trade debtors (note (a)) JE W AR 3 (M 5% (a) )
— Sales of properties — YEHE - 95
— Gross rentals from operating lease — &KEHEEHSLE 332 323
332 418
Other debtors H b fE U F IR 1,890 7,449
Financial assets measured at BEBRKAFTENERMEE
amortised cost 2,222 7,867
Deposits (note (b)) e (MiEDb) 10,441 11,562
Prepayments (note (c)) T8 R IB (M 5E(c)) 84,913 156,496
97,576 175,925
All of the trade and other debtors are expected to be BB REMEKRREBERER R
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year. WElsERRER -

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M WoR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI

AANREFIR)

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

212

(a)

(b)

(c)

As at 31 December 2019, the ageing analysis of
trade debtors, based on the date the trade debtors
recognised, net of allowance for doubtful debts, is as
follows:

19 ESZRHEMERE

(a)

RIE (&)

M2019F12 8318 » fE W BE X (2
MBRREEB) ENEWERER
BEHMEERSTMT :

2019 2018

20194 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®E T AREET T

Within 1 month 18 AR 62 53
1 to 3 months 1231E A 90 90
3 to 6 months 3Z61E A 135 135
Over 6 months 6f& A LA + 45 140
332 418

The Group’s credit policy is set out in note 28(a).

As at 31 December 2019, no trade debtors were
past due (2018: nil). Based on experience,
management believes that no loss allowance is
necessary in respect of the trade debtors as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality.
The Group is of the view that the expected
irrecoverable trade debtors were insignificant. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

The balance mainly included the deposits paid for the
construction and development of properties.

At 31 December 2019, the balance mainly included
prepaid construction costs for properties development
of RMB69,474,000 (2018: RMB151,527,000),
and prepayments for VAT and surcharges with
an aggregated amount of RMB15,439,000 (2018:
RMB4,968,000).

(b)

(c)

AEEEERRHNME28() °

H E2019F 128318 » I £ E W BR
R HA (20184 « &) - A&k -
EEERSANEEEZLESFA
M AR EWR ARG IRIB R
BiE - ASERBEEEWE E
WEFHOKERE AEELER
REEBFETAERR -

FRERIZERAEERERY
Xefmre -

R2019F12A31H  ElEEHETE
PEMEERNBNEBERNEAAR
#69,474,0007T (201845 : AR
151,527,0007T) - i ER &M mnE
BIBRFKIES £ A AR 15,439,000

7t (20184 : AR ¥4,968,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

20 PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS

20 SHEFARZRHFR

2019 2018
20194 2018%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR TT
Pledged for mortgage arrangements Gt B X158 & PEE K I
of the property buyers (note (a)) (M 5% (a)) 35,270 28,959
Restricted deposits for the BES DR H TR
construction contracts (note (b)) (Fft 5% (b)) 358,675 458,054
Others Efb 9,019 —
402,964 487,013
Notes: B E
(a)  The balance represents cash deposits placed in banks to () HEHRETFHRRBRITHRESZS EAR

secure their mortgage loans granted to property buyers.
Such deposits will be released after the property
ownership certificates of the relevant properties are

passed to the banks.

(b)  The balance represents pre-sale proceeds to secure the (b)
future payments of the constructions of the Group’s
properties development projects. Such restricted deposits
will be released for the payments for construction costs of

RITRAFRR -

BRIk TR ARBR o

the related property development projects or upon

completion of the construction.

MEBRMBRBESOERSR - ZF
REeHRERNENSEMAREER

EREASEMERREABERARN
ROFEERBHE - ZEXREFRE
RARZNBRMERRERMREX

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 BEeERBREEEY
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise of: (a) BERBEESEEYERE:
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE TR AREFIT
Cash at bank and on hand TP EEFERNIRTR
denominated in: FEBE®
— RMB — AR 642,097 902,480
— HKD — BT 89,801 203,935
— UsD — X7 11 11
731,909 1,106,426

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 REeRBEEBYW(E)
(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to (b) BRBARAELERBSRESNY
cash generated from operation: iR :

2019 2018

20194 20184

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5 AR TR ARETIT

Profit before taxation B B¢ A s A 58,836 188,294
Adjustments for: e A&
Depreciation and 8 RO

amortisation 7(c) 5,773 3,951
Net (gain)/loss on disposal HEWE » HE & ED

of property, plant and (M=) BEFE

equipment 5 (225) 9
Net loss/(gain) on disposal HEREMENERE,

of investment properties (Yezs) ¥ 58 5 99 (5,450
Net gain on disposal of HEEtMEREEN KRS

other financial assets FEE 5 (367) (26)
Finance costs A& R A 7(a) 9,818 5,166
Interest income w2 WA 5 (13,893) (2,618)
Net valuation gain on BREMENHE R FE

investment properties 13(q) (780) (4,495)
Share of losses of SR E R AEE

associates 324 2,506
Share of losses of joint DEEERREE

ventures 1,456 1,809
Equity settled share-based — LARE 25 45 B A RR ) A E 1

payment expenses SHFAX 25(b) 4,087 —
Listing expenses FARAX 7(c) - 18,718
Net unrealised exchange REIMME N W3

gain (53) (29)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

& 6 M B o WG o)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 RERBEESEY (&)

(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to

(b) BRBEAGEFNEKEFRBTRENG

cash generated from operation: (Continued) iR : (&)
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBET T
Changes in working capital: & & & ¢ &
Increase in inventories and FEREME LIBA
other contract costs 3N (526,665) (389,879)
Decrease/(increase) in trade & 5 & H th & g 5k 1B
and other receivables B (1) 78,355 (2,196)
Decrease/(increase) in B & 2R S 1F 3
pledged and restricted B (3E )
deposits 84,049 (459,494)
Increase in contract liabilities & £ & &1L i 391,867 1,408,788
(Decrease)/increase in trade B 5 K H b B~ 7 H
and other payables R A4), /18 on (54,419) 76,809
Cash generated from REMBRE
operations 38,262 841,863

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M WoR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BERTHIN  AAREETR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 BEeERBRESEEW(E)
(Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) METHFELXEENYHE

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from

TRAJNASEREZDNELR
Be@s BREAS LIRS E
H-REEDHELANEBBEARESR

financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows EFARAKRERENBE  LHHE
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the EBREEHMBReRET ALE
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as ErmEeREeamEx-

cash flows from financing activities.

Bank loans Amounts due

and interest to related
payables parties Total
FE 13 $R 1T P& 13
EXRFAE BB 5 R IE wmEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR¥T ARE TR
(note 31(c))
(Fff5E31(c))
At 1 January 2019 R2019%1 818 550,407 416,307 966,714
Changes from financing BMERSRELH !
cash flows:
Proceeds from bank loans RITE RIS HIE 55,000 - 55,000
Repayment of bank loans & Zafﬁ TER (290,155) - (290,155)
Advances from related parties BBt 5 # 5% - 27,333 27,333
Repayment to related parties 18 iE B8 /5 718 = (107,298) (107,298)
Interest paid on bank loans EIRITERFE (26,266) - (26,266)
Total changes from financing BIER S REEH)
cash flows @ (261,421) (79,965) (341,386)
Exchange adjustments BN AR (157) 5,095 4,938
Other changes: ﬁﬂhﬁiﬂ :
Interest on bank loans BITERFE
(note 7(a)) (M 5E7(a )) 25,463 - 25,463
Other non-cash effect EMIE e - 3,508 3,508
Total other changes Hith B4R 25,463 3,508 28,971
At 31 December 2019 201912 A31H 314,292 344,945 659,237
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 RERBEESEY (&)
(Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c)
financing activities (Continued)

METBHFELERENERE)

Bank loans  Amounts due
and interest to related
payables parties Total
& ER 1T JE 1
BEREFE B 5 KA Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT ARBFIT ARBT T
(note 31(c))
(B 3E31(c))
At 1 January 2018 7A2018%F181H 299,317 958,130 1,257,447
Changes from financing MERERERS
cash flows:
Proceeds from bank loans R1TE RS A 330,357 — 330,357
Repayment of bank loans BERBRTER (80,700) — (80,700)
Advances from related parties BB 75 2K — 36,920 36,920
Repayment to related parties {2 % BBt 5 20E — (204,302) (204,302)
Interest paid on bank loans EIRITERFE (18,509) - (18,509)
Total changes from financing B ZR&R=EEF
cash flows k) 231,148 (167,382) 63,766
Exchange adjustments B 5 AR (488) (3,388) (3,876)
Other changes: Hih@ g :
Interest on bank RITERF B
loans (note 7(a)) (MF7E7(a)) 20,430 - 20,430
Deemed distribution to AR R 72k
shareholders (note 24(c)) (M 7E24(c)) — 65,443 65,443
Investment in subsidiaries RH B A RIBKRE
(note 14()) (M 3E14G)) — 22,385 22,385
Capitalisation of shareholders’ R R B 7 & A1k
loans (note 27(b)(i)) (M #E27(D)(0) ) — (478,662) (478,662)
Other non-cash effect HiERew®E — 19,781 19,781
Total other changes Hin @8 A% 20,430 (371,053) (350,623)
At 31 December 2018 7R2018F12 A31H 550,407 416,307 966,714

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

22

23

218

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
entered
independent third party purchasers in relation to the
disposal of certain investment properties. The Group
transferred these investment properties into non-current
assets held for sale as at 31 December 2018. The
disposal has been completed during the year ended 31
December 2019. There were no non-current assets held
for sale as at 31 December 2019.

into sale and purchase agreements with

BANK LOANS
This note provides information about the contractual
terms of the Group’s bank loans. For more information
about the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, please
refer to note 28(c).

22

23

BFELHENERBDEE

H E2018F12A31B L FE - A £ E 5t
HERTREMFEEBILE=FTERE]
T EE WS - N20185F12A310 KA & &
BZERENEEBE RFBFELENIER
FEE -BELEEREE2019F12H
318 It F E 5T K ° R2019F12A318 -
WHRFELENIERBEE -

RITEM

B 4R 4 R S BRI B AR M0 B MO 1R K
MIEMEN - EHASENEARNE
LER - 2B E28() -

2019 2018

20194 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARET T

Secured A 288,152 460,794
Unsecured 4 4 24,950 87,620
313,102 548,414

The secured bank loans are secured by assets below:

BEMRITERIN T EEEER

Inventories (note 17(a)) FE (KtiF17(a)

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tx AREETIT
917,390 600,220

At 31 December 2019, the secured bank loan of
RMB103,362,000 (2018: RMB96,316,000) was guaranteed
by related parties (see note 31(d)).

M20195F12A31H - A E # R 17 B &
A R #108,362,0007T (20184 : A B #&
96,316,0007T) 9 78 Bt 75 #& (R (R MY 52
31(d)) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

23 BANK LOANS (Continued)

At 31 December 2019, the bank loans were interest-
bearing at 110% and 130% of the benchmarked loan
interest rate published by the People’s Bank of China
(“RMB Loan Benchmark Rate”) or at one-year Loan Prime
Rate (“LPR”) published by the People’s Bank of China
plus 1.2% per annum.

At 31 December 2018, the bank loans were interest-
bearing at 110% and 130% of the RMB Loan Benchmark
Rate or at Hong Kong Inter Bank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”)
plus 4% per annum.

The Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment
of certain covenants which are commonly found in lending
arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group were
to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would
become payable on demand. Further details of the
Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note
28(b). There was no breach of covenants as of 31
December 2019 (2018: nil).

At 31 December 2019, bank loans were repayable as
follows according to the repayment schedules as set out
in the loan agreements:

23

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

RITER(E

MNo019%F 128310  $ETFEHE B g
BEARBITAMGHEEERNR (AR
BEREEMEK])110%K%130% 3K 12 H
BARRITAME —FHERERFR
(TERERFIR]) INFE1.2%:1 5 ¢

R2018%F12A31H  SRITE R AR
BE A E R R110% K 130%ET B 8k iR
BEABRTRAFERE(EBERITEAER
B)INFEBA4%ETE -

AEERMBRITRHEEENE TRFEH A
EE FHELERNEEBEBNEESR
P ER -WASEEERTHE  BIRIE
ERBZEREZE - BELASERHE
© Bk E R R FE IS E M 5E28(b) - B E
2019F 12 A31 A W & 2 x 55 (20184 ¢
T)o

MR2019F12 A31H 1B & 7% 1% =% BT &
BREERBTERAZUATEEES

2019 2018
20194 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T ARETFT

Within 1 year —F K 168,462 288,762
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMRFTR 123,377 154,775
After 2 years but within 5 years MEZBRAFR 21,263 104,877
313,102 548,414

Notwithstanding the specified repayment schedules as
stated in the facilities letters which allow the loans to be
repaid over a period of more than one year, banking
facilities granted to the Group include a clause that gives
the bank an unconditional rights to call the bank loans at
any time (“repayment on demand clause”). The bank
loans subject to the repayment on demand clause
amounted to RMB313,102,000 as at 31 December 2019
(2018: RMB460,794,000) were classified as current
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

BEMERGMABEERNRHERS
FEFNERRBEA—F HEAEE
ERNBITRERBBKRAFRITAUE
BCHBEREREERTER(ERE
B g &) o M20195F12A318 » 18 #
DREERRAMEENRTERAA
K #313,102,0007T (2018F : A B #
460,794,0007T) * MR ERE BB AR AER
REARBAMGE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

24 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24 BEFRHEMENKE

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T

Current portion: REE D
Trade creditors (note (a)) & BR 5k (M 3% (a)) 188,214 174,936
Interest payables JE < F) B 1,190 1,993
Other payables and accruals EMEMNREREGTER 74,655 136,155
Amounts due to related parties JE 1< B8 gt 5 3k 38 (FfY 5% (o) )
(note (b)) 274,202 349,162
Financial liabilities measured at NS ATTENERBE
amortised cost 538,351 662,246
Financial guarantee issued B3 H e B B R
(note 30(ii)) (B #E30(i) ) 5,810 2,682
544,161 664,928
Non-current portion: FREED :
Amounts due to related parties J& 1<) [ Bee 75 5k 38 (Bt 5%(c) )
(note (c)) 70,653 67,145
Financial guarantee issued B3 8 B RS E AR
(note 30(ii)) (Bf #E30(i) ) 3,088 4,108
73,741 71,253
617,902 736,181
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

24 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Ageing analysis of trade creditors included in trade and
other payables as at 31 December 2019, based on the
date of the trade payables recognised:

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B R B ATH -
24 ESRHEMBENREGE

GEE

AANREFIR)

(a) H2019F12A31HIZERRE ZE K
HHHZENERGIABR S R HAE

N 3RIR) B BR R D AT

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETF T
Within 3 months 3ME A K 173,135 157,633
3 to 6 months 3%61E A 1,363 148
6 to 12 months 62121E A 29 98
Over 12 months 121@ A BA 13,687 17,057
188,214 174,936

Current portion of the amounts due to related parties are b) ENEBIRENRSIS AEE &

interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand.

Pursuant to the capital injection agreement between
Huizhou Yuefu and its shareholders signed on 25 June
2018 (the “Agreement”), an amount of RMB65,443,000,
representing the sum of the retained profits as at 31 May
2018 and the estimated unrealised gain arising from the
May 2018, should be
distributed to the original shareholders at their original
equity interest in Huizhou Yuefu before the capital
injection. The balance was initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently stated at amortised cost. The balance is
unsecured and expected to be settled upon disposal of
the relevant inventories.

unsold inventories as at 31

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

AR BEREEE -

(c) MREFEINI Z B Ej% R K2018F6 825
AEFIHEE B ([ZHZE]) » 2018F
5A318 2 {R&E & Kk2018F5A31H 2

R I A R R

BAFA

R #65,443,0007T FE 1R ¥ £ & Al IR A %
RATFEMNE S RREL G R EED
ko BV S IE AT ERR  HERE
BRACANPIER o AEeR I I B FE AR

HEFEELKRES -

221



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

&8 M R MR
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 25 UEBEEUROR/ERNS

TRANSACTIONS

On 29 March 2019, 23,700,000 share options were
granted for nil consideration to the directors and certain
employees of the Group under the Company’s employee
share option scheme. The share options have a term of
10 years commencing from 29 March 2019, or until the
early termination of the share options in accordance with
the share option scheme. Each option gives the holder
the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of the
Company. These share options will vest in 3 equal
tranches in three years, and become exercisable until 28
March 2029. The exercise price is HKD1.362, being the
weighted average closing price of the Company’s ordinary
shares for five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant.

(@) The major terms and conditions of the share
options are as follows:

Number of

instruments  Vesting conditions

TEBE BEGH

201943 A29A + 23,700,00017 8 A% #E 18
BEARRREEBERETEIUNZRERT
EENAEBEE -ZEFERETR
201993 A29H B10FN1T{E * KB ER
EEBREASRIKRLEIERE - 508
PR HEIFEARE " BRARATE
B - ZEEREBER =20 =%
BB H E2029%3H28B 1A 1T1F » 17
FEA13628 T EEREBHR
FAEEHAQREER Z NEFH KT

& -

(@) BRENETEERABRMEEDT

Exercise period

T4

Options granted to directors:

A & 1% A B AR 4
— on 29 March 2019 5,000,000 1 year from the date of grant 29 March 2020 to
28 March 2029
— 201993 H29H KHE B —F 202053 H29H &
202943 H28H
— on 29 March 2019 5,000,000 2 years from the date of grant 29 March 2021 to
28 March 2029
— 201943H29H R HHRMRE 202153H29H &
202943 F28H
— on 29 March 2019 5,000,000 3 years from the date of grant 29 March 2022 to
28 March 2029
— 201953A29H REBHE=F 20223 A29R &
202953 H28H
Options granted to employees:
A& B X i /) B8 iR
— on 29 March 2019 2,900,000 1 year from the date of grant 29 March 2020 to
28 March 2029
— 201953A29H REBHRE—F 20203 A29R &
202943 H28H
— on 29 March 2019 2,900,000 2 years from the date of grant 29 March 2021 to
28 March 2029
— 201993H29H R HHREMRE 2021563A29H &=
202943 H28H
— on 29 March 2019 2,900,000 3 years from the date of grant 29 March 2022 to
28 March 2029
— 201953AH29H REAHE=F 20223 A29H =
202943 F28H

Total share options granted

R A B I R B

23,700,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN  LAREIITR)

25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 25 UEBEEURORERNRS

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b) Movement of share options during the year
ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:

(&)
(b)

B E2019F12A31B L FE ' B
PRAESBHMT :

2019
20194
Weighted
average Number of
exercise price options
bn#E
FIGITEE EREHE
000
T 17
Outstanding at 1 January P1A1E M RITHE — -
Granted during the year FAFE M HKD1.36278 7T 23,700
Forfeited during the year F R HKD1.3625 7T (1,500)
Outstanding at 31 December P12 A31H MR 1TE HKD1.3627 7T 22,200
Exercisable at the end of the HAR AT 1T
period HKD1.3627% 7T —

No options were exercised during the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: nil).

The options outstanding at 31 December 2019 had
an exercise price of HKD1.362 and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 9.2 years.

The Group recognised share-based payment

expenses of RMB4,087,000 during the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: nil).

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

HZE2019F12A31A L EE X |17
] BB PIEHE (20185 : &) o

201912 A31H » i A& 77 1F 05 A 4
1T B A1.3628 T » Jn#E F 15 F
BRE L FH A.2F -

H E2019F12A31H ILFE - K&

BEmARABRODITHEHIARK
4,087,0007T (20185 : &) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M WoR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREHTHN - LARBFIR)

25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 25 LIREZEEURDAERNORS
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (&
(c) Fair value of share options and assumptions (c) BRENLAFERRBRR

224

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair
value of share options granted. The estimate of the
fair value of the share options granted is measured
based on a binomial lattice model. The contractual
life of the share option is used as an input into this
model. Expectations of early exercise are
incorporated into the binomial lattice model.

Fair value of share options and assumptions

Fair value at measurement date (HKD)

Share price (HKD)

Exercise price (HKD)

Expected volatility (expressed as weighted average
volatility used in the modelling under binomial
lattice model)

Option life (expressed as weighted average life
used in the modelling under binomial lattice
model)

Expected dividends

Risk-free interest rate

The expected volatility is based on the historical
volatility of similar entities following a comparable
period in their lives (calculated based on the
weighted average remaining
options), adjusted for any expected changes to
future volatility based on publicly available
information. Expected dividends are based on the
mean dividend yield of an appropriately comparable
peer group. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.

life of the share

Share options were granted under a service
condition. This condition has not been taken into
account in the grant date fair value measurement of
the services

conditions associated with the share option grants.

received. There were no market

A BB AR T W ER B AR 7% X B
D2BEREBRENQFEG
E-DREBEBRENRFELRE
“HEAHERAGE - BRENS
WERBERNRANEAZRE - 12
BOENRHCMA-BAREE

:_Et o
BREYAFHERRBRR
FEHHHRFEGET 0.401-0.478
ARE (B T) 1.330
TEECET) 1.362
TR iR (A — B R B R
FiT FA N T 19 % 18 & 8D
44.22%
BHFBRAZBEAREER
FrAmiEFEHFEHRERR) 10 years
104F
TE AR B 4.06%
%H&u 1.47%

BHREDRIEFRAE RN AN
P AT e B (32 8 B #E o0 # 7 19 &
ﬁ%iﬂ;ﬁﬁ%—)ﬁ’ﬂﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁ iR

PR E i T8 H # E f7T R SRR
fb“‘“{t;ﬂ%‘ BHERENREEE

FAAA LR E e PR S REE -
EBRHRBRNEDTABYEA
T -

R T RIB RIS IR R B - B R
3 AP BR 7S A 3% H B B ey
RNFEFE o B B &R
5 R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) Current taxation in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents:

& 6 M B o WG o)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

26 REEUBMRRRNFAER

(a) RE&ES VBN KRB IR -

2019 2018

20194 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AR T T

CIT payable R EMEH 13,361 17,412
LAT payable FE A £ b 1B E R 42,071 46,289
55,432 63,701

Prepaid tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents:

REREMBRRROFENABIRRE

2019 2018

20194 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR AR T

Prepaid CIT BN EMER 68,273 54,490
Prepaid LAT FEfT L b E TR 25,686 15,892
93,959 70,382

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M WoR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:
(i) Movement of each component of deferred
tax assets/(liabilities)
The components of deferred tax assets/
(liabilities) recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:
Temporary

Unused tax difference on

Revaluation on

REEHMBERRROAEHR (&
(b) ERBELHEAEERAE:
(i) fﬁﬁrﬁﬁ/%/(é &) & 415
PHED
EWF%Q%%%%%WE%

RELEHBEE(AF) HA

RE D M EZBMT

losses revenue investment ~ Unrealised ~ Other temporary
(note) recognition properties profits differences Total
ABARE
i WARZN Ef At
(M) LEFL RENE AERAR LEEL &3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETL  ARETR ARETL  ARETR
Deferred tax arising from: ~ EZHEFK .
At 1 January 2018 R018E1A1A8 1197 (3,204) (4,355 N 1647 (4,805)
Credited/(charged] to profit or  3F A/(31% &)
loss (note 8(a)) B (Mrizse) 1904 (26,129) (356) - 983) (25,564)
At 31 December 2018 R018E12A31R 3,101 (29,423) [4m) - 664 (30,369)
At 1 January 2019 R019E1A1A8 3,101 (29,423) (@711) - 664 (30,369)
Credited/(charged] to profit or  3F A/(31% &)
loss (note 8(a)) B (s 4,552 (2,854) 421 14,720 (160) 16,679
At 31 December 2019 R019512A31R 7,653 (32,217) (4,290) 14,720 504 (13,690)

Note: The unused tax loss can be carried forward to
offset against taxable profits of subsequent
years for up to five years from the year in
which they arose. These tax losses will expire
between 2020 to 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26 NZEEHMBERRROFABHR (E)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) ERRELEHREBEERES
(Continued) &)
(i) Movement of each component of deferred () EBEHEBEELE () F44
tax assets/(liabilities) (Continued) B2 E (E)
Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of RE B IEARR R E R
financial position:
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBET T
Representing: K&
Deferred tax assets BETIBEE 17,199 1,087
Deferred tax liabilities EXEIEAE (30,889) (31,456)
(13,690) (30,369)
(i) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (i) HABRYELZFHELE
As at 31 December 2019, deferred tax R2019%F12A31H  E@EA L

A8 2 =] AJ o0 o AR AR
EEMHNELHEA BILK

liabilities in respect of the dividend withholding
tax relating to the distributable profits of the

Company’s subsidiaries were not recognised
as the Company controls the dividend policy of
the subsidiaries. Based on the assessment
made by management as at 31 December
2019, it was determined that the distributable
profits of the Company’s subsidiaries would
not be distributed to the Hong Kong and
overseas holding companies in the foreseeable
future. The amounts of distributable profits of
the Company’s subsidiaries are set out below:

Distributable profits earned 71 B fft B A &1 7
by PRC subsidiaries on

or after 1 January 2008

200841 A1H 3k 7 1% Bt
BY B9 7] 4 9 K S48 )

FTUAER - ARERRQ AT %
ZHMBARIMREBEK - RIE
& 1 B ®2019F12A318 &
S - AR E B A A A
AN IR EMNEE R TERA]
B RmEEKEIMNERRAF]
DK o ANA A BB A | A A
DIERBEFNSEHINWT

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AREET T
248,145 184,556

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREABETHMN - AAREIITR)
27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(@) Movements in components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated

27 EXR-fEERE
(a) HBERBI 2T
AEBEAERSERTD HBED
RERGEH I EOHERREAE
HEHER - FNEELHBZHALD

228

statement of changes in equity. Details of the AIE R ERAEX BN EEFIEH
changes in the Company’s individual components of a0
equity between the beginning and the end of the
year are set out below:
Share
Share Share option  Exchange Accumulated
capital  premium reserves  reserves losses Total
Rx  ROEE BRERE EIRE 2t EE @t
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Wi  ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETn AREFTT ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2018 R2018F1 B1H Mt - - - 25 (752) (727)
Changes in equity for 2018 WIFNREEE D
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (20,828) (20,828)
Other comprehensive income L2 EkE - - - (3,009) - (3,009)
Total comprehensive income 2ENESE - - - (3,009) (20,828) (23,837)
Capitalisation of shareholders’ REEFERL
loans 27(b)l) ~ 478662 - - — 478682
Capitalisation issue ERLET 27(b)(i) 4,954 (4,954) - - - -
Shares issued upon IPO BRAREEREARG  27(0)i) 1,651 186,945 - - - 188,596
Balance at 31 December 2018 R2018F12A318 K
and 1 January 2019 201951 B1B M 6605 660,653 - (2,984) (21580) 642,694
Changes in equity for 2019 19FMEREE
Loss for the year ERESR = = - - (7,761) (7,761)
Other comprehensive income Hipz2 bR - - - 14,302 - 14,302
Total comprehensive income 2AENELE = = = 14,302 (7,761) 6,541
Equity settled share-based WEREEURN BER
transactions MR 5 = - 4,087 - - 4,087
Balance at 31 December 2019 #2019 123310 & ¢h 6,605 660,653 4,087 11,318 (29,341) 653,322
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 27 BEX -HERRE (£Z)
(Continued)
(b) Share capital (b) B

No. of shares Amount in

%4 & B ]
HKD
BT
Authorised share capital of the RATEERZA :
Company:
Ordinary share of HKD0.01 each BFRR0.01E Tz TRk
At 1 January 2018 20181 H1H 1,000,000 10,000
Increase in authorised share capital & & BX A< 0 1,999,000,000 19,990,000
At 31 December 2018, 2018128318 -

1 January 2019 and 2019F1A1H &

31 December 2019 201912 H31H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
The share capital in the Group’s consolidated KEBER2018F1 1B R A MR
financial statements as at 1 January 2018 XA AEAELSEE 7 E TR A
represented the aggregate amount of the paid-in LEHBRABE(EMBEAWNER
capital of the companies now comprising the Group B A& &) E A% 2018F &
after the elimination of investments in subsidiaries. 2019F12A31H Z AR KA A F
After the Reorganisation, the share capital as at 31 IR o

December 2018 and 2019, represented the share
capital of the Company.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT 229



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)
(b) Share capital (Continued)

27 EX-RERRE (&)

(b) MBRA&(E)

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: EBTRHEZER
No. of shares Amount in Amount in
Bt 43 8 B -] %]
HKD RMB
BT AR®TT
As at 1 January 2018 720181 A1H 1 - -
Issuance of share B fn 817 1 - —
Capitalisation of shareholders’ R EZHE K {t
loans (note (i) (B =EG)) 9,998 100 88
Capitalisation issue (note (ii)) &AL B 17 (&) 562,490,000 5,624,900 4,953,849
Shares issued upon PO BRARBEMET
(note (i) R An (BT = (i) ) 187,500,000 1,875,000 1,651,313
As at 31 December 2018, 72018124318 »
1 January 2019 and 2019F1A1H K
31 December 2019 2019F12A31H 750,000,000 7,500,000 6,605,250
Notes: B3 -

(i) Pursuant to a written resolution of the Company’s
sole shareholder passed on 26 November 2018, the
shareholders’ loans of HKD543,501,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB478,662,000) were capitalised
into 9,998 new shares of the Company.
Accordingly, the total number of shares of the
Company increased from 2 to 10,000 on 20
December 2018.

230

RAE A A B M — IR 3 7R 20184F 11
FAC6HBBHMEMAZER KR
B (543,501,000 7t (HHE R 4
A R #478,662,0007T) # F& & A
TR AE)9,9988 F AL 1D 0 {E M {E
QA IR B2 R 2f% 3 220184
12 A20H #J10,000/% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

Share capital (Continued)

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(i

(i)

Pursuant to a written resolution of the Company’s
sole shareholder passed on 26 November 2018, the
directors of the Company authorised to allot and
issue a total of 562,490,000 shares, by way of
capitalising the share premium of HKD5,624,900
(equivalent to approximately RMB4,954,000). The
capitalisation issue was completed upon listing (i.e.
20 December 2018). Accordingly, the total number
of shares of the Company further increased to
562,500,000 on 20 December 2018.

On 20 December 2018, the Company completed its
IPO by issuing 187,500,000 ordinary shares with par
value of HKD 0.01 each at a price of HKD1.20 per
share. Since then, the Company’s shares have been
listed on the Stock Exchange.

The total gross proceeds from the IPO amounted to
approximately HKD225,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB198,160,000), among which
HKD1,875,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB1,651,000) was credited to share capital and
HKD223,125,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB196,509,000) was credited to share premium,
net of share issuance expenses of HKD10,859,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB9,564,000).

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN  LAREIITR)

27 EX-RERKRE (&E)

(b) K& (&)
ERITRHUEEZBERRE (&)

et (&)

(i

(i)

B AR A R — IR R R20184F 11
FAocHBBEMEBMAZR A2
AEEREUNERGD KRB
5,624,900/ 7T (F8E RO AR
4,954,0007T) B B AR 75 R A
B N B 17 48 51562,490,0000% A%
15« EAR(EITHR £ e (B12018
F12H208) 7K - EMEARR A
B 1 48 8 B 12 £20184F12 5208
#9562,500,0000% °

MR2018F 128208 * AR & i 48
A& IR1.20% T &) B 1% % 17
187,500,0008% & A% M {B0.017%& 7T
RE@ERAN AT EARRE
I o -SRI B N e
Mo

BRAAHBEEMSRNARE
4 /225,000,000 JT(H & R
49 A B #198,160,0005T) © H
71,875,000/ T (M & B 4 A
R #1,651,0007T) 5F A B% &
223,125,000 7T (HHE R A R
#196,509,0007T ) £€ #0 Bk B% 17 8%
1753 210,859,000/ 7t (FHE R 4
A R #9,564,0007) & &t A B 12
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves

(c)

232

()

(ii)

(iii)

AANREFIR)

Statutory reserves

According to the PRC Company Law, the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
transfer 10% of their profit after taxation, as
determined under the PRC accounting
regulations, to statutory surplus reserve until
the reserve balance reaches 50% of the
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distribution of a dividend
to shareholders.

Statutory surplus reserve can be used to
reduce previous years’ losses, if any, and may
be converted into paid-in capital in proportion
to the existing equity interest of investors.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group transferred RMB9,859,000 (2018:
RMB2,107,000) of the current year’s net profit
of the Group, as determined in accordance
with the PRC accounting rules and regulations,
to this reserve.

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the Company’s share
premium account are distributable to the
shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall
due in the course of business.

Exchange reserves

The exchange reserves comprise all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of Hong
Kong and foreign operations to RMB. The
reserves are dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(v).

27 EX-RERRE (&)

(c)

MEMHEREN

(i)

(i)

(i)

EEWEE

REBEHFERRE - ARRAH
BIFT 8~ m AR IR BT B at
HOIEE R B IR 5 F10%E
BREZIERGBHE BEEHE
RBEREDEMEAN% - B
EZIE BRI AR BB T AR
o

BERBREET AR EEF
BRA) TARERRE
E R IRFELL B8 S B BB -

HE2019F12A31B LFE -
REBKBEPBESEHEL R
MOIFTEE 2 ANEEE F4LF
A K #9,859,0007T (20184 :
AR #2,107,0007T) 8 # = %
{1 o

K17 aE
RERESHESRAE MEER
PEEZIKEE BRARRIEESR
EXBBEPEEINRES
AIRRB A AR EEBRES
[ A R B, e

EXEE
IR B RREEE Mg
EBHMBEBREBAREHEL
B2 ERINE ZRR o % IR P
AE2(v) P 8 & AT BUR BE 3R ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv) Share option reserve
Capital reserve comprises the portion of the
grant date fair value of unexercised share
options granted to employees of the company
that has been recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in note 2(r)(iii).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For
this purpose, adjusted net debt is defined as
interest-bearing loans and borrowings and less cash
and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity and the amounts due to
related parties (current portion).

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

6 M B R K )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(c)

(d)

(BmARTBAN  LAREIITR)

27 EX-RERKRE (&E)

REMLERBEWN(E)

(iv) BREMFE
BN R B 1R AR MY EE2(n) (i)
BhUA R 17 7% Z 08 6N < SR ER 48
SR ERNE T ARARE
BRRITERBRERN XL B H
N EED

EXERE
AEBEAEREZARNRE
AEBREFBELE BBRHEMK
RBEHLERBRKFEBEZEE R
BBAGEKARFHE  #ER
PORIBH O M A EAM R &SR
lE

AEEBEGR N EHEHEEAGEER
ERa RERE  UERSREDR
BT AT RE FHBE 2 B 8 Bk P B
RIFEAMRE R Z 152 M ARIE 2
FEUE T & WRBELEAMRE
HERNGHIELAE -

REBENUKHEFE
g—iﬁ—%ﬁ HEREB - E
KARFEEATERTEERKE
ERReE;REEEY KAEER
Zl»‘@%ﬁﬁﬁ*’é*% 7 K 1<) R Bt
HKEORBE D) °

BEEARLLER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

234

(d)

(e)

Capital management (Continued)
The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31
December 2019 was as follows:

27 EX-RERRE (&)

(d EBEXREE(Z)
REER2019F12 A31 H #) 8 7 &
FEBEEARLLRAEHNT

2019 2018
20194 20184
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Y & AR® TR ARETTT

Bank loans RITE N 23 313,102 548,414
Less: Cash and cash BBEekREFEEYD

equivalents 21(a) (731,909) (1,106,426)
Adjusted net cash KRARZEERS (418,807) (558,012)
Total equity 1R 924,883 906,299
Add: Amounts due to o0 FEAST B 5 IR

related parties (mehE o)

(current portion) 274,292 349,162
Adjusted capital KAEER 1,199,175 1,255,461
Adjusted net debt-to- KHABRFE/EARLE N/A N/A

capital ratio ~EA T E A
Dividends e) BE

No dividends have been declared or paid by the
Company and its subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2019. On 30 March 2020, the Board
resolved not to recommend a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil). In
respect of the deemed distribution to shareholders
by a subsidiary of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018, please refer to note 24(c).

HZE2019F12A31B ILFEE - AR
A R E B A R & T R 5K o %
B o A2020F3A30H - EEERE
TEZHRMNEE2019F12A318 1+
FEZARBAKRE(2018F 1 F) - A
BE E2018F12A31B L FEAE
EfEAARIERRRELDN D
& &8 2B M 5E24(c) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk
is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risks
arising from cash and cash equivalents and other
financial assets are limited because these financial
assets held by the Group are mainly deposited in
financial institutions such as commercial banks
which maintain sound reputation and financial
situation, for which the Group considers to have low
credit risk.

In respect of trade debtors, the Group’s exposure to
credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather than the
industry or country in which the customers locate or
operate and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual
However, there are no significant concentrations of

credit risk within the Group during the year.

customers.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

28

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

TREAREEREMIAQNTE

AEEBREFEEBREPAZEE R
HEL MEREBRAR -

AEBAZN EMEAREAEEEEZ
FREMEANEREREERREE
MER T -

(@) EERK
FERBREHFHEREAGNERL
MEAEBMEIHHBRINER -
AEENEERBREIEREE S R
HihBURIE - AEBEE R AR
SRBLEEYAREMBEREE
WEERKRER RAEAREEFA
BEANZECRHEETERERD
ERTECRMBE ASoRKE
SERITAMBRREBRE £5H
REFERBREK -

REKERMNS  AEEHEBENE
SRR ERXE TP E R R 5P
FE MIEREPARENITEIM
ERBIR - Bt E A5 B & (E 5l
EFPMBERRARK SELASES
REHEERR AT FAR- ALK
EESEETNEERR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

236

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
debtors at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix that includes
the overdue status of each of the trade debtors. As
of 31 December 2019, no trade debtors were past
due (2018: nil). The Group normally receives full
payment from buyers before the hand-over of the
property. For mortgage sales with sales proceeds
not yet fully settled, the Group would not hand-over
the property to the customers unless it obtains
confirmation from the banks providing mortgage that
the respective mortgages have been approved. In
addition, the Group would not transfer titles of the
properties to the customers until full amount of sales
proceeds are received. Accordingly, the Group is of
the view that the expected irrecoverable trade
debtors were insignificant. Thus no bad debt
provision for trade debtors was recognised during
the year.

In respect of other debtors and amounts due from
related parties, the Group has assessed that the
expected credit loss are not material under the 12
months expected losses method. Thus no bad debt
provision was recognised during the year.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the
Group as set out in note 30, the Group does not
provide any other guarantees which would expose
the Group to credit risk.

(a)

éEMﬂFﬁ"éE&ﬁEﬂIE’ASFE

S8Rk (E)
AEBZRBEREZHEREAEBX
MEBEERKERRTSEHEEEG
BHERBEAFCABREBERETE -
ARZESEHERERN® SIS
S BR2019F 128310 A& E I
4% JE WK AR X8 HA (20184F © £E) o K
SE—BRBRXYER R E 77U
PHHRIEB - RHABHLENHEERK
BEMZBHENS A5EKTE
BRXUMETEPRP  HRIFKWEIRE R
HZBZRITHERE BRAH
RBEEHE LI AEBEER
WEI2HHEFMSRIER A g
MEXEBIEF Bt - X5 E
REEFTEEIREEBEROEE
RIK - F I &L FE R KR E
AR -

T HL i 8 I AR R e 8 A B8 Bt 5 5K IR
ms AKBERE+T—EAEH
BREAFIERBERBRRALITE
R FEUbF R EREREREE -

Bk Bt SESORT & A8 & B th & B 75 42
RON  REEIW EE T EMEME
RBEEAEETREERR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRE=BFTBIN  AAREIIT)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 28 sRiIEKBEEREMIAATE

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (&
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (b) REMER

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and long terms.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on current rates at the end of
the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

For bank loans subject to repayment on demand
clause which can be exercised at the bank’s sole
discretion, the maturity analysis shows the cash
outflow based on expected repayment dates with
reference to the schedule of repayments set out in
the banking facilities letter and, separately, the
impact to the timing of the cash outflow if the
lenders were to invoke unconditional rights to call the
loans with immediate effect.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

AEENBERKFERRBESR
ERURREHEBREZLETE
BREFAVORFHE RRE
SEFESHMBARRERHNE
RE® WENREBHRSHESE
ko

TRAFBEPRAEEEHAE
MRBHREWEMBE  DERAGHR
MRASRE(BRERAEOMNEX
AAENMENK  ERFBH X
ARERERARNBITMNEFE)
MAKENRPEERATSE -

HRI|ITAI2EBEZRKEEMNIR
TEN MO MBR2ERTRE
BRFEERGEERNBHEERB
HIR 3R &% th S 8 SR AT 8 B AR 1
RN SRS BRSO IR 2R H B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 28 sREAREERSEBMIAEANFE
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (&
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) "EBHERRE)

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ERNRBBERELR

More than

Total More than 2 years

contractual Within 1 year 1 year but

Carrying undiscounted or on but less less than
amount cash flow demand than 2 years 5 years
BRRER —ERH —EQt MERLE

BHE HeREBAE ZREREE EmMENA  EBIFEUR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR%Trn ARBTR AR®TrT AR%Txn

At 31 December 2019 #2019%12531H
Bank loans RITER 313,102 333,549 183,648 128,050 21,851
Trade and other payables SR EMEMNFTIE
(exclude the financial (PEEVBER)
guarantee) 538,351 538,351 538,351 = =
Amounts due to related parties  FE{T B8 EE 77 7R
(non-current portion) GEREEH) 70,653 76,247 - - 76,247
922,106 948,147 721,999 128,050 98,098
Adjustments to present cash ERERAERER
flows on bank loans based ROEXAEER
on lender’s right to demand BEn
repayment (5,261) 144,640 (128,050) (21,851)
942,886 866,639 = 76,247
Financial guarantee issued: BEHMMBER:
Maximum amount guaranteed ReEREE (F30)
(note 30) 8,898 881,161 66,237 814,924 =

238 Million Cities Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2019



28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

(b)

(c)

G0 M OB R K )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

AANREFIR)

28 sRIEREERETMIAQNTE

(&

(b)

(B 2HTHH) -
B A LR (4F)

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

BHREBRBREN
More than
Total More than 2 years
contractual ~ Within 1 year 1 year but
Carrying  undiscounted or on but less less than
amount cash flow demand  than 2 years 5 years
BHIREH —ERY —FNE RENA L
FHE ReR2LFE ZARERER EmMENA  ERENR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFRT ARETT ARBTT AREFR
At 31 December 2018 #2018F12831H
Bank loans BITER 548,414 585,017 310,432 166,887 107,698
Trade and other payables BHREMENTE
(exclude the financial (T EEMBER)
guarantee) 662,246 662,246 662,246 - -
Amounts due to related parties  FE{T BB 77 7R
(non-current portion) GER®H) 67,145 76,247 - - 76,247
1,277,805 1,323,510 972,678 166,887 183,945
Adjustments to present cash ERERAERER
flows on bank loans based ROEFAREN
on lender’s right to demand Ben
repayment (14,933) 259,652 (166,887) (107,698)
1308577 1,232,330 - 76,247
Financial guarantee issued: BEHMOMBER:
Maximum amount guaranteed ReEREE (HF30)
(note 30) 6,790 437,401 30,575 30,659 376,167
Interest rate risk (c) FI=E@E B

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
bank loans and cash at bank issued at variable
rates that expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. The Group does not use financial
derivatives to hedge against the interest rate risk.

The Group defines “net borrowings” as being
interest-bearing financial liabilities less interest-
bearing investments. The Group’s interest rate

profile as monitored by management is set out in (i)
below.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

AEEOFRRREZRRNIZZE
MEFENRTERLRITREE
EREEAZBRSRNEER - K
SETEERASRITET AN HF
RREKR - -AEEKEEEIEER
AERERMABRAERKRE-EHE
EEAARS B RS REN T °
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BBERTHN  UAREIIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate

profile of the Group’s

interest-generating

28

(4B

(c) F=
(i)

CREREERSMIAATE

BB (&)
TRFANAKRERREHRE
ENBNEREERTEESR

financial assets and interest-bearing financial BENNEHR
liabilities at the end of reporting period:
2019 2018
2019% 20185
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
1. Filk: ERA =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ETTR ARETT
Financial assets with EMESH
fixed interest rate: BE:
Cash at bank RITRE 2.58%/2.75% 80,622 - -
Financial assets and ZENE SR
liabilities with EERBRE:
variable interest
rate:
Cash at bank RITRE 0.01%-2.03% 651,206 0.1%-0.3% 1,106,332
Pledged and restricted 2 {18 & X8 4 0.3% 402,964 0.3% 487,013
deposits B
Less: Bank loans W BRITER 110% and 130% (313,102) 110% and 130% (548,414)
of RMB Loan of RMB Loan
Benchmark Rate Benchmark Rate
or at one-year or HIBOR plus
LPR plus 4% per annum
1.2% per annum AREEH
ARBER HAER %
EER = #110% K 130%
19110% K% 130% 3% FERRTAZE
—FHERTE B N4%H) F 7| =
REFREMEFE1.2%
Total ks 821,690 1,044,931
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AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 28 SRIEABEENRSBMIAEAFE
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (&

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2019, if the interest rate
increased by 50 basis points, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s profit after
tax and retained profits would have increased
by approximately RMB2,779,000 (2018: the
Group’s profit after tax and retained profits
increased by approximately RMB3,918,000).
And if the interest rate decreased by 50 basis
points, with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits
would have decreased by approximately
RMB1,906,000 (2018: the Group’s profit after
tax and retained profits decreased by
approximately RMB1,223,000).

In respect of the net exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk arising from floating cash at
bank and bank loans held by the Group at the
end of the reporting period, the impact on the
Group’s profit after tax and total equity is
estimated as an annualised impact on interest
expense or income of such a change in
interest rates. The analysis is performed on a
same basis for 2018.

The sensitivity analysis above assumes that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and had been
applied to all floating rate bank loans and cash
at bank, without taking into account the impact
of interest capitalisation.

(d) Currency risk
The Group is not exposed to significant foreign
currency risk since financial assets and liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the Group are not significant.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

(c)

(d)

xR (E)

(i) HBEEZH
2019512 A31H » M FI =R t
FoOMEES - MATA H b
HEHETE  REERIES
AR & A 1 mH AR
2,779,0007T (20184 : 7N & &
B B 18 0% ) I AR B8 35 32 AN 49
A R #3,918,0007T) © fifi #l| =
TERS0MEE 2 - MFTA E b &
BHEFTE  AEBERHES
MERBHEFERDOARE
1,906,0007T (20184 : /A & &
B 18 0% B AR B8 i AR A 49
AR #1,223,0007T) °

RAEBRHRERKRAFTEZ
BRTRERBITERELD
BeRANERR 2 FRKK
T AEEBRBRE ST KGR
el L= L R a g Wil x| B2 S
SEIE A BRI ABME(
B o DT A E2018F AT
FAEMEE -

b SRR 5 AT R TE I R AE
SHMREY  BEEANRMAEAE
B BRITERRRITRSE
WEFFRMEERCAOZE -

B b
REBWBARERINERR - T5
HRAKREBEINEEE UINEEF
BENEREERABLTEK-
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 28 sHEREERSMTENFE
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (#&
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(e) Fair values (e) AF¥{E
(i) Financial instruments measured at fair () HZAFETENLZHETA
value
Fair value hierarchy nFEER

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s financial instruments measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique

as follows:

—  Level 1

valuations:

—  Level 2

valuations:

—  Level 3

valuations:

Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date

Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and
not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are
not available

Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

In 2019, there were no transfers among Level
1, Level 2 and Level 3 (2018: nil).
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TRE(BEBEMBRELEDE
135 AT EFEMATH =M
AFPEEBR NRAEEEH
TERBREHREEAEND
FE - AVFEAEMREANE
H2REERMAARAZE
WABREREEHETE A
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— B1EMR EERFE1LREHA

HE: 28(BRNTER

HEREENXE

ERE RS K

HBECREAR))
SENRFEE

- F2ER ERFEBAS
i BAATE E
BEEMABE
BWAZE MAN
EREZETAHE
R2BFENA
FE - A ABRE
ASEERZT
SERENE A2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Fair values (Continued)

29

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

28 sRIEREERETMIAQNTE
(/'ZE\%

() DFEE)

(i)  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (i) WHERFEIRYELHBEE
carried at other than fair value REGBHAFE
The carrying amount of the Group’s financial 2019912318 » AEE L #
instruments carried at amortised cost are not AT BRA @ T AEMRE
materially different from their fair value as at 31 EREANFETESAZE
December 2019, except the amounts due to HEAEB A RIBEAERS &
related parties which are interest-free, B R ARBEREE - ERZ
unsecured and repayable on demand. Given ZBRFTERNFEZELLLE
these terms it is not meaningful to quantify EE - B ZERIBEUAKART
their fair value and therefore they are stated at iR o
cost.
COMMITMENTS 29 EiE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2019 R B S R 5k B 892019612 A31 8 1#
not provided for in the financial statements were as R ERAERT :
follows:
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREBFTT
Contracted for: A4
Construction and development BENERAN
contracts 617,903 560,053

Commitments mainly related to development costs for the
Group’s properties under development.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

AETERAEBEZRTYERNERK
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e M WoR MR
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(Br=HBETHI

AANREFIR)

30 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

244

(i

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
has issued guarantees to banks to secure the
mortgage arrangements of certain property buyers.
The outstanding guarantees to the banks, amounting
to RMB765,881,000 as at 31 2019
(2018: RMB566,978,000), will be terminated upon
the completion of transferring the legal title of the
properties to the property buyers. The directors
consider loss arising from these guarantees as a
result of default payment by customers to be
insignificant, as the banks have the rights to sell the
property and recover the outstanding loan balance
from sales proceeds. The Group has not recognised
any deferred income in respect of these guarantees
as their fair values are considered to be
insignificant.

December

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
provided guarantee to secure the bank loan
borrowed by a joint venture of the Group (see note
31(e)). The total banking facility secured by this
guarantee was RMB1,450,000,000 (2018:
RMB1,450,000,000) and the outstanding loan
balance was RMB779,900,000 as at 31 December
2019 (2018: RMB360,000,000). The bank loan is
also jointly guaranteed by another shareholder of the
joint venture and secured by the inventories of the
joint venture. Deferred income in respect of the
financial guarantee issued is disclosed in note 24.

30

FREE

(M)

B E2019F12A31B It FEE A&
\,wt ST EREBERBEYER

T M R o 201912 H31
EI *T,‘\uﬁﬁ%%ﬁjxﬁ‘ﬁ%
765,881,0007C (20184 : A R #
566,978,0007T) * B B R KR ¥
XETHERERTERERIE-F
ERE AEBTZERERBBRK
HEMEXEAEX  RERMEXR
R RIE - fE/‘ﬁﬁéthﬁiﬂ%% LA
HEMSHRBEEREEERE
BR o zliﬁlrﬁffi,wtmﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁﬁwg
AREERA  BARABEATFEM
T~RB

H E2019F12A31B L FE - A&
ERxEEQRBRITEERHEER
(R M 5£31(e)) © M20195F12 A31
H ZERTHREITHRELBEAA
R #1,450,000,0007T (20184 : A
R ¥1,450,000,0007T) * A B E &
M B A R ¥779,900,0007T
(20184 : A K #360,000,0007T) °
BRITERTHAERAINS —B’RE
HEER  LEERAINTFEER
H-EREENPBEEROELTKRA
B FE24H BB o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the related party information disclosed
elsewhere, the Group entered into the following material
related party transactions.

(@) Transactions with key management personnel
Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group is as follows:

31

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

EXEBLTRS

BREMENMBEE BB T ERIN K
SEFTYATERBHAIRS -

(@ BRXEEEBAENRS
AEEETZEEEABNHMIT

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T T

Salaries, wages and other e IEREMBET
benefits 7,888 5,432
Retirement scheme RIRET B 5K
contributions 77 62
Share-based payment VA BS 17 75 R 9 -7 3R 2,628 —
10,593 5,494

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HBETHI

31

AANREFIR)

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

31 EXBHBAIRS (&)

246

(b) Transactions with related parties (b) EHEEBAEINRS
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE TR AR T T
Lease of properties* Y EBE
— an entity controlled by o WNGIE L g ek
controlling shareholder HE 2
of the Company 71 132
Disposal of an investment HEKEYHE
property*
— an entity controlled by — KR AL R AR BRI
controlling shareholder & e
of the Company - 1,335
Accommodation services BESERERE
received”
— an entity controlled by — NN B AR OAR B 4
controlling shareholder HE
of the Company (1,687) (1,140)
Purchase of goods* BEEm
— an entity controlled by — NN TR AR B A
controlling shareholder EON=R ]
of the Company (107) (158)
Property management EEXMEERRS
services received
— other related party (note 1) H M BEE: 5 (B sE1) - (1,261)
Note 1: This entity was owned by a minority shareholder a1 @ ZERZTH - ZBIHERER

and a director of the Company. It ceased to be
a related party of the Group since it was
disposed of by the minority shareholder and the
director to an independent third party during the
year ended 31 December 2018.

—BARREBHEE RE
Z2018%12A318 Ik F E #%
ZELHEREREELET
BYFE=FH ALTHEAER
SE A -

* ZEBRBARSE EMRAE
VUAEFIEMER R FERE
R5-AM ARZEXRZIBER
TR B SE14A.76(1) 16 R E B
EREHREKRKTINRS  HER
BT EMRAFUUAZHEE
T o

These related party transactions constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
However these transactions are exempt from the
disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules as they fall into the definition of de
minimis transactions under Listing Rule 14A.76(1).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(c) Balances with related parties
Balances with related parties as at 31 December
2019 are detailed as follows:

Amounts due from related parties recorded in other
receivables and interests in associates and joint

ventures:

Non-trade in nature

(c)

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN  LAREIITR)

31 EXBEBAIRS (&)

BR B 5 10 45 24
R2019412 731 B S BES 77 1 &
HHIMT -

FC B 0 E A B U R IR Ko IO B 2 A )
KB &R R 2 HE mm ) R W B 05 K
I8 :

HEGME

2019 2018

20194 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T AREF T

Amounts due from associates® & U Bt & N 7] A 108,768 108,291
Amounts due from joint FEW A & B B IR

ventures 59,456 58,440

168,224 166,731

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREABETHMN - AAREIITR)
31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(c) Balances with related parties (Continued)
Non-trade in nature (Continued)
Amounts due to related parties recorded in other
payables:

Non-trade in nature (note 21(c))

31 EXBEBAIRE (&

RN S A RR (F)
HEZME(E)
0 8% 50 H fth FE 15 5K IE ) FE AT BA B 5

ROR

(c)

HEZME (K iE21(c))

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR AR T T
Amount due to minority JE A< D BRIR 3R ROIR
shareholders* 308,093 381,314
Amount due to controlling JE A-F 128 A% AR 3R R IE
shareholder 36,739 34,915
Amount due to entities JIE {5 AR X B 428 A AR 3R AT 2
controlled by controlling R RIR
shareholder of the Company 113 78
344,945 416,307

o Financial assistance provided to or received from
related parties constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However those
transactions are exempt from the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for
the following reasons: (i) such financial assistance is
on normal commercial terms or better, and/or (i) no
security over our assets is granted in respect of
such financial assistance under Rule 14A.90.

248

6§ R T R T S IR A B
& B) B £ AR B F14AE AT i
BEXFIABFERERS B
ERGEHRPETLEMHRAUE
TUAEMBRRE  BHET ()
ZEMBEBIR — B FEERK
BEGE AT B G0)E E B
75 W R B R F14A.901K FR
EH B EE T -

Million Cities Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Bank loans guaranteed by related parties

As at 31 December 2019, the secured bank loan of
RMB103,362,000 (2018: RMB96,316,000) was
guaranteed by a minority shareholder.

Guarantee issued to related party

As at 31 December 2019, the Group provided
guarantee to secure the loan borrowed by the
Group’s joint venture, Huizhou Well Kong. The total
banking facility granted to Huizhou Well Kong is
RMB1,450,000,000 (2018: RMB1,450,000,000) and
the outstanding bank loan balance as at 31
December 2019 amounted to RMB779,900,000
(2018: RMB360,000,000). Deferred income in
respect of the financial guarantee issued is disclosed
in note 24.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

(d)

(e)

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN  LAREIITR)

31 EXBEBAIRE (&

BB ERNEBITER

201912 A31H - AR ¥103,362,000
7T (20184 © A R #596,316,0007T) M B
EIRRITERA — B LB RER -

B ER

2019512 A31H  AEEH A &
RABEMEBEANEBERBER K
FTEMEENRITRELEAAR
#4,450,000,0007T (2018F : A R
#1,450,000,0007T) * 2019124
SIHMABERTEREBAAR
#5779,900,0007T (20185 : A R #&
360,000,0007T) ° A B8 2 3 i &9 8f
EERBEZERARK 245 5 -
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e M WoR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

32 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 32 QFIEEMBMR K
FINANCIAL POSITION

2018
20184
Note RMB’000
B 5 ARET T

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment 12 - M= L& & 139 227
Investments in subsidiaries REEARMKE 14 569,330 544,876
Interest in joint venture RE &R A 44 —
569,513 545,103

Current assets REBEE
Prepayments TEAS 3R 1E 250 19
Cash and cash equivalents BehIReEED 83,635 193,311
83,885 193,330
Current liabilities REBaE

Bank loan SRITE R - 87,620
Other payables H th F& (< ;I8 76 8,119
76 95,739
Net current assets REBEEFE 83,809 97,591
NET ASSETS EEFE 653,322 642,694

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXK#E
Share capital g Z= 27(b) 6,605 6,605
Reserves 1 646,717 636,089
TOTAL EQUITY EZEEE 653,322 642,694

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 30 March 2020.

On behalf of the board

Wong Ting Chung

Lau Ka Keung

E =20 R202093 A308 #t & M % #E T
% o

RREFE

TER BXRE
Director Director
EE EBEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

33 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

On 9 January 2020, Lucky Win Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
memorandum of understanding (the “MOU”) with an
independent third party (the “Partner”), pursuant to
which, Lucky Win Limited and the Partner intended
to cooperate in the acquisition of 100% equity
interest in a company incorporated in the PRC (the
“Target Company”), which owns four land parcels in
Shenzhen. The MOU is effective for one year from
the date of the MOU. During its term of the MOU,
the Partner cannot procure any other third party to
acquire the Target Company. In consideration of the
exclusive negotiation right, an amount of RMB93
million earnest money was paid by the Group to the
Partner on 9 January 2020. There is no binding
cooperation agreement signed as at the date of this
report.

The coronavirus outbreak since early 2020 has
brought about additional uncertainties in the Group’s
operating environment and has impacted the
Group’s operations and financial position. The Group
has been closely monitoring the impact of the
developments on the Group’s businesses and has
put in place contingency measures. These
contingency measures include: setting out guidelines
about prevention of coronavirus outbreak on
construction sites and sending them to all site
managers; assessing our contractors’ readiness for
resumption of construction work on sites; monitoring
cash flows and negotiating with suppliers to
postpone construction payments; negotiating with
customers on delivery timetable. The Group will
keep our contingency measures under review as the
situation evolves.

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN  LAREIITR)

33 FARBEHNREH

(a)

MR2020F1H9H AR FIMNEZEW
J& 2 AlLucky Win Limited 2 Y87 5
=FTEERH] T LREE SR
([ERAR = 8E]) - #B 1k - Lucky Win
Limited & & 1E % £ #& & 1 i g —
ReBEaMALH2R(TEEZER
Al AERYIM MR ) #9100%
B -mBESSERBESEAR
HREN AR —F -TREES
BHIR A - BERHETBREEM
HMWE=FKREBEZFEAR - ZRE
BRAHE  ~EBEER2020F1A4
HMEERHRHINHES ARK
WBEBTLT BEARESTAE &
BITRANRNIBMEERE -

2020 WIBEMBEMRREE LA E
ENEERETREINTETHE
= BEREXASFENCERTG
MR- AEE—EEVNERRSHE
REBPHASEEKNTZE BB
EREEERE ZSRERZBERE
R ETEREENREBET KR
SMESIWHESIREGLE T
KB TEERERREIRORM
B BEBEREmE N EHEEH
BMEETREMNR: BEXFHEARE
KRAXRZ - AEBBEREBRE/L
BERT AR 5T E & FE I o
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AANREFIR)

33 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

(c)

On 20 December 2019, the Group announced that
due to a fire accident happened in a temporary
construction worker dormitory adjacent to the site of
Million Cities Legend Phase 2, the delivery of Million
Cities Legend Phase 2 to our customers was
expected to be postponed to the first quarter of
2020. All construction works in China were
suspended during February 2020 in order to contain
the spread of COVID-19. As a result, the Group
expected the delivery of Million Cities Legend Phase
2 will be further postponed to second quarter of
2020. The Group has proactively communicated
about the foreseeable delay with our customers and
does not consider there would be material claims
from our customers.

34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
The particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2019 are set out below:

33

34

FRABBERREMN (&

) 2019F12A20H - AEEBEEH AN
B AR RO ERET
ABEEENE MBEPRNER
B HASEEE2020F F —ZF -
FT B AL P A B B 3 28 T 12 120204
2R E 1= - LAB 120198 Mk s & &
BB AEBHEGFERBEZ
HA 9 22 1] R D % 3 — 2P B 3B 22020
FE_F - AEBCHEEBRAER
ZEHEEEER  BERATEH
REPHERERE-

FEWBE QT
#H E2019F12A31H T EZHE A Al #Y
FIFAE AT

Proportion of ownership
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interest
BREREZLY
Date and place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and Held by Held by
Company name establishment paid-in capital the Company  a subsidiary Principal activity
MR ERTR N WEAAE
DNEER B BB R 5 BERTRE BR 5 FEED
Million Cities Development Limited 4 August 2016 usD10 100% — Investment holding
BV
BRNERERAT 201658 A4H 10%7T 100% - RERRK
AEERRHES
Million Cities (Int’l) Limited 29 May 2007 HKD100 - 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
B (ER)BERAF 200754298 100 7T - 100% REZK
BB
Winnermax Holdings Limited 22 March 2006 usD10 - 100%  Investment holding
BV
BEERERAT 20065°3A22H 10X 7T - 100% HREZR
RBAARES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AWM OB W E M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN  LAREIITR)

34 TEWEBLAR (&

Proportion of ownership

interest
BEERELH
Date and place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and Held by Held by
Company name establishment paid-in capital the Company a subsidiary Principal activity
AL/ ERTR NN g PN
NRER R ABREE BREREFE 2] BE FEEH
China Field Investment Limited 17 January 2003 HKD100 - 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
EEREBERRA 2003%F1R17H 100/ 7T = 100% ®EZK
B
Cheer Happy (H.K.) Limited 22 April 2005 HKD100 - 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
R (BE)ERAA 2005648228 100 7T = 100% HEZRK
e
China Lands Investments Limited 7 February 2011 HKD10,000 - 55%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
hEABREBRDA 201142A7R 10,0007 7T - 55% REEMR
B
Join Kong (H.K.) Limited 23 June 2010 HKD10,000 - 55%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
2B (FE)BRAA 201096A23R 10,000 7T - 55% 1B MR
B
Maxway (H.K.) Limited 15 March 2019 HKD 1 - 50%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
BE(ER)ERAF 2019%3A15H 18T = 50% REZER
BB

“E-REER o BERERAR AT
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GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BBERTHN  UAREIIR)

34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

34 TEWMEAR (&

Proportion of ownership

interest
BEERELH
Date and place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and Held by Held by
Company name establishment paid-in capital the Company a subsidiary Principal activity
EmEL/ ERAR VNG Wi A Al
DNEER AR BERERE -2 BB TEEH
Million Cities Construction (China) Co., 15 December 2016 RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Ltd. PRC
BURR(PE)ERR A 20166124158 AR #50,000,0007 = 100% REZK
i
Huizhou Million Cities Enterprise 31 May 2018 RMB10,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd. PRC
BMNBHCEEBRIABRAA 2018454310 A K #10,000,0007T = 100% REZER
i
Huizhou Yuefu Real Estate Co., Ltd. 29 April 2006 RMB38,000,000 4.99% 90.4%  Property
PRC development
BT EEERRAR" 200654 A29R AR #38,000,0007 4.99% 90.4% NEEE
A
Huizhou China Field Real Estate 8 April 2003 HKD68,000,000 - 100%  Property
Development Co., Ltd. PRC development
BMEERHEREERAA 200344 A8H 68,000,000/ 7T = 100% MEEERE
A
Huizhou Cheer Happy Real Estate 6 April 2006 USD12,000,000 - 100%  Property
Development Co., Ltd. PRC development
BEMRREHEREERAA" 200644 A6H 12,000,000 1 = 100% MEEE
A
Huizhou Million Cities Real Estate 10 May 2001 RMB52,500,000 5% 49.5%  Property
Development Co., Ltd. PRC development
BMTEREHERERRR A 200145 A10H A K #52,500,0007T 5% 495% WMEER
A
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6 M B R K )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BFTAN - AAREFITR)

34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 34 TEMBAT(E)

Proportion of ownership

interest
BEREERLD
Date and place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and Held by Held by
Company name establishment paid-in capital the Company a subsidiary Principal activity
EmAL/ ERTR N HE AR
NEER K AR BERERE -2 BE TEEH
Million Cities Jianji Real Estate (Tianjin) 18 August 2010 USD70,000,000 - 55%  Property
Co., Ltd. PRC development
ERREER(RR)ER 2010687 18R 70,000,000% 7 - 55% MEER
G
Guangdong Hongtuo Construction Co., 21 September 2018 RMB40,080,000 - 50%  Construction
Ltd. PRC services
BRAAERBR R A 2018594218 A #40,080,0007 = 50% RER%
i

These entities are PRC limited liability companies. The
English translation of the company names is for reference
only. The official names of the companies are in Chinese.

The Group acquired this entity in July 2019 at a
consideration of RMB3,680,000. The identifiable assets
and liabilities of this entity at the acquisition date mainly
included cash and cash equivalent of RMB9,125,000,
property, plant and equipment and other non-current
assets of RMB6,078,000,
RMB149,000 and
RMB11,672,000.

other current assets of

trade and other payables of

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

ZEERABTEEREERF AR
NEREHRBE ':PX%%EE%EM

K& B R2019F7HA UK B ARE
3,680,000 iEZ B - ZE BB IE
EIMT;%IJ%??EE%LE% BHEE&
LB A R#9,125,0007T * #1 %
ﬂi%& SEREMIERDEEARE
6,078,000t Htt m B E E AR &
149,000t X B 5 Rk H BT 5K IE AR
#11,672,0007T °
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GAM B WKW HE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REABETAIN - AARESITR)

35

36

256

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE
CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 December 2019,
immediate parent of the Group to be Fortune Speed
Investments Limited which was incorporated in the BVI
and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Happy
Family Trust. Fortune Speed Investments Limited does not
produce financial statements available for public use.

the directors consider the

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2019

Up to the date of issue of the financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and a new
standards, HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are not
yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
which have not been adopted in the financial statements.
These developments includes the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

35

36

BEERRERERT

2019F12H31H " EERABAE B E#
BRARAAREABHBRESTEMN L2
WMAKREAERRAA AEBEMNHEER
FAAEERET -HRKEBRAFIL
BRANEARER M B®RE -

HZE2019F12A31ALFEEE
{8 e R AE R AVIERT ~ F AT A
RERBHNAURELE

HEPKRERTIEBH HESTMA
SERMZEET R —ENTEUES
MIERELERNE17H - REEE X - BE
F2019F12A31H L FE H AR EB ' 7N
BRMBREER ZERRBETE
HALEEHEBENATEE-

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTEHR 2 EBSH
WEFHBEER

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a business

(BEMBHRELEADESRNER — XEANTE

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of material

BREFENFIRNEE A LAERNER — EXNTEE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

1 January 2020
202061 A1H

1 January 2020
202061 A1H

AEELEFGEERERZSETNE
HIZE -ZEARL  BEwmABAKREE
AINAAEHREMBRRELERY
2 o
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Bt %5 B &

RESULTS E 4
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A1ALLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
20194 20184F 20174 20164 20154

GV RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
INSLERT \ R T ARBTE ARBTE ARETE

Revenue g A 354,284 567,827 973,093 894,784 58,482
Cost of sales HERA (221,286) (305,001) (767,680) (668,116) (42,881)
Gross profit E 132,998 262,826 205,413 226,668 15,601
Profit before taxation B B AT 32 A 58,836 188,294 141,387 186,643 6,368
Income tax BB (41,168) (110,475) (64,610) (55,676) (13,028)
Profit attributable to equity ADAEZRREMNL
shareholders of the Company gl 17,954 33,375 38,592 68,007 418
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 December
RW12H31H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
20195 20184 20174 20164 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
INLEWAl AR T ARBTT ARETRT ARETRT

Non-current assets FkRBEE 267,605 247,978 223,848 63,040 51,289
Current assets REBEE 3,597,996 3,532,245 1,660,542 1,964,364 1,800,409
Total assets BEE 3,865,601 3,780,223 1,884,390 2,027,404 1,851,698
Total equity A 924,883 906,299 267,935 144,149 55,395
Non-current liabilities E¥REBEE 104,630 102,709 6,157 4,950 4,322
Current liabilities REBaE 2,836,088 2,771,215 1,610,298 1,878,305 1,791,981
Total liabilities BEM4HE 2,940,718 2,873,924 1,616,455 1,883,255 1,796,303
Total equity and liabilities EaREaERaE 3,865,601 3,780,223 1,884,390 2,027,404 1,851,698
Net current assets RBEEFE 761,908 761,030 50,244 86,059 8,428

“E-REER o BERERAR AT 257



GLOSSARY

K

“AGM” the annual general meeting of the Company
(RRBFRE BRRBEFKE
“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board
(Bt ZE® EEZEETHNEFEZES
“Board” the board of Directors
== =
“CG Code” the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
[ E A< FAARIME T OAECEE AT RERE RRENTAKRX
“Cheer Happy” Cheer Happy (H.K.) Limited
Ki==3 BE(EE)BRAA
“Company” or “the Million Cities Holdings Limited
Company”
[RAFA] SHERER A A
“Director(s)” the director(s) of the Company
[E%] RARESE
“Executive Committee” the executive committee of the Board
[#ITEEE] E=EgHTZEES
“GDP” Gross domestic product
[ 7R3 4 2= 42 1E i A4 E A
“GFA” gross floor area
[EEEEmE] EEmE

“Group” or “the Group” the Company and its subsidiaries

(A& HE] AARREWE R A
“HK$” Hong Kong Dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
Bl BEEEEEBET

“Huizhou Cheer Happy”  Huizhou Cheer Happy Real Estate Development Company Limited*

[EINERE] BEMEEREHERZERRAA
“Huizhou China Field” Huizhou China Field Real Estate Development Company Limited*
[EMEE] BMNEEEHERZEARR A A
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“IPO”

[BRAFREE]

“Join Kong”

%]

“Listing”
[

“Listing Date”

[ BT B E

»

“Listing Rules
[ A8 Bl

“Main Board”

=

“Model Code”

[ 3 =7 A

g

“Nameson”

[F el

“Nameson Group”

[ e &

“Nomination Committee”

[fRREEE

“PRC” or “China”

[

“Prospectus”

[ ER]

“E-REER o BERERAR AT

GLOSSARY (CONTINUED)

i % ()

initial public offering
BRAREE

Join Kong (H.K.) Limited
B (BEB)BERAR

listing of the shares of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

ZNYNECTE v N R =t i

20 December 2018, the date on which the shares of the Company were listed and
from which dealings therein were permitted to take place on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange

2018F12H20R ' RARAIRMEERMIMER ETREEN A H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
Bt 32 P 38 7 £ T AR Bl

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Bt 32 BT £ 1R

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
FHARBINESTAE EMETAESETEFRHNEETH

Nameson Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman lIslands, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1982) and was owned by Happy Family Trust as to approximately 65.87% and Mr.
Wong Ting Chung as to approximately 8.84% as at the date of this report, is a
connected person of the Company

MEZERERAR  —HARASESEMAINAR  EROREERAER LM (R
AR 1982)  RAMEB PR ERETREER KL D RITER L65.87% K 4
8.84% ' /ARTNEAEAL

Nameson Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries

MEERAERLDRERENE QA

the nomination committee of the Board

EFZeBETTNRAZES

the People’s Republic of China
RE AR LR

the prospectus of the Company dated 10 December 2018
2018F12A10A A AR HKRER
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GLOSSARY (CONTINUED)

()

“Remuneration
Committee”

(FHEZEE

“RMB”
(AR

“SFC”

(e

“SFO”
[ % RIS 1]
“Share Option Scheme”

[ R ae ot &1

“Sq. m.”

[ 75 K]

“Stock Exchange”
B 32 B

“Tianjin Jianji”
[ RFEE]

“United States”
E3=

reference only.

the remuneration committee of the Board
EEeBETHTMNEES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

TEEEEBEARE

the Securities and Futures Commission

ErhBEEREBERES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BEREDIESNEZ S LS GRY - BTRER R AEMT A EK

the share option scheme of the Company approved and adopted on 26 November
2018

2018511 26 B EH#E /& M4 2 AR 7 B8 B # 51 2

square metres

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMERIMARLIDA

Million Cities Jianji Real Estate (Tianjin) Company Limited*
BEWEEEEXE(RB)ARAA

the United States of America
EFEBREREH

The company does not have an official English name. The English translation of the company name is for

AU BEBETRXG  HEFREHZE -
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Yy »

MILLION CITIES

http://www.millioncities.com.cn

Hong Kong Office & & WEE
Million Cities Holdings Limited (Hong Kong Office)
BHEREBNERER
Address #3it : Unit D, 21/F., Block 1, Tai Ping Industrial Centre,

57 Ting Kok Road, Tai Po, New Territories, Hong Kong
EBHAXETABSTHRATLIEROLE —E21EDE

Tel B3 © (852) 2689-1999

Fax HE : (852) 2689-1882

China Office BEIRWEE
Million Cities Holdings Limited (China Office)
BREREAREE
Address #i3it : Plant No.5, 8 Longhe East Road,
Shuikou Street Office, Huicheng District, Huizhou City, the PRC
FEEMTEHEKOAENRSEENREKSE (55BE)
Tel 5% : (86) 752-331-6668
Fax E : (86) 752-331-6777
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